Aus dem Zentrum für Innere Medizin der Universität zu Köln Klinik und Poliklinik für Innere Medizin II der Universität zu Köln Direktor: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. Th. Benzing

Targeting complexity of geriatric emergency department visitors: Comprehensiveness in a high-paced and efficiency-focused medical setting

> Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

> > vorgelegt von Marcel Pascal Rarek aus Köln

promoviert am 28. April 2022

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

Dekan: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. G. R. Fink

- 1. Gutachterin: Universitätsprofessorin Dr. med. Dr. M. C. Polidori Nelles
- 2. Gutachter: Privatdozent Dr. rer. pol. T.-K. Pförtner

Erklärung

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.¹

Bei der Auswahl und Auswertung des Materials sowie bei der Herstellung des Manuskriptes habe Unterstützungsleistungen von folgenden Personen erhalten:

Frau Professorin Privatdozentin Dr. Dr. M. C. Polidori Nelles FRCP

Weitere Personen waren an der Erstellung der vorliegenden Arbeit nicht beteiligt. Insbesondere habe ich nicht die Hilfe einer Promotionsberaterin/eines Promotionsberaters in Anspruch genommen. Dritte haben von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertationsschrift stehen.

Die Dissertationsschrift wurde von mir bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt.

Die dieser Arbeit zugrundeliegenden Daten der prospektiven klinischen Studie wurden von mir in Zusammenarbeit mit Frau Prof. Priv.-Doz. Dr. Dr. M. Cristina Polidori Nelles, Leiterin des Schwerpunktes für klinische Altersforschung der Klinik II für Innere Medizin der Uniklinik Köln, Köln, Deutschland entwickelt.

Die Erhebung dieser Daten wurde von mir in der Zentralen Notaufnahme der Klinik II für Innere Medizin im Rahmen der MPI-HOPE-Studie unter Aufsicht des ärztlichen Leiters der Zentralen Notaufnahme Herrn Prof. Dr. Volker Burst vorgenommen. Die im Zuge dessen durchgeführte telefonische Nachbeobachtung wurde durch mich vorgenommen. Eine genaue Darstellung des Eigenanteils kann meiner schriftlichen Erklärung des geleisteten Beitrages des Doktoranden eingesehen werden, welche von allen Mitautoren unterschrieben wurde.

Erklärung zur guten wissenschaftlichen Praxis:

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die Ordnung zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und zum Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten (Amtliche Mitteilung der Universität zu Köln AM 132/2020) der Universität zu Köln gelesen habe und verpflichte mich hiermit, die dort genannten Vorgaben bei allen wissenschaftlichen Tätigkeiten zu beachten und umzusetzen.

Köln, den 26.08.2021 Unterschrift: .

¹Bei kumulativen Promotionen stellt nur die eigenständig verfasste Einleitung und Diskussion die Dissertationsschrift im Sinne der Erklärung gemäß dieser Erklärung dar.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank all 215 patients that I met in the emergency department and who participated in my research. I was positively surprised by the genuine interest many of them took in my research and the patience they brought up towards me while waiting in the emergency department. Some encounters truly touched me and their individual life stories and experiences taught me the importance of an empathic and open mindset in medical care.

Second, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Professor Dr. Dr. Maria Cristina Polidori for her guidance, support and trust at every stage of this research project. Her passion towards gerontology and geriatric patients inspired and motivated me ever since I met her at the lecture for geriatric medicine and opened the door for me to a fascinating and naturalistic but unfortunately often neglected field of medicine.

I am also grateful for my colleagues and research team for their support and help in larger and smaller aspects of this journey.

Above all, I want to express my gratitude to the dearest people around me. None of this could have happened without the support of Lena Sannemann, who continuously believed in me through the ups and downs of the past years. I am deeply grateful for her unconditional love and encouragement. My thankfulness also goes to my parents for their consistent motivation and attention through my years of study and finally, to my grandparents for providing me with unceasing support and healthy food.

Widmung

Contents

ABB	REVIATIONS	8			
1.	. DEUTSCHE ZUSAMMENFASSUNG				
2.	SUMMARY 1	4			
3.	INTRODUCTION 1	6			
3.1	The Emergency Department1	6			
3.1.	1. Structure in Germany 1	6			
3.1.2	2. General Data on ED visitors 1	6			
3.2	Demographic development 1	7			
3.2.	1. Data for Germany 1	7			
3.2.2	2. International perspective1	7			
3.3	Older patients in the ED 1	8			
3.3.	1. Characteristics1	8			
3.3.2	2. Clinical appearance1	8			
3.3.	3. Risk for adverse events 1	9			
3.3.4	4. Age distribution in German EDs 1	9			
3.4	Clinical complexity of geriatric patients 2	20			
3.4.	1. Definition of the geriatric patient 2	20			
3.4.2	2. Complexity of biological ageing processes 2	20			
3.4.3	3. Frailty 2	!1			
3.4.	4. Concepts of frailty 2	21			
3.4.	5. Frailty as a multidimensional model 2	22			
3.4.	6. Prevalence of frailty 2	22			
3.4.	7. Clinical presentation of complexity and frailty 2	23			
3.4.8	8. Geriatric syndromes 2	24			
3.5	Screening for vulnerability in the ED	25			
3.5.	1. Triage	25			
3.5.2	2. Frailty screening in the ED 2	25			
3.5.3	3. The ISAR score	26			
3.5.4	4. Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment 2	26			
3.5.	5. The Multidimensional Prognostic Index 2	27			
3.5.	6. Clinical associations and usage of the MPI 2	27			

3.5.7.		The MPI as a geriatric instrument	
3.6	Hea	Ith-related quality of life	. 29
3.	6.1.	Concepts of (health-related) quality of life	. 29
3.	6.2.	Influence of age on QOL and HRQOL	. 30
3.	6.3.	Influence of health on QOL and HRQOL	. 31
3.	6.4.	HRQOL in the ED	. 31
3.	6.5.	The Euopean Quality of life-5 Dimensions	. 32
3.	6.6.	Hypothesis and aim	. 32
4.	PU	BLISHED ORIGINAL WORK	34
4.1	Ra	ek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, Pilotto A, Benzing T, Burst V, Polidori MC (2020) The	
prog	gnostic	signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the	
eme	rgency	demartment: a 6-month follow-up study. Aging Clin Exp Res	. 34
5.	DIS	CUSSION	43
5.1	Tar	geting Complexity – The American Setting	. 43
5.	1.1.	Demographic development in the USA	. 44
5.	1.2.	Geriatric emergency department interventions	. 44
5.	1.3.	Innovative models for geriatric care in the ED	. 45
5.	1.4.	Geriatric observation units	. 46
5.	1.5.	Benefits and limitations of geriatric observation units	. 46
5.	1.6.	Evaluation of geriatric observation units	. 47
5.	1.7.	Evaluation of CGA-based intervention concepts	. 47
5.	1.8.	Recommendations for CGA implementation	. 48
5.2	Tar	geting Complexity – The German Setting	. 48
5.	2.1.	Demand and supply for geriatric care	. 48
5.	2.2.	Quality indicators for geriatric emergency care	. 49
5.	2.3.	The "Geriatrischer Versorgunsverbund"	. 49
5.	2.4.	The ISAR score as a geriatric gatekeeper: limitations and chances	. 50
5.	2.5.	The MPI as a multidimensional Instrument	. 51
5.	2.6.	The Geriatrie Check	. 52
5.	2.7.	The Acutely Presenting Older Screening Program	. 53
5.	2.8.	The Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Kurzliegeraufnahmestation (INKA)	. 53
5.3	The	COVID-19 pandemic	. 54
5.	3.1.	Pathophysiology and clincial manifestations	. 54
5.	3.2.	Long-term impact of COVID-19	. 55
5.	3.3.	Mortality of COVID-19	. 55

	5.3.4.	COVID-19 and the complexity of age	56
	5.3.5.	Impact of frailty on COVID-19	57
	5.3.6.	Frailty screening in COVID-19 patients	57
	5.3.7.	The Clinical Frailty Scale	58
	5.3.8.	Challenges of frailty screening in COVID-19	58
	5.3.9.	COVID-19 and the German ED	59
	5.3.10.	Influence of COVID-19 on ED visits	60
	5.3.11.	COVID-19 and HRQOL	60
	5.3.12.	Long-Covid and HRQOL	61
	5.3.13.	Implications of COVID-19 on the ageing society	61
:	5.4 Cor	nclusion	62
	5.4.1.	Outlook	62
	5.4.2.	Concepts to overcome the "efficiency-gap"	63
	5.4.3.	Holistic decision-making in the ED	63
	6. RE	FERENCES	. 65
	7. PR	ELIMINARY PUBLICATION OF RESULTS	. 84

Abbreviations

- APOP Acutely Presenting Older Patient
- CFS Clinical Frailty Scale
- CGA comprehensive geriatric assessment
- COVID-19 Coronavirus Disease 2019
- ED emergency department
- EQ5D-5L European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions
- GEDI Geriatric Emergency Department Intervention
- GVV Geriatrischer Versorgungsverbund
- HRQOL health-related quality of life
- INKA Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Kurzliegeraufnahmestation
- ISAR Identification of Seniors at Risk
- LOS lengh of stay
- MPI Multidimensional Prognostic Index
- NRW North Rhine-Westphalia
- QI quality indicators
- QOL quality of life
- Sars-Cov-2 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Corona Virus 2
- WHO World Health Organization

1. Deutsche Zusammenfassung

Die Notaufnahme ist weltweit eine der wichtigsten Zugänge zum Gesundheitssystem und ein Knotenpunkt zwischen ambulanter und stationärer Versorgung.¹ Viele Notaufnahmen in Deutschland beobachten einen Anstieg der Fallzahlen in den letzten Jahren bis hin zu Überfüllungen.²⁻⁴ Zusätzlich wird eine Zunahme des Anteils älterer Menschen erwartet, welche eine hohe klinische Komplexität besitzen und vermehrten medizinischen und pflegerischen Aufwand benötigen.⁵ Verstärkt durch den demographischen Wandel kann es in den nächsten Jahrzenten zu einer signifikanten Verschiebung der Altersstruktur im deutschen Gesundheitssystem kommen, wodurch vor allem die Notaufnahmen als intersektorale Knotenpunkte besonders betroffen sein können.⁶

Nach Gruneir et al. sind ältere Menschen eine besonders vulnerable Gruppe mit einem im Vergleich zu jüngeren Altersgruppen erhöhten Risiko für klinische Komplikationen.⁷ Sie erreichen die Notaufnahme häufig mit einer hohen klinischen Dringlichkeit, haben längere Liegezeiten und werden häufiger hospitalisiert. Die hohe Prävalenz an atypischen Symptomen, Multimorbidität, Polypharmazie, neuropsychiatrischen und kognitiven Einschränkungen erschweren Anamnese, Diagnostik und Therapie in der Notaufnahme.⁸ Mit ihrer klinischen Komplexität, speziellen Bedürfnissen und einem hohem Versorgungsaufwand passen sie schlecht in dieses hektische und effizienz-basierte Setting. Jedoch ist das Alter kein alleiniges Kriterium für ein erhöhtes Risiko für klinische Komplikationen. Hierzu gehört nach der häufigsten Definition auch eine gleichzeitig bestehende "geriatrietypische" Multimorbidität, sowie eine erhöhte klinische Vulnerabilität aufgrund von chronischen Erkrankungen oder dem Risiko eines Autonomieverlustes im Alltag.⁹ Davon sind jedoch nicht alle Menschen im Alter gleichermaßen betroffen.

Der Alterungsprozess vollzieht sich individuell unterschiedlich und wird durch eine Vielzahl von komplexen, mehrschichtigen Altersprozessen verursacht, welche stark von Genetik, Lebensverläufen und soziokulturellen Hintergründen beeinflusst werden.¹⁰ Eine ungleiche Degeneration von molekularen, zellulären und physiologischen Organsystemen beeinflusst mit steigendem Lebensalter zunehmend, individuell unterschiedlich und in ihrer klinischen Ausprägung dynamisch die homöostatischen Systeme des Körpers.^{10,11}

Gebrechlichkeit (Frailty) kann als pathologische Manifestation dieser Alterungsprozesse angesehen werden.^{10,12,13} Sie zeichnet sich durch eine dynamisch erhöhte Vulnerabilität gegenüber niedrig-gradigen intrinsischen und extrinsischen Stressoren und eine verschlechterte klinischen Prognose aus.^{10,14} Erste Konzepte definieren Gebrechlichkeit als Phänotyp oder Kontinuum, während ein neuer Ansatz ein vielschichtiges und multidimensionales Konstrukt beschreibt, welches den Eigenschaften des allgemeinen Alterungsprozesses ähnelt.¹² Weitere Faktoren, welche die erhöhte klinische Komplexität

ausmachen, sind geriatrische Syndrome. Sie zeigen sich in einer limitierten Anzahl klinischer Bilder, wie beispielsweise Delir, Stürze, Immobilität, Inkontinenz und Mangelernährung, welche jedoch Endpunkte unterschiedlicher und individueller physiologischer Prozesse sein können und meistens organübergreifende Auslöser haben.¹⁵ Die Diagnostik und Therapie geriatrischer Syndrome ist besonders in der Notaufnahme aufwändig, da diese durch ihre komplexen Ursachen nicht in organzentrierte Krankheitsmodelle passen.¹⁶ Auch sozioökonomische Einflüsse wie Armut, Bildungsstand, Vernachlässigung und Isolation führen zu einer erhöhen klinischen Komplexität und Gebrechlichkeit, welche in einer Notaufnahme nur schwer evaluiert und angesprochen werden können.¹⁷⁻¹⁹

Bei der geriatrischen Versorgung in der Notaufnahme besteht die Herausforderung, neben der Identifikation von lebensbedrohlichen Krankheiten der oben genannten klinischen Komplexität gerecht zu werden. Eine Notwendigkeit ist hierbei ein effektives Screening von Risikopersonen, welche von umfangreicheren und zeitaufwendigeren Assessments profitieren könnten. Die in vielen Notaufnahmen übliche und weit verbreitete Klassifikation durch Triage Systeme kommt bei älteren Menschen an ihre Grenzen.²⁰⁻²³ Um diese Lücke zu schließen, entstanden in den letzten Jahren eine Vielzahl an geriatrischen Screening-Instrumenten, um Gebrechlichkeit und klinische Vulnerabilität zu identifizieren.^{24,25} Diese zeigten jedoch in Metaanalysen eine eingeschränkte Effektivität im Kontext einer Notaufnahme.^{26,27} Der Identification of Seniors at Risk (ISAR) Score ist einer der am häufigsten genutzten Screening Instrumente in Deutschland und wird von geriatrischen mehreren Fachgesellschaften empfohlen.^{28,29} Metaanalysen konnten zeigen, dass der ISAR Score im Vergleich zu anderen Screening Instrumenten eine hohe Sensitivität, jedoch auch eine niedrige Spezifität besitzt und nur mäßig eine schlechtes Behandlungsergebnis prognostizieren kann.³⁰⁻³² Der Multidimensionale Prognostische Index (MPI) wurde schon in zahlreichen Settings erprobt und könnte eine Alternative für das Setting einer Notaufnahme sein.^{24,33} Entwickelt wurde dieses Instrument auf der Basis eines umfangreichen Geriatrischen Assessments (comprehensive geriatric assessment, CGA).³⁴ Das CGA ist ein multidimensionales und interdisziplinäres Assessment, welches standardisierte diagnostische Verfahren nutzt, den Schwerpunkt jedoch auf personenbezogene Faktoren wie Lebensqualität, Prognose und Ressourcen setzt, um einen individuellen und holistischen Therapieplan zu entwickeln.³⁵ Der MPI kann auf dieser Grundlage mehrere Dimensionen der Gesundheit abdecken und in der Prognoseberechnung der klinischen Komplexität in der Altersmedizin gerecht werden.³⁶

Eine wichtige Dimension von Gesundheit ist die Lebensqualität, welche in diesem Kontext als gesundheitsbezogene Lebensqualität bezeichnet wird.³⁷ Sie spielt eine wichtige Rolle in der Behandlung von chronischen Erkrankungen und ist deshalb auch bei patientenbezogenen Behandlungskonzepten in der Altersmedizin sehr relevant.^{38,39} Studien konnten zeigen, dass

die Lebensqualität von älteren Menschen stark von ihrem Gesundheitszustand abhängt.³⁹⁻⁴² Besonders geriatrische Syndrome wie der Verlust von Alltagsfunktionen,⁴³⁻⁴⁵ kognitive Einschränkungen,⁴⁶ Instabilität,⁴⁷ Inkontinenz,⁴⁸ Schmerzen,⁴⁹ Fehlernährung,⁵⁰ und soziale Isolation⁵¹ sind mit einer verringerten gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität assoziiert.

Die dieser Dissertationsschrift zugrundeliegende Publikation von Rarek et al. konnte zeigen, dass der MPI als multidimensionales Prognoseinstrument auch mit der gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität bei Aufnahme und bis zu 6 Monaten später assoziiert ist.⁵² Dies erweitert die Multidimensionalität dieses Instrumentes um eine weitere patientenzentrierte Ebene. Eine verstärkte Aufmerksamkeit auf Zusammenhänge zwischen patientenbezogenen Outcome-Faktoren und klinischer Prognose könnte dabei helfen, den holistischen Ansatz von geriatrischen Assessments und Zuteilungsentscheidungen in der Notaufnahme zu verbessern.

Wie kann ein CGA oder Anteile davon in die Abläufe einer Notaufnahme integriert werden, um die Identifizierung und das Management von älteren Risikogruppen zu verbessern? Viele unterschiedliche Konzepte wurden in den letzten Jahren in den USA erprobt.⁵³ Evidenzbasierte Leitlinien empfehlen zum einen die geriatrische Weiterbildung des Personals und eine strukturelle Anpassung von Protokollen und Prozeduren, um den Bedürfnissen älterer Menschen gerecht zu werden.^{54,55} Die Studienlage über die beste Strategie zur Implementation eines CGA in die Routineabläufe einer Notaufnahme ist jedoch uneindeutig und die Evidenz aufgrund unterschiedlicher Herangehensweisen und Settings unzureichend.^{27,56}

Es existieren bereits erste Konzepte, wie die geriatrische Behandlung auch in deutschen Notaufnahmen verbessert werden kann. Eine Maßnahme zur strukturellen Verbesserung der geriatrischen Versorgung in Deutschland ist die Implementierung eines "Geriatrischen Versorgungsverbundes" aus spezialisierten geriatrischen Stationen oder Krankenhäusern und zuteilende Strukturen wie Notaufnahmen und allgemeinmedizinischen Praxen.^{57,58} Eine wichtige Voraussetzung ist die Identifizierung von einem geriatrischem Versorgungbedarf zu einem frühen Zeitpunkt in der klinischen Behandlung, idealerweise in der Notaufnahme. Hierfür wird in Deutschland bisher nur der ISAR Score empfohlen,^{28,59} welcher jedoch bezüglich seiner klinischen Effizienz im Kontext einer Notaufnahme umstritten ist.^{26,31,32,60,61} Weitere Screening Werkzeuge, welche entweder in Kombination oder als Alternative genutzt werden können, werden aktuell evaluiert. Zu nennen wären diesbezüglich der MPI oder der in Deutschland entwickelte "Geriatrie Check".^{62,63} Strukturelle Konzepte wie die "Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Kurzaufnahmestation" in Hamburg,⁶⁴ oder das "Acutely Presenting Older Patient Screening Programm" in den Niederlanden,⁶⁵ sind an die amerikanischen Empfehlungen angelehnt und können Beispiele für die zukünftige geriatrische Notfallversorgung in Deutschland sein. Die Anpassung von Notaufnahmen an die Komplexität und die Bedürfnisse

einer alternden Gesellschaft wird für das Gesundheitssystem eine große Herausforderung darstellen.

Der weltweite Ausbruch der Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemie bedrohte die Gesundheitssysteme zahlreicher Nationen und zum Zeitpunkt der Veröffentlichung dieser Arbeit ist noch kein Ende absehbar.⁶⁶ Viele Aspekte und Herausforderungen der geriatrischen Versorgung können mithilfe der neusten Forschungsergebnisse über die COVID-19 Pandemie dargestellt werden. Ältere Menschen sind aufgrund von Multimorbidität und Gebrechlichkeit^{67,68} in einem hohen Maße von einem schweren Krankheitsverlauf sowie einer höheren Mortalität betroffen.⁶⁹⁻⁷³. Durch den Hintergrund von Pandemiebedingter Ressourcenknappheit von Behandlungsplätzen bekommt ein effektives Risiko-Screening von Personen in der Notaufnahme mit und ohne COVID-19 eine stärkere Bedeutung. Die "Clinical Frailty Scale" wurde als Instrument zu einem frühen Zeitpunkt von europäischen Fachgesellschaften empfohlen.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ Neuste Studien zeigen auch für den MPI eine effektive Prognoseberechnung im Kontext einer COVID-19 Erkrankung.⁷⁷ Unabhängig von den genutzten Instrumenten sollte ein Risiko-Screening zu einem frühen Zeitpunkt erfolgen, idealerweise schon in der Notaufnahme.⁷⁴ Deren zentrale Rolle in der Zuteilung wurde durch die COVID-19 Pandemie zusätzlich verstärkt.

Notaufnahmen in Deutschland zeigten im Jahr 2020 eine gute Anpassung an die Anforderungen der Pandemie.⁷⁸ Interessanterweise zeigte sich ein allgemeiner Rückgang der Fallzahlen in Notaufnahmen mit sowohl traumatischen als auch atraumatischen Diagnosen, wie beispielsweise Herzinfarkte und Schlaganfälle.^{79,80} Die Angst vor einer COVID-19 Infektion, sowie eingeschränkter Kontakt zu Angehörigen könnte viele Menschen mit milden und mittelschweren Symptomen von einer Vorstellung abgehalten haben.^{79,81} Dies sollte in Hinblick auf die Versorgung chronischer Erkrankungen mit Sorge betrachtet werden. Durch eine fehlende Therapie könnten diese aggravieren und die Prävalenz von Multimorbidität, Gebrechlichkeit und Pflegebedürftigkeit in naher Zukunft erhöhen.

Die COVID-19 Pandemie zeigte auch einen negativen Einfluss auf die gesundheitsbezogene Lebensqualität, beispielsweise aufgrund von Angst vor einer Infektion, dem Verlust von Angehörigen, Einsamkeit bedingt durch Isolierungsmaßnahmen und Zukunftsängsten.^{82,83} Insgesamt zeigen erste Studien, dass ältere Menschen im Durchschnitt jedoch weniger von einer Reduktion der gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität betroffen zu sein scheinen als Jüngere.^{84,85} Einen Einfluss auf die gesundheitsbezogene Lebensqualität könnte auch die Entwicklung von post-COVID-19 Symptomen haben.^{86,87} Da schwere Verläufe von COVID-19 das Risiko für Spätfolgen erhöhen, könnten ältere und vulnerable Menschen stärker von chronischen Symptomen betroffen sein.^{67,71,88} Erste Studien zeigen, dass post-COVID-19 Symptome mit einer signifikanten Reduktion der gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität

12

assoziiert sind.^{89,90} Dies zeigt, dass die Pandemie auch langfristige Folgen für die Lebensqualität älterer Menschen haben kann.

Zusammengefasst stellt die Pandemie eine große Herausforderung für die aktuelle und zukünftige Gesundheitsversorgung dar, insbesondere von älteren und vulnerablen Menschen. Wenn man Gebrechlichkeit als Endpunkt multifaktorieller Degeneration von Organsystemen beschreibt, dann könnte eine Infektion mit COVID-19 als Beschleuniger des Alterungsprozesses wirken und die Prävalenz dessen erhöhen.¹² Dies könnte auch einen starken Einfluss auf den demographischen Wandel haben. Dessen Implikationen für das Gesundheitssystem liegen nicht nur an der reinen Anzahl älterer Menschen, sondern vor allem an der Prävalenz von Multimorbidität, Gebrechlichkeit und Pflegebedürftigkeit.

Die Notaufnahme befindet sich als Knotenpunkt in der Gesundheitsversorgung an der Front der aktuellen und zukünftigen Herausforderungen des Gesundheitssystems. Die effektive Identifikation von Gebrechlichkeit und Vulnerabilität, die strukturelle Umwandlung zu Geriatriefreundlichen Notaufnahmen und ein verbesserter Informationsaustausch von ambulanten und stationären Einrichtungen sind im Angesicht des demographischen Wandels wichtige Ansätze, um eine adäquate geriatrische Versorgung zu gewährleisten. Die Reduktion von Hospitalisierung und Aufrechterhaltung der Autonomie im Lebensalltag könnten nicht nur das klinische Outcome, sondern auch die gesundheitsbezogene Lebensqualität verbessern. Die dieser Dissertationsschrift zugrundeliegende Publikation konnte darstellen, dass der MPI im Setting einer Notaufnahme eingesetzt werden kann, um die Komplexität und die Prognose von älteren Menschen anzubilden.⁵² Die Assoziationen mit der gesundheitsbezogenen Lebensqualität könnte die Aufmerksamkeit bezüglich patientenbezogener Outcome Faktoren in der geriatrischen Versorgung zusätzlich stärken. Diese könnten im besonderen Maße von Therapieansätzen profitieren, welche die Funktionalität, Symptomreduktion und eine Verbesserung der Lebensqualität ansprechen. Schlussendlich könnte dies den Ansatz für holistische und patientenbezogene Zuteilungs- und Behandlungskonzepte in den zukünftigen Notaufnahmen stärken.

2. Summary

The emergency department (ED) is one of the most important access points to medical care worldwide and a central link between out- and inpatient care.¹ The demographic development is predicted to change the age distribution of patients in the German health system over the next few decades which could strongly affect the ED as a multidisciplinary centre of the health system.^{4,6} Many EDs in Germany have already observed an increase in the number of older and clinically complex patients that bind more resources and personnel capacities.⁹¹ Geriatric patients in the ED are a particularly vulnerable group with an increased risk of clinical complications compared to younger age groups.⁷ The higher prevalence of frailty, atypical symptoms, multimorbidity, polypharmacy, neuropsychiatric and cognitive impairments impede fast diagnosis and therapy.⁸

The integration of an elaborate and time-consuming assessment of older patients in an otherwise fast-paced and efficiency-driven environment is a major challenge of present-day and future EDs. Therefore, an effective screening for older patients who would benefit from further evaluation will be paramount. Common standardized triage systems of EDs²⁰⁻²³ or existing screening instruments like the Identification of Seniors at Risk (ISAR) score²⁹ show major difficulties in effectively identifying vulnerable older patients.^{30-32,60,61} The Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI),³³ which is based on a comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA),³⁴ has already been tested in numerous settings and might be an alternative to grasp the complexity of older ED patients.^{24,36}

An important but rarely evaluated clinical outcome parameter is health-related quality of life (HRQOL).³⁷ It is a central component of patient-related treatment concepts and plays a crucial role in the care for geriatric patients.^{38,39} Existing literature shows a strong influence of the health status on HRQOL of older people.³⁹⁻⁴² The results of the study by Rarek et al., on which this thesis is based upon, were able to show that the HRQOL of geriatric ED patients is significantly associated with clinical prognosis at ED admission and up to 6 months after.⁵² Attention to the association between patient-related outcome factors such as HRQOL and objective clinical prognosis can improve a holistic approach for allocation decisions in future concepts of geriatric ED care.

Various innovative concepts for the improvement of detection and management of geriatric and patients in the ED have been tested and evaluated in the USA in recent years.^{27,53,56} The initial experience about advantages and disadvantages of approaches that were tested can help to create adapted concepts for the German health care system. First responses to the increasing number of geriatric patients already exist in Germany and range from new screening tools^{62,63} to specialized ED units⁶⁴ and an improved linking of different health care providers.⁵⁹ Adapting EDs to the complexities and needs of geriatric patients will be a major challenge in an aging society.

The global outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has threatened the health systems of numerous nations and at the time of this publication, the end is still unforeseeable.⁶⁶ Many aspects and challenges of the complexity in geriatric patients in clinical practice have been illustrated by the impact of the pandemic on geriatric care. Older, multimorbid and frail patients are particularly affected by this disease due to an increased risk of a severe course of disease and higher mortality.⁶⁹⁻⁷³ The need to effectively identify vulnerable patients in the ED with a poor clinical prognosis has become more important due to the pandemic-related scarcity of resources. In addition, it has been observed that the COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact on HRQOL^{89,90} of older people and the treatment of chronic illnesses.^{79,80} Given that geriatric patients have a higher risk for the development of chronic remnants of COVID-19, the pandemic could have unforeseeable influence on future health of the aging society.^{67,71,88}

In the face of demographic changes, present and future challenges for health systems, effective identification and management of frail and vulnerable patients in the ED and structural changes to obtain geriatric-friendly EDs are important steps to guarantee adequate geriatric care and improve the clinical outcome as well as HRQOL.

3. Introduction

3.1 The Emergency Department

3.1.1. Structure in Germany

Worldwide, the ED is a major access point of patients to medical care beside primary care providers.¹ It is one of three pillars of emergency care in Germany in addition to the ambulance service and the "Kassenärztlicher Bereitschaftsdienst", a standby duty often carried out by medical practitioners in private practice.² As a link between inpatient and outpatient care, the ED has a key role in the emergency service, ambulatory treatment and transition to hospital care.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ Until the millennial change, emergency care in Germany was dominated by preclinical care and structures.⁹⁵ The implementation of interdisciplinary and independent EDs in Germany has therefore been a recent development in comparison to Anglo-Saxon and Scandinavian health care systems.⁹⁶ Without the distinct speciality of an emergency medicine physician, the "Zentrale Notaufnahme (central emergency ward)" in Germany turned into an important link for the treatment and allocation of in- and outpatients with acute medical conditions. ^{92,93} It is usually organizationally and spatially independent from the hospital with a distinct directorship and offers interdisciplinary medical care by assigned physicians from major specialties like internal medicine and surgery and the possibility of consultations from other departments.⁹⁵ Official data on the number and variety of structures of EDs in Germany is lacking, but it has been estimated that 70% of hospitals offered emergency service via a central emergency wards in 2010.97

3.1.2. General Data on ED visitors

Valid and comprehensive data on medical care and the demographic attributes of German ED visitors is limited as well. Due to decentralized care structures and non-uniform accounting systems, providing a precise and up-to-date overview is difficult. ^{3,98} A report by Stillfried and colleagues quantified the numbers of cases in German EDs by 17 million in 2015, with half of them being admitted to stationary care.⁹⁹ This number is, however, criticized for being inaccurate and too small by neglecting self-pay patients and multiple visits in an accounting period. ^{100,101} Nonetheless, many studies indicate an increment of inpatients and ED visitors over the last years. ²⁻⁴ This increment also seems to be higher than the European average.¹⁰² Several potential reasons for this development have been hypothesized, including a lack of knowledge in patients about alternative emergency services, reduced capacities of primary care providers and a quicker and broader range of diagnostic procedures available 24 hours a day in a hospital that might motivate patients to choose the ED.^{2,103}

A consequence of this development is the overcrowding of EDs in Germany.¹⁰³ The simultaneous treatment of patients in life-and-death situations and patients with minor urgency

intensifies the workload and impedes decision-making of physicians in the ED. Given that working in the ED is part of the specialist training, assistant physicians often have little clinical experience and the presence of trained supervisors is not always a matter of course.^{104,105} This aggravates the pressure on timely and accurate diagnostic protocols, decision-making and treatment algorithms in the ED for patients in general, but particularly for a vulnerable and multimorbid group that is projected to increase drastically over the next decades: older patients.

3.2 Demographic development

Exceptional progression in medicine and the average increase of wealth over the last century have led to extended longevity and declining fertility rates.¹⁰⁶ This is prognosed to lead to a demographic shift. The amount of people worldwide aged 80 and older are predicted to triple from today until 2050. ¹⁰⁷ This development could lead to an increment of older patients with a rising challenge for healthcare systems.

3.2.1. Data for Germany

The "Statistical Offices of the Federation and the Länder" published a booklet on the impact of the demographic change on inpatient treatment for the next decades in Germany.⁵ The authors calculated an increase of 34.5% of people aged 60 and above until 2030. The amount of people older than 60 in the population will increase from approximately 25% in 2009 to 37% in 2030 and 40% in 2050. The age group of 80 to 90 years will eventually increase by 34,8% (2030) and 116,2% (2050) and the group of older than 90 years by 211% (2030) and 386% (2050). These increasing groups will likely affect the future inpatient structure of hospitals. Already, nearly 50% of all inpatients in the year 2015 were older than 60 years and this number is predicted by the department to rise up to 60% until 2030.^{5,108} Furthermore, the authors estimated an increase of inpatients in German hospitals of 8% in total till 2030.⁵

3.2.2. International perspective

Many countries in the EU share the same demographical development. The amount of people in the EU aged 65 or above in relation to those aged 15 to 64 will increase from nearly 30% today to 50% by 2060.¹⁰⁹ Van den Heede et al. developed a projection model to estimate the impact of ageing on hospital capacity for the next decades in Belgium.⁶ They predicted an increase of the demand on hospital beds for geriatric patients and a shift of the hospital structure towards more geriatric and chronic care units. A model of accelerated ageing estimated a 50% increase of inpatient stays till 2025 with the peak of this development being predicted from 2030 onwards. The authors anticipated a shortening of the length of stay (LOS) as an economic response to this development. However, a higher turnover of inpatients might be at the expense of older patients who are at higher risk of prolonged hospital stay.¹¹⁰ An increment of hospital cases and decrement of the length of stay has already been observed in

Germany. The number of inpatients in hospitals increased about 13.6% and the average LOS decreased from 8.7 to 7.5 days from 2005 to 2013.¹¹¹

Schulz and colleagues anticipated that patients aged 70 and older would be responsible for around 50% of all hospital days in Germany in 2050, calling for a reorganisation of hospital landscapes.¹¹² This trend will meet a progressing shortage of healthcare workers in Germany, leading to a gap in medical and care treatment.¹¹³ Another predicted trend of decreasing primary care providers could reduce the options for outpatient care, thereby aggravating the pressure on stationary healthcare systems even more.¹¹⁴

The expected higher demand on hospital beds and decrement of primary care provider in Germany could lead to an increment of older patients in the ED and might become a challenge for future EDs.

3.3 Older patients in the ED

3.3.1. Characteristics

Older patients tend to be a more vulnerable group than younger persons. A systematic literature review by Gruneir et al. summarized characteristics of older ED patients.⁷ They tend to arrive two to four times more often by ambulance and present with more clinical acute conditions. One third to half of all older ED patients ends up being hospitalized. Their LOS in the ED is 19-58% longer than that of younger patients, pooling resources and personnel time.

3.3.2. Clinical appearance

Furthermore, the older patients' reasons for seeking an ED are different from other age groups. While younger patients tend to present surgical complaints or accidents, older patients often seek the ED with complex medical complaints that are not always obvious and easy to overlook for nurses and physicians.⁷ Samaras et al. summarized the most common conditions of older patients in the ED and illustrated that those often occur with atypical disease presentation and a multicausal aetiology.⁸ Functional decline, frailty and polypharmacy often add complexity to diagnostic assessments and treatment strategies. The authors pointed out that additionally, common neuropsychiatric disorders like delirium, dementia and depression could likewise affect the ED presentation negatively. Cognitive and sensorial impairments like sight loss or reduced hearing capacity can impede the communication and anamnesis, particularly if relatives or caregivers are absent.^{115,116} Despite their importance in clinical outcomes, those syndromes are often undetected or, if assessed, not documented.¹¹⁷ A systematic meta-analysis has shown that dominant risk factors for prolonged LOS, mortality and discharge destination are mainly geriatric syndromes that represent the functional capacity and cognitive status instead of routinely collected information like age, gender or diagnosis.¹¹⁸

3.3.3. Risk for adverse events

The complexity of conditions often results in a broad usage of diagnostic procedures, leading to diagnoses that tend to be less accurate compared to those of younger patients.^{117,119} This can lead to unrecognized health issues, suboptimal treatment and medication upon discharge and eventually, a return to the ED.^{117,120} Every fourth older ED visitor seems to return to the ED or is hospitalized within three months, while the mortality averages out to 10%.¹¹⁹ Furthermore, older patients are at risk of developing increasing functional dependence three months after an ED visit.¹¹⁹ These findings support the evidence that older emergency patients should be considered as high-risk patients in unprepared EDs.^{8,119,121,122} But a high age alone should not be acknowledged as high-risk per se. The heterogeneity of ageing caused by genetics, individual life-courses and social and cultural backgrounds can lead to a broad variety of clinical appearances and prognoses.¹²³ The detection of vulnerable geriatric patients is therefore a major challenge of today's and future EDs.

3.3.4. Age distribution in German EDs

There is only limited data on the age distribution of the patients in German EDs. The workgroup "Der ältere Patient in der Notfallmedizin" of the "Deutsche Gesellschaft für Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Akutmedizin (DGINA)" carried out a non-representative survey on their members regarding geriatric care and age distribution between 2010 and 2013 in 30 EDs nationwide.⁹¹ The median percentage of patients aged 70 and more was 30%. A single-centred study on 14 EDs in Munich numbered the percentage of patents aged 65 years and above with 26.7%.¹²⁴ The influence of the demographic development on the characteristics of ED patients has been observed in the last years. Groening et al. identified an unbalanced increment in the number of patients aged 70 to 79, followed by the age group of 30 to 39. The age groups of 80 to 89 and 90+ had a smaller increment in absolute numbers, but the 90+ group had the highest percentage growth by 21%; followed by the age group of 30 to 39 (20.4%). However, the age group of 90+ was perceived to be the one with the highest increment in absolute numbers by the ED physicians who responded to the survey. The authors attributed this to a stronger perception of this group in clinical day life because of a higher effort of care.

An observed increment of the demands on ambulant emergency care speaks in favour of this growth in the number of older patients with emergency care demands. A study by Veser et al. for the federal state of Bavaria evaluated that 33% of all emergency ambulance usages in 2012 were caused by people aged 75 years and above.¹²⁵ They furthermore predicted an increase of ambulance usages by 21% from 2012 to 2032.

This change in the age distribution of ED visitors does not happen exclusively in Germany. An international analysis of Berchet et al. evaluated that patients older than 65 represented about 20% of all ED visitors in 2012 in Australia, Canada and England, about 38% in Switzerland

and nearly 50% in the US.¹⁰² Studies in the US and Switzerland likewise observed an increase of ED visits influenced by the demographic development.^{1,126}

3.4 Clinical complexity of geriatric patients

3.4.1. Definition of the geriatric patient

The "Deutsche Gesellschaft für Geriatrie" and "Deutsche Gesellschaft für Gerontologie und Geriatrie", in cooperation with the "Bundesarbeitsgemeinschaft Geriatrischer Einrichtungen" defined a geriatric patient as someone who presents with higher age and a geriatric-typical multimorbidity (≥ 70 years) or elevated vulnerability (≥ 80 years) caused by the risk of chronification or loss of autonomy.⁹ According to the authors, the attention should hereby focus on the multimorbidity and complexity rather than age alone. Onder and Vetrano describe multimorbidity as the "co-occurrence of several diseases in the same person regardless of main clinic entity".¹²⁷ The concurrence of various chronic diseases and the related prescription of multiple medications does not only influence clinical symptoms and treatment options but impedes clinical assessment especially in the ED where time and personnel resources are strained. Next to age, the second aspect in this definition of a geriatric patient is an increased vulnerability towards adverse clinical outcomes like a chronic manifestation or loss of autonomy. There are several reasons for geriatric patients being more vulnerable than other patient groups.¹²⁷ Many of these factors are associated with complex physiological changes that are associated with the ageing process. They overlap one another, influence themself and are not easy to distinguish in clinical context.

3.4.2. Complexity of biological ageing processes

Ageing is a complex biological phenomenon affecting an individual on various levels: molecular, cellular, physiological and psycho-social.¹⁰ It is to a lesser extent a biological programmed finiteness, but rather the accumulation of time-dependent cellular damage resulting in a decline of physiological functionality due to a limited capacity in preservation and protection against intrinsic and extrinsic stressors.¹²⁸ A model of biological ageing by López-Otín and colleagues describes the biological hallmarks of ageing from microscopic to macroscopic changes.¹¹ Various extrinsic and intrinsic physical (e.g. ultraviolet and gamma radiation), chemical (e.g. oxygen-free radicals) and biological (e.g. viruses and bacteria) agents lead to damage of the deoxyribonucleic acid, mitochondrial mutations, telomere loss, epigenetic alteration and defective proteostasis.^{11,129} These deteriorations accumulate over time and eventually overexert downstream protecting mechanisms like mitochondrial functioning, nutrient sensing for metabolic regulation and cellular senescence controlling cell cycles.¹¹ The failure of these systems accumulates the damage on cellular level, causing disturbed intercellular communication and stem cell proliferation which ultimately affects tissue homeostasis and macroscopic functionality.

This development does not affect all cells in an organ evenly, which leads to the coexisting of damaged and functional, undamaged cells.¹⁰ At first, the organ system continues to function but experiences a progressive reduction of physiological capacity and resilience. Fulop and colleagues called this a "*mosaic*" progression resulting into dynamic and heterogeneous manifestations.¹⁰ The complexity of an individual's ageing process can be assigned on a continuum between two poles of "successful" and "pathologic" ageing, depending on the reserve capacity and resilience of physiological systems. Individual factors like genetic variability, accumulated diseases, environment, lifestyle and nutrition might have an important influence on the assignment on this scale. Frailty might be considered as a clinically apparent and pathological manifestation of a normal ageing process.^{10,12,13}

3.4.3. Frailty

Frailty describes a state of vulnerability caused by a life-long cumulated decline of various physiological systems leading to reduced resistance towards low-power extrinsic stressors.¹⁴ It is a multidimensional concept with dynamic states and an extreme consequence of normal ageing.¹³ Frailty is furthermore associated with multiple adverse outcomes like fall,¹³⁰ hospitalization,¹³¹ institutionalization to long term care,¹³² cognitive impairment,^{133,134} affective disorders,¹³⁵ and reduced life expectancy.¹³⁶

3.4.4. Concepts of frailty

There is no global consensus or standardised measurement for frailty and research is based on different concepts and a variety of assessment tools with a wide range of applicability.¹³⁷ The most widely used frailty definitions and instruments can be classified into two different approaches:

The first one is based on the frailty phenotype by Fried and colleagues.¹³⁸ It is the classification of frailty as a phenotype by certain pre-defined clinical signs or symptoms (for example 3 out of 5) like exhaustion, low activity, weakness, gait speed or unintentional weight loss.¹³ This definition of frailty by Fried and colleagues conceptualise frailty as a decline of energetic capabilities and resilience against physiological stressors that manifest in those clinical conditions.¹² This concept has been largely evaluated in clinical and research context, but it is criticized for a lack of the representation of other health dimensions like cognition. In addition, the threshold for some criteria were based on distributions in patients with mainly cardiovascular diseases.¹²

The second approach is the accumulation of various age-related health deficits like symptoms, diseases, disabilities and abnormal clinical tests into an index score measuring frailty as a continuum.¹³ This stochastic approach by Rockwood and Mitnitski led to the development of the Frailty index.¹³⁹ Although this concept incorporates multiple factors of various organ systems that are a sensitive predictor of adverse outcomes in combination, it treats those

deficits equally which narrows an individual treatment approach and omits the concept of specific biological mechanisms causing frailty.¹² Both approaches of frailty assessment are well validated for different settings and populations and have set the foundation for various frailty instruments.¹³⁷

3.4.5. Frailty as a multidimensional model

A recent approach to frailty as a multi-layered or multidimensional model by Ferrucci et al. adopted the narrative of the aforementioned biological and physiological ageing mechanisms.¹² It describes frailty as a construct with three overlaying dimensions, which can be epitomised by the layers of an onion. The core and first layer contain the biological basis and represents the mechanisms that are hypothesized as the primary causes of frailty. It includes all the aforementioned biomolecular mechanisms that might drive both the ageing and frailty process. The intermediate layer is called "area of biomarkers" and represents descriptive pathophysiological mechanisms of frailty like weakness, energy imbalance, hormone deficit, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. These might be the first manifestations of frailty on a physiological level and represent the reduced reserve and resilience of organ systems with superficially absent clinical signs. The outermost and visible layer includes apparent clinical symptoms of frailty like multimorbidity, functional decline, reduced mobility, cognitive impairment and other geriatric syndromes. According to this model, the clinical manifestations of frailty share no monocausal aetiology but emerge as the common endpoint of declined and dysfunctional processes of the inner layers. Single processes in the core and intermediate layer on their own have low impact on the outer layer, but once a disbalance in multiple systems arises, they become clinically apparent. The model does not emphasise particular processes or biomarkers as being primarily responsible for frailty, but instead describes it as the endpoint of various processes that are closely intertwined and whose clinical manifestations are strongly dependent on individual predispositions, life-style decisions and life-long influences. It is suitable to connect existing theoretical aetiologies of ageing and frailty and can help the understanding of the complexity that lies dormant beneath frailty. A multidimensional approach to the definition of frailty that incorporates the multilayered physiological backgrounds of ageing could speak in favor of acknowledging the significance and complexity of its aetiology.¹²

3.4.6. Prevalence of frailty

Estimating the global prevalence of frailty is difficult due to the differences in definitions and measurement tools. A systematic review on the prevalence of frailty in community dwelling older adults of high-income countries found a pooled average of 10%.¹⁴⁰. However, the reported range spanned between 4 and 59%, which was explained by the large differences of concepts and measurement techniques. A meta-analysis of the prevalence of frailty in China demonstrated a similar result of 10%¹⁴¹ and a survey of the World Health Organization (WHO)

showed a higher prevalence in emerging countries like Mexico (30%), Ghana (38%) and India (57%) compared to western societies.¹⁴²

Despite the uncertainty about the prevalence, common patterns of affected patients do exist. Frailty is more often present in women, explained by the longer expected lifespan of women and their lower amount of lean body mass and muscle capacity.¹⁴⁰ Furthermore, ethnic and racial minorities and people with low educational level are affected more often.^{19,143} The burden of frailty impacts both the societal level with increased health-care costs^{13,144} and the individual level with a higher rate of health care admissions, social deprivation and reduced quality of life (QOL).¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷

3.4.7. Clinical presentation of complexity and frailty

But what exactly constitutes the clinical complexity of an older patient with a highly aged or (pre-)frail condition in the setting of an ED? Especially processes in systems with widespread influence like the immunologic-, endocrinal-, metabolic- and vascular-system have massive influence on physiological processes, morbidity and mortality.

"Inflammageing", an age associated, deregulated, low-grade, chronic and systemic inflammation caused by accumulated imbalances of protective and harming factors drives impairment and pathogenesis in multiple organ systems.^{148,149} It induces a catabolic state increasing the risk for vascular diseases, sarcopenia, anaemia, insulin resistance, osteoporosis, reduced neurogenesis and frailty.¹⁴⁹

Oxidative stress caused by ageing processes, chronic inflammation and lifestyle habits can lead to the development of a metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance, which themselves contribute to the aforementioned ageing processes and are driving factors for diabetes, heartand vascular diseases.¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵² A decline in growth hormones, dysregulated inflammation, microvascular changes, lifestyle habits and cellular ageing mechanisms disturb the homeostasis of the skeletal muscle leading to a catabolic metabolism and the development of sarcopenia, which is one of the cornerstones of the phenotype-based definition of frailty.¹⁵³ The loss of muscle strength contributes majorly to the decline in functional abilities, falls, fractures, impaired QOL and mortality.¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵ Ageing processes in the endothelium of blood cells like the reduction of nitrous oxide availability, increment of oxidative stress and the deposition of metabolic products lead to endothelial dysfunction, which impairs the response of blood vessels to haemodynamic changes and damages end-organ capillary in heart, kidney and brain.^{156,157} Changes in the flexibility of blood vessels and age-related impairments of the autonomic nervous system amplify conditions with pathological blood pressure like hypertension,¹⁵⁸ or orthostatic hypotension,¹⁵⁹ thus increasing the risk for coronary heart disease, heart failure, cognitive impairment, falls, and death.^{160,161}

Cognitive decline is likewise affected by multi-layered processes like genetics, micromolecular ageing processes, inflammation, cardiovascular and metabolic diseases and lifestyle habits.¹⁶²

Like ageing and frailty, it can be conceptualised as a continuum from non-pathologic impairments, "hidden" deficits with superficial inconspicuousness like mild cognitive impairment, to diseases like dementia.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵ The clinical manifestation and influence on orientation, communication, anamnestic and therapeutic processes could be dynamic, apparently or inconspicuously.¹²³ Social-economic aspects like poverty, educational level, neglect and isolation can furthermore influence the aforementioned bio-physiological processes, frailty, preventive and therapeutic potentialities.¹⁷⁻¹⁹

3.4.8. Geriatric syndromes

The complexity of the ageing process can lead to the development of clinical conditions that do not fit into distinct disease categories: geriatric syndromes.¹⁶ They depict symptoms or a complexity of symptoms that have a high prevalence in older patients but are not exclusively present in higher age groups.¹²⁷ Common examples are frailty, delirium, cognitive impairment, fall and instability, incontinence, malnutrition and immobility. Inouye and colleagues described the clinical characteristics of geriatric syndromes: While common clinical syndromes develop from a pattern of symptoms with a single pathogenic pathway, geriatric syndromes emerge from multiple and complex underlying factors that influence each other in their development.¹⁶ The dysfunction of multiple and distant organ systems can result in clinical signs that are not necessarily unambiguous and are therefore more difficult to diagnose. Diagnostic strategies of geriatric syndromes can be burdensome and costly, while treatment options do not necessarily require a detailed clarification of the underlying cause.¹⁶

Research shows that geriatric syndromes seem to be very frequent in geriatric patients in all care settings.¹⁶⁶ The median number of geriatric syndromes at hospital admission is estimated at 5-6 and nearly every geriatric patient tends to present with at least one.¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹ They are important risk factors for many adverse health outcomes: hospital LOS,^{170,171} discharge delay,^{170,172} (re-)hospitalization,^{173,174} institutionalization,^{172,175} functional decline,¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁷⁸ decrease in QOL¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸¹ and mortality.¹⁶⁷ Their impact on these outcomes seem to be greater than age, comorbidity and illness severity.¹⁷⁰ Despite their importance for the patient's prognosis, there is little knowledge on the assessment and treatment of geriatric syndromes in healthcare providers outside of the geriatric setting.¹⁶

Geriatric syndromes and frailty are common clinical presentations that arise from the multilayered complexity of processes that accompany an asymptomatic or pathologic ageing process. Many processes share common pathways and influence each other. This complex multidimensionality of a highly aged or (pre-)frail patient contrasts the still prevalent organcentred approach in many clinical settings. Patients with a great variety of complaints and needs might be often reduced to a main symptom or main organ illness in the ED due to a lack of time and possibilities to assess the complexity that accompanies an older person. This simplification might be an eligible strategy for ED caretakers who must decide quickly about the appropriate clinical pathway for a specific patient, but it might "frame" the patient with influence on the subsequent care. This patient could be transferred to a specialized department that offers the best medical care for the organ system affected by the main diagnosis, but which might fail to unveil and address the factors that often drive frailty and lead to hospital (re-) admission if a geriatric co-treatment is overlooked. The screening for frail and vulnerable patients that might profit from further geriatric evaluation is therefore an important need for clinical decision-makers, especially in the high-paced and efficiency-driven setting of the ED.

3.5 Screening for vulnerability in the ED

3.5.1. Triage

A common key element to classify ED patients according to their clinical urgency is the triage. It is commonly assessed by nurses after the patient's arrival to the ED using a short instrument for early allocation decisions and to establish the clinical priority.¹⁸² The aforementioned rising number of ED visitors and patients with low-urgent complaints has intensified the relevance of effective triage to prevent treatment delay in possible life endangering conditions. However, the most used triage systems like the Manchester Triage System and The Emergency Severity Index show a risk of decreased sensitivity for geriatric patients, which might be explained by the patient's complexity and the presentation with atypical or nonspecific symptoms.²⁰⁻²³ There is a need for in-depth screening instruments of geriatric patients that are well-adapted to the setting of an ED.

3.5.2. Frailty screening in the ED

Despite an increase in the development of various frailty instruments over the last decades, the transition from the identification of frailty into clinical practice routine in the special setting of an ED is still limited.^{24,25} A large meta-analysis on 34 studies by Carpenter et al. validated seven screening instruments for prognostic accuracy in the ED, with five frailty instruments among them. The authors reported insufficient prognostic accuracy in every examined tool regarding the distinction of high-risk and low-risk geriatric patients.²⁶ A review by Preston and colleagues on the identification and management strategies of frailty in the ED found scarce and not particularly robust evidence for ED approaches targeting frailty.²⁷ Existing studies regarding frailty instruments were heterogenous with varying definitions of frailty and ages as inclusion criteria. Only few screening instruments have been validated in a wide range of settings and most of them in the US. Tools were designed for different goals, either the identification or the support in management decision, which impedes comparability. The authors did not recommend a universal tool due to a limited applicability from one health care system (in their case the United Kingdom) to another regarding outcomes like hospital admission and ED readmissions. This might impede the research on screening instruments and the transition of knowledge from one health care system to another. Hence, health care

providers have to find instruments that fit into the specific conditions and characteristics of their system.

3.5.3. The ISAR score

The "Gesellschaften Bundesverband Geriatrie" and "Deutsche Gesellschaft für Gerontologie und Geriatrie" recommended the implementation of the ISAR score as a screening instrument in German EDs in 2012.^{28,29} Today, it has become a gold standard for the screening of vulnerable older patients in the German ED.⁶² This short and easy-to-conduct questionnaire is based on 6 yes/no questions regarding prior dependency, hospitalization, visual impairment and memory complaints as well as the intake of six or more medications. The presence of two or more items has been shown to predict adverse outcomes like functional decline, institutionalization and death after an ED visit.²⁹ In the setting of a German ED, the ISAR score predicted death of any cause, recurrent ED visit, hospitalization and institutionalization.¹⁸³ However, studies in other countries observed an insufficient predictive ability.^{61,184} Warnier and colleagues compared 16 frailty indices conducted at hospital admission and reported that the ISAR score had one of the highest sensitivities but low specificity.³⁰ Another meta-analysis was conducted by Galvin et al., attributing modest predictive ability for adverse outcomes like unplanned ED readmission, hospitalization and death six months after an ED visit to the ISAR score.³¹ Again, the ISAR score showed high sensitivity (> 0.81), yet low specificity (0.26 -0.38). The authors recommended the usage of a negative ISAR score (< 2 items) to support the decision to discharge low-risk patients from the ED.

A comparison of the ISAR score and two other screening instruments repeated this metric of high sensitivity and low specificity and showed a high false-positive rate of 33%.³² An evaluation of other adverse outcomes like a decrement on the Barthel Index (BI), the living condition or the German care level showed similar metrics.⁶² Additionally, the authors reported that the ISAR score classified 80% of the study population (146 patients older than 70 in the ED of Ulm University Hospital) as geriatric patients, which reflects its low specificity. This pattern was also observed in other studies.^{60,185} Although the ISAR score has been shown to identify patients who benefitted from closer geriatric assessment, the low specificity may present a problem in ED routine.¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁸⁸

3.5.4. Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment

A success story in assessing and keeping track of the complexity of geriatric patients has been the CGA. It is a method to assess a substantial overview of a geriatric patient including medical, psycho-behavioural, social and functional capacity.³⁵ The emphasis is hereby placed on an interdisciplinary and multidimensional evaluation using standardized instruments with the goal to develop a coordinated and patient-centred short and long term treatment plan.³⁵ Developed by Warren and colleagues in the 1930s, the CGA has evolved into a cornerstone of geriatric

medicine and the gold standard for the assessment of geriatric patients.³⁴ It has been demonstrated to improve several health outcomes like mortality, disability and cognitive function of geriatric patients in multiple settings.¹⁸⁹

Ellis et al. conducted a meta-analysis on the effectiveness of a CGA for older hospital inpatients who were admitted via the ED in comparison to general acute care.¹⁹⁰ Those who received a CGA and were treated in geriatric wards were more likely to survive and live in their own home after twelve months and had a better cognitive status. This was concomitant with no increased costs of care. Subgroup analysis showed that this effect was primarily carried by CGA wards in comparison to CGA consultation teams.

Although CGAs have been successfully implemented in inpatient care, there is insufficient knowledge on the effective implementation of CGAs in the setting of an ED to date.^{56,189}

3.5.5. The Multidimensional Prognostic Index

The MPI was developed as an extension of a CGA by Pilotto and colleagues as a prognostic instrument for mortality of hospitalized older patients.³³ It has been established as a common instrument for the assessment of frailty and clinical prognosis in in- and outpatient care.^{24,36} The MPI calculates an index with a mathematic algorithm including information from 53 items of eight different domains and instruments that are validated and in clinical usage for CGAs. Functional status is assessed by Katz's Activities of Daily Living¹⁹¹ and the Lawton's Instrumental Activities of Daily Living,¹⁹² multimorbidity by the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale,¹⁹³ cognitive status by the Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire,¹⁹⁴ mobility and pressure ulcer risk by the Exton-Smith Scale¹⁹⁵ and in addition, social living conditions and the number of prescribes drugs are evaluated. Initially, the MPI was developed by using the Mini Nutritional Assessment for nutritional status,¹⁹⁶ but it was afterwards validated with the shorter Mini Nutritional Assessment Short Form.^{197,198}

The MPI transforms the conventional cut-off points from each of those instruments to a single risk score ranging between 0 (lower-risk) and 1 (higher-risk).³³ This score can additionally be divided into three risk groups to support patient classification: low risk MPI-1 (0-0.33), moderate risk MPI-2 (0.34-0.66) and high risk MPI-3 (0.67-1). As a comprehensive tool, the MPI needs more time for administration than simpler screening instruments.³⁰ It can be completed in 25 to 30min, while the modified version using the Mini Nutritional Assessment Short Form can be conducted in 20 minutes with a comparable degree of accuracy.^{30,197} Another modification was made for the self-administrational use as a frailty instrument of community dwelling adult people.¹⁹⁹

3.5.6. Clinical associations and usage of the MPI

The MPI has been shown to effectively predict hospital mortality, hospital length of stay, institutionalization, rehospitalization, the usage of home care service and mortality one year

after discharge.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² It is furthermore sensitive to the change of health and functional status during a hospital stay even in non-geriatric settings and can be used as a monitor especially in prolonged hospital stays.^{203,204} Associations of the MPI index with the use of health care resources in the German health care system after discharge were likewise observed.²⁰⁵ To date, there are only few studies that have evaluated the MPI in primary care. A study for community dwelling older patients in Germany found an association of higher MPI scores with more adverse outcomes and a higher usage of primary care.²⁰⁶ A study in Italy observed its usefulness for the identification of older people who are qualified for public disability benefits.²⁰⁷ The prognostic value of the MPI has been demonstrated in various diseases common in older patients like pneumonia,²⁰⁸ Clostridium difficile infections,²⁰⁹ heart and respiratory failure,^{210,211} acute intestinal bleeding,²¹² chronic kidney disease²¹³ and dental health.²¹⁴ Furthermore, the MPI showed potential for the screening and treatment monitoring of depression in older patients.^{215,216}

Its great potential for supporting clinical decision-making in geriatric patients was shown in the European multi-study research project MPI_AGE.²¹⁷ In addition, the MPI has been successfully used in evaluating the risk-benefit ratio in the pharmacotherapy of dementia,²¹⁸ atrial fibrillation²¹⁹ and the usage of statins on diabetes mellitus²²⁰ and coronary heart disease.²²¹ Furthermore, it has shown to be useful in the selection of older patients who would benefit from invasive treatment options like transcatheter aortic valve implantation^{222,223} and enteral tube feeding.²²⁴ Regarding cancer treatment, Sbrana and colleagues found the MPI to be effective in estimating the survival rate of older patients with cancer immunotherapy,²²⁵ while Pata and colleagues evaluated it as a useful tool for the outcome prediction of colorectal surgery.²²⁶

In comparison with other clinical frailty and prognosis instruments, the MPI demonstrated prominent performance abilities. In a comparison with three other frailty instruments, it showed the highest discriminative ability for predicting mortality of hospitalized older patients after one month and one year.²²⁷ A large systematic review of different prognostic indices on hospital inpatients by Yourman et al. provided evidence that the MPI was a well calibrated instrument with good discriminative ability and performance for one month and one year.²²⁸ It was furthermore the only prognostic instrument which was based on a CGA. Warnier and colleagues compared the MPI with 16 screening instruments for frailty on older patients admitted to the hospital.³⁰ The MPI showed excellent predictive validity with one of the highest values for sensitivity, the highest specificity for mortality (Area under the curve: 0.71-0.83) and the largest body of evidence regarding the included studies.

3.5.7. The MPI as a geriatric instrument

Taken together, the MPI can be conducted as a multifunctional instrument on different patient groups, medical specialities, and clinical settings. This overall efficiency and adaptability to different settings is rooted in the concept of a CGA. Due to its broad range of items in different

dimensions of health, the MPI also includes the detection of geriatric symptoms.²²⁹ Each instrument included in the MPI algorithm is in itself a field-tested tool to identify frequent geriatric syndromes like functional decline, cognitive impairment and immobility. These syndromes have a large impact on the patient's clinical presentation, pathway in health care and living conditions.^{171,172,181} Early identification and treatment can substantially affect the patient's prognosis by reducing functional decline, hospitalization, ambulatory health care utilization and mortality.^{167,170,172,173,176,178} An assessment by the MPI might support clinical decision-making of older patients by estimating overall prognosis and revealing geriatric syndromes. Hospitalized older patients could thereby profit from an early assessment that influences the clinical pathway to the appropriate and sustainable treatment.

3.6 Health-related quality of life

3.6.1. Concepts of (health-related) quality of life

The effectiveness of therapeutic strategies is often measured by clinical outcome parameters like illness severity, hospitalization and the utilization of health care. QOL is a relatively young outcome parameter for medical interventions that has gained importance over the last decades.²³⁰ Despite a rapid development of different measurements and the worldwide implementation into medical and health research, the concept and assessment of QOL is being debated to this date with no consensus definition.²³¹ The WHO defines QOL as "*an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns*".²³² QOL is a complex, multidimensional and dynamic concept with many interacting layers: objective and subjective aspects with dimensions on societal and individual levels.⁴³ Embedding this concept into medical and health research has resulted in a narrower concept of HRQOL.³⁷

In the existing literature, HRQOL is not well defined and most definitions insufficiently distinguish HRQOL from health or QOL.²³³ Karimi and Brazier identified four common definitions that are used in the literature. The first definition is based on the subjective evaluation of a person's physical, mental, social and functional wellbeing.²³⁴ The second definition narrows the concept of QOL down to those factors that arise from the perception of health by excluding non-health domains like economic and political circumstances.²³⁵ However, the authors noted that both definitions are difficult to distinguish from the perception of health itself.

A third concept is defined by aspects of QOL that are influenced by health and diseases.²³⁶ According to the authors, the problem of this definition seems to be that it hardly differentiates between QOL and HRQOL, as health could affect many non-health related aspects of QOL like income and social life. The last definition for HRQOL focuses on the value that people assign to their health state's influence on wellbeing.²³⁷ However, as the authors noted, nonhealth factors are often considered by participants when evaluating their health states in HRQOL research, which makes this definition dependent on the participant's internalized QOL definition. This shows the existing problem of the conceptualisation of HRQOL and its overlap with health and QOL. Karimi and Brazier suggested to differentiate between the measures of health status and measures of QOL and use the concept of HRQOL to either measure the utility that is associated with health status or the way health status affects QOL.

In general, taking the patient's perception into consideration has gained importance in the evaluation of interventions - especially in long lasting illnesses like in palliative care and geriatric medicine.^{38,238} The concept of an intervention with the main goal of total disease remission and the return to a "healthy" state fails in the setting of reduced life expectancy or in the face of severe complexity induced by multimorbidity and frailty with little influence on the underlying diseases. Considering HRQOL in clinical decision-making in older patients provides the opportunity of adding another important dimension of comprehensiveness.

3.6.2. Influence of age on QOL and HRQOL

There is an ongoing debate on the influence of age on wellbeing and QOL. Some researchers proposed a U-shaped association of age and wellbeing through the lifetime with the lowest state of wellbeing in between the individuals' thirties and fifties and an increase with advanced age.^{239,240} Gwosdz and colleagues analysed longitudinal data on life satisfaction of older people in Germany and found a similar shape.²⁴¹ However, after a correction for cohort effects like the second world war, the results showed a consistent life satisfaction over the lifespan. A review by Ulloa and colleagues about subjective wellbeing and age found similar results but also evidence supporting the U-shape model that implies an increase with advancing age.²⁴² The hypothesis behind higher or constant subjective wellbeing with increasing age is the socioemotional selectivity theory. It describes a change in the evaluation of everyday situations and actions in the presence of approaching death towards more awareness of positivity.²⁴³ In this context, the satisfaction paradox of older people is mentioned often. It describes the reportedly high level of subjective life satisfaction with higher age in objectively bad living conditions.²⁴⁴ However, there is an ongoing debate on the influence of cohort effects on this observation and whether wellbeing generally increases or decreases with age.^{245,246} A review on wellbeing and ageing by Steptoe and colleagues described a U-shaped model for highincome anglophone countries, but linear models for other societies like eastern Europe and sub-Saharan states.³⁸ This shows the great influence of socioeconomic, cultural and historical background on the impact of ageing on QOL and the challenges of QOL research.

3.6.3. Influence of health on QOL and HRQOL

Despite the controversial debate if a "pure" influence of age on wellbeing exists, researchers claim a strong influence of health on wellbeing in higher age. The linear association of age and wellbeing for the German population presented by Gwosdz and colleagues was present till the age of 85.241 Older age groups experienced a decrease in wellbeing. This observation of differences in the "young-old" and the "old-old" is supported by other studies as well.^{45,245-247} The decrement of wellbeing in the "old-old" is attributed to a perception of worse health. This is not only explained by the higher frequency of illnesses with advancing age, but by an increase of functional impairments and chronic geriatric syndromes that prevent functional autonomy and social participation.^{38,44,45} Good functional capacity as well as feelings of independence, usefulness and social participation are highly important factors for QOL in old age.^{43,44} This can be shown by a higher value that older people attribute to health and functional autonomy in comparison to younger age groups.^{39,40} A great amount of literature shows the strong negative impact of geriatric syndromes on QOL and HRQOL,^{41,42} frailty,^{145,248} subjective and objective cognitive impairment,^{46,249,250} incontinence,⁴⁸ pain,⁴⁹ malnutrition,⁵⁰ fall⁴⁷ and social isolation.⁵¹ The effort to preserve functional autonomy and to treat geriatric syndromes should be vital for public health systems to increase HRQOL and provide opportunities for successful ageing.38,251

3.6.4. HRQOL in the ED

Research on HRQOL in geriatric patients during an episode of emergency illness is hard to conduct due to time constraints in the ED and the severity of clinical conditions. Consequently, there is sparse literature on HRQOL of older patients during an episode of actual illness visiting an ED. The non-availability of HRQOL ratings prior to ED admission impedes valid results additionally.²⁵² Chin and colleagues measured HRQOL in older patients during an ED visit asking for current and retrospective perceptions.²⁵³ The self-perceived HRQOL seemed to decrease during the time of the illness and tended to recover after treatment. Interestingly, HRQOL did not recover to baseline levels and patients who reported functional limitations at baseline and received insufficient help in everyday activities were less likely to fully recover to previous HRQOL levels. In contrast, Hall and colleagues observed different results in their study.²⁵⁴ They conducted a randomised controlled trial to evaluate a transition to home intervention consisting of follow-up monitoring, coaching and counselling by trained health care coaches after the ED visit for older patients. HRQOL was highest for both the intervention and control group receiving usual care at the time of the ED visit and decreased in the days after the encounter. This result was explained by the reassurance and advice regarding the illness episode that participants received as part of the ED visit. The authors hypothesized that the decrement following discharge could have been explained by the return to a setting with limited access to advice and reassurance. Both studies recruited participants during their ED visit, but they used different measurements of HRQOL. This illustrates the need for further research on HRQOL in the ED and a refined definition of this concept. A qualitative study by Dresden and colleagues on geriatric ED patients evaluated their perception of HRQOL during an ED visit retrospectively.²⁵⁵ The patients reported concerns about returning to their previous functional status of activity and independence. Stress and anxiety were noted in the presence of uncertainty about recovery and the risk of reduced HRQOL after the episode of illness. Furthermore, patients recognized the influence of physical health on mental health and vice versa and showed a desire for a holistic view on their problems. However, they recognized that an ED had limited capacity to care for those needs. These findings emphasise the importance of functional independence in old age and the impact on HRQOL.

3.6.5. The Euopean Quality of life-5 Dimensions

A well-established value-based instrument in HRQOL research is the European Quality of life-5 Dimensions (EQ5D-5L) by the EuroQOL group.²⁵⁶ It is available in 138 languages and widely used in HRQOL research and quality of care monitoring.²⁵⁷ Due to its universally applicable wording, it is useful for research on heterogenic patient groups and non-disease-specific analyses like older patients.²⁵⁸ It has demonstrated its validity in geriatric populations and geriatric-related diseases.^{41,258,259} Furthermore, it showed the best combination of feasibility, reliability and validity compared to other HRQOL instruments for the usage on patients with dementia according to a recent meta-regression analysis.²⁶⁰ This speaks in favour of the usage of this instrument in the ED, where older patients with cognitive impairment are common.²⁶¹

3.6.6. Hypothesis and aim

When catering to the needs of geriatric patients, the ED's main challenge is to balance the duty of acute emergency service and the pivotal, but more complex and time-consuming role that it can play in the identification and appropriate allocation of patients that would profit from a holistic perspective on their condition. The observational longitudinal study "Influence of the Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) on the Hospitalisation of Older Patients admitted to the Emergency department – The MPI-HOPE study", registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00012694) aimed at evaluating the geriatric population (≥75 years) of the central emergency ward of the metropolitan University Hospital Cologne. Overall, the central emergency ward consists of fourteen beds and a separated observation unit with 10 beds. The observation unit is used for patients of all ages who are admitted in the evening hours or at night and who require a longer time period for diagnostic procedures, reassessments and allocation decisions. While the MPI has been introduced previously on an associated ward of the internal department with an emphasis on geriatric care, the MPI-HOPE study aimed at assessing the feasibility and validity directly in the ED. Primary outcome parameters were hospitalization, LOS, rehospitalization, institutionalization, and mortality. Another important

goal was the evaluation of HRQOL using the EQ5D-5L at recruitment time and in follow-up interviews after discharge. HRQOL is an important dimension of health in geriatric patients, but often poorly recognized and evaluated in the setting of an ED. It contributes to the complexity of geriatric patients and should be regarded as an important outcome parameter for allocation decisions. In the first phase of the study, from October 2017 to January 2018, 215 patients were recruited and received follow-up interviews after 3 and 6 months. The results of this phase were presented on three scientific congresses with one poster presentation and two oral presentations and additionally published in Aging Clinical and Experimental Research in November 2020 (s. Chapter 7 Preliminary publication of results). "The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency department: a 6-month follow-up study" aimed at evaluating the frailty of geriatric ED patients and its relationship to HRQOL at recruitment time and 6 months after discharge.⁵² We hypothesized that bad clinical prognosis and frailty as measured by the MPI is associated with reduced HRQOL in an ED setting. The association with self-perceived HRQOL would add another important dimension of health to the multidimensional CGA-based frailty instrument and therefore strengthen the approach of a holistic assessment and evaluation of geriatric ED patients.

4. Published original work

4.1 Rarek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, Pilotto A, Benzing T, Burst V, Polidori MC (2020) The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency demartment: a 6-month follow-up study. Aging Clin Exp Res

Aging Clinical and Experimental Research https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-020-01732-8

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency department: a 6-month follow-up study

Marcel Pascal Rarek¹ · Anna Maria Meyer¹ · Lena Pickert¹ · Alberto Pilotto^{2,3} · Thomas Benzing^{1,4,5} · Volker Burst^{1,5} · Maria Cristina Polidori^{1,4}

Received: 20 June 2020 / Accepted: 1 October 2020 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

Abstract

Background The management of older and multimorbid patients with complex care requires a personalised and comprehensive approach. The main diagnosis is often registered as the cause of hospitalisation, yet poor health-related quality of life (HRQoL) as well as multimorbidity may represent the underlying cause and markedly influence prognosis.

Aims To analyse the association of HRQoL and clinical prognosis over time as assessed by a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA)-based Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) in older patients admitted to the emergency department (ED).

Methods We used data from the prospective MPI–HOPE (Influence of the MPI on the Hospitalisation of Older Patients admitted to the Emergency department) study. Data from 165 patients (\geq 75 years) admitted to the ED of the University Hospital of Cologne, Germany, between Oct 2017 and Jan 2018 were included. Clinical prognosis was calculated by the MPI and HRQoL by the EQ5D-5L. Follow-up interviews assessed HRQoL up to 6 months after discharge.

Results Most patients were multimorbid and presented with several geriatric syndromes. At admission, HRQoL was highest in patients with the best clinical prognosis. The MPI showed a negative correlation with the EQ-Index at admission $(r_s(86) = -0.50, p < 0.0001)$ and follow-up assessments after 3 and 6 months $(r_s(86) = -0.55 \text{ and } r_s(86) = -0.47, p < 0.0001)$. **Discussion** Our results suggest that patients' self-perceived HRQoL in the ED is related to functional health status and clinical prognosis.

Conclusion The MPI as a multidimensional snapshot provides information on clinical health indicators and informs about subjective HRQoL, thereby helping in identifying patients who would benefit from a specific treatment within the frame of a patient-centered, value-based care strategy geriatric treatment.

Keywords Geriatric assessment · Prognosis · Health-related quality of life · Emergency department · Clinical decisionmaking

Volker Burst and Maria Cristina Polidori are equal supervisors.

Maria Cristina Polidori maria.polidori-nelles@uk-koeln.de

- ¹ Aging Clinical Research, Department II of Internal Medicine and Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne, Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Cologne, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany
- ² Department of Geriatric Care, Orthogeriatrics and Rehabilitation, E.O. Galliera Hospital, National Relevance and High Specialization Hospital, Genoa, Italy

Published online: 01 November 2020

- Department of Interdisciplinary Medicine, University of Bari, Bari, Italy
- Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Cologne, CECAD, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany
- ⁵ Emergency Department, Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Cologne, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

🙆 Springer

Introduction

One of the biggest challenges for worldwide healthcare systems is the ongoing demographic change, with the increase in older patients with complex care needs requiring personnel and economic resources [1]. Older patients in the emergency department (ED) tend to present with typically multifactorial conditions. These are often related to underlining frailty in domains beyond the physical. Multifactoriality and frailty in multiple domains often do escape organ medicine-related usual care, particularly in settings like EDs where high-performance actions are in high demand [2, 3]. Psychiatric, social and functional deficits may accompany patients' trajectories, influencing post-ED management and outcomes [4-6]. One way to fill the gap between management needs in advanced age and optimal care efficiency is the use of the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) [7, 8]. This, however, poses important organisational issues [9] and to date the CGA is largely underused in EDs, including those in Germany [5]. Furthermore, the effectiveness of recommended screening instruments for older patients in the ED like the Identification of Seniors at Risk Score (ISAR) is currently under debate [4, 5]. As a consequence of the traditional "one cause-one disease-one treatment" approach [10, 11], the main diagnosis of older adults is therefore still often registered as the cause of hospitalisation.

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) [12] measured by the European Quality of life-5 Dimensions (EQ5D) by the EuroQol group [13] is well established in geriatric populations and shows good interaction and discriminative ability of geriatric conditions [14, 15]. Considering HRQoL could strengthen the personalised approach recognising both health and well-being.

The present study was designed to evaluate the longterm relationship between multidimensional health measured by means of a CGA-based prognosis evaluation and HRQoL measured by the EQ5D in older patients admitted to the ED of a large German metropolitan hospital.

Patients and methods

Study design and participants

The observational longitudinal study "Influence of the Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) on the Hospitalisation of Older Patients admitted to the Emergency department—The MPI_HOPE study", registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00012694)

Deringer

complies with the ethical rules for human experimentation that are stated in the Declaration of Helsinki (1983). The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the University Hospital of Cologne, Germany. Inclusion criteria were age 75 years and older, willingness/ability to consent and admission during the quartile between 18 October 2017 and 17 January 2018. Patients aged less than 75 years, visited outside the above cited time window and those unwilling/unable to consent were excluded from the study. All patients or proxy respondents gave written informed consent to participate after a personal conversation with the study doctor and adequate time for questions and decision-making.

Of the 1071 older patients admitted during the recruitment window, an average of 2–3 patients per recruitment day formally agreed to participate. Out of 215 consecutive participants who signed the informed consent, 165 with complete datasets were included in the present analysis.

Assessment

After giving informed consent, patients underwent a CGAbased calculation of the MPI [16-19], chosen for its clinimetric properties and its correlation to several key performance indicators [20, 21]. HROoL was measured by the German 5-level EQ5D version. The first part provides a questionnaire addressing five dimensions (mobility, selfcare, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression) that are rated on a Likert scale for this particular day (1 = no problems, 2 = slight problems, 3 = moderateproblems, 4 = severe problems and 5 = extreme problems/ unable to do). The dimensions can be analysed separately or combined into an index, using population-based preference weights. This study used the German value set from Ludwig et al. [22], which allows for the calculation of an index score that ranges from - 0.66 over 0 (death) to 1 (full health). Negative index values are rated as a health state being worse than death. The second part consists of a visual analogue scale (VAS), giving the interviewees the opportunity to estimate their current overall health status that day on a scale from 0 to 100 (0 = worst and 100 = bestimaginable health).

The MPI combines information of eight different domains from widely used assessments: daily dependence by Katz's Activities of Daily Living (ADL) [23], the Lawton's Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) [24], comorbidities by the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) [25], pressure ulcer risk by the Exton-Smith Scale (ESS) [26], nutrition by the Mini Nutritional Assessment Short Form (MNA-SF) [27], cognition by the Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire (SPMSQ) [28] and additional information on social living conditions and number of prescribed drugs. The summarised
MPI ranges from 0 indicating the lowest risk of mortality to 1 indicating the highest risk. It can additionally be classified into three risk groups: low risk MPI-1 (0–0.33), moderate risk MPI-2 (0.34–0.66) and high risk MPI-3 (0.67–1). For the assessment and definition of geriatric syndromes, liberal criteria were applied to reflect common clinical conditions in geriatric patients in line with previous literature [29, 30]

Follow-up

In follow-up interviews via phone three and six months after recruitment, the EQ5D was applied to measure changes in HRQoL. Additionally, information about the length of the initial hospital stay (LHS) after the ED visit was obtained.

Registration, participant consent and ethics

Statistical analysis

In the present analysis, we included n = 165 patients with complete assessments of both MPI and EQ5D-5L assessment at recruitment. Patients with incomplete HRQoL follow-up assessment were excluded from the follow-up analysis. Lost to follow-up was defined as participants who died during the follow-up, refused to continue participation or were not contactable via phone. A study patient flow chart is shown in Fig. 1.

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS Statistics 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) for Windows. General characteristics are expressed using absolute numbers and relative frequencies for description of categorial variables. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to test for normal distribution and indicated that all variables used in this analysis were non-normally distributed. Therefore, the median (Mdn) and interquartile range (IQR) were reported for ordinal and continuous variables. We tested for differences between MPI risk groups and compared characteristics of patients who were lost to follow-up with those who remained in the study using nonparametric methods. Pairwise comparisons were carried out using Bonferroni-corrected post hoc tests.

To analyse the differences in HRQoL ratings over the study observation time (Admission, FU1 after three months, FU2 after 6 months), the Friedman test was carried out. Partial Spearman correlations were calculated to analyse the relationship between the MPI score on admission and EQ-Index score as well as the VAS score at different time points. To further analyse the association, linear regression analyses were carried out using the MPI score as the predictor for EQ-Index score and VAS



Fig. 1 Study flow chart. Out of n = 215 patients who were enrolled in the MPL_HOPE study, a subsample of n = 165 patients with complete MPI and HRQoL assessment was used for analysis at baseline. The flow chart illustrates the number of patients included in the analysis at the three different time points and provides information about the number and reasons for exclusions

score after adjusting for age and sex at admission, FU1 and FU2. To create an integer scale, the MPI score was multiplied by 10. In addition, the relationship between the geriatric syndromes assessed at admission with HRQoL was analysed. The analyses were adjusted for sex and age. We corrected for multiple testing using Bonferroni correction.

D Springer

	······							
	Total	MPI-1	MPI-2	MPI-3	H value/ X^2 value			
	(n = 165)	n = 84 (50.9%)	n = 70 (42.4%)	n = 11 (6.7%)				
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	98 (59.4)	59 (70.2) [#]	33 (47.1)*	6 (54.5)	8.56, <i>p</i> < 0.05			
Age, median (IQR)	80 (77.5-84)	80 (77.3-83)	80.5 (77-85)	84 (78-87)	1.39, p = 0.25			
Number of diagnoses, median (IQR)	8 (5-11)	6 (4-9)**	9 (6-12)##	10 (4–12)	6.65, <i>p</i> < 0.01			
Number of geriatric syndromes, median (IQR)	4 (3–5)	3 (2-4)###	4.5 (4-6)***	6.5 (5-7)***#	38.93, p < 0.001			
Length of stay (days), median (IQR)	4 (1–11.5)	5 (1-11)	3 (1–11)	26 (3-33.8)	5.34, p = 0.07			
Discharged home after ED visit, n (%)	23 (13.9)	12 (14.3)	11 (15.7)	0 (0)	1.97, p = 0.37			
Main diagnosis at the ED, $n(\%)^{a}$								
Heart disease	56 (33.9)	27 (32.1)	27 (38.6)	2 (18.2)	2.01, p = 0.37			
Neurologic disease	23 (13.9)	14 (16.7)	7 (10)	2 (18.2)	1.6, p = 0.45			
Musculoskeletal disease	22 (13.3)	11 (13.1)	7 (10)	4 (36.4)	5.2, p = 0.057			
Vascular/blood/lymphatic disease	21 (12.7)	13 (15.5	7 (10)	1 (9.1)	1.17, p = 0.56			
Respiratory disease	12 (7.3)	5 (6)	6 (8.6)	1 (9.1)	0.45, p = 0.80			
Intestinal disease	17 (10.3)	10 (11.9)	7 (10)	0 (0)	1.5, p = 0.47			
Kidney disease	7 (4.2)	3 (3.6)	4 (5.7)	0 (0)	0.95, p = 0.62			
Genitourinary disease	5 (3)	2 (2.4)	3 (4.3)	1 (9.1)	0.84, p = 0.66			
Endocrinological/metabolic disease	2 (1.2)	0 (0)	2 (2.9)	0 (0)	2.75, p = 0.25			
Other	22 (13.3)	12 (14.3)	9 (12.9)	1 (9.1)	0.25, p = 0.89			
≥ 2 main diagnosis, <i>n</i> (%)	27 (16.4)	14 (16.7)	12 (17.1)	1 (9.1)	0.47, p = 0.79			

^aMultiple diagnoses possible per patient

Table 1 Characteristics of the study sample

Bonferroni-adjusted post hoc *p* values in comparison with MPI-1: *p < 0.016, **p < 0.003, ***p < 0.0003 and to MPI-2 #p < 0.016, ##p < 0.003, ##p < 0.003

Results

Characteristic of study population

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample at admission and categorised by MPI groups are described in Table 1.

Eighty-four patients were classified into the lowrisk (MPI-1), 70 into the moderate-risk (MPI-2) and 11 into the high-risk group (MPI-3). The majority of patients was male (59.4%) and only MPI-2 group had significantly fewer male than female patients in comparison with the MPI-1 group (p = 0.016). The median age was 80 (IQR = 77.5-84) years, the MPI risk groups did not differ significantly in age. The mean number of diagnoses was 8 (IQR = 5-11); the number of diagnoses was significantly associated with the MPI group (p < 0.01). The number of geriatric syndromes at admission (Mdn = 4, IQR = 3-5) was significantly associated with the MPI group (p < 0.001). The most frequent geriatric syndromes were sensorial impairment (81.7%), polypharmacy (77.6%) and fluid or electrolyte imbalance (37.2%).

The length of hospital stay after ED admission was Mdn = 4 days (IRQ=4-11.5), the MPI groups did not differ

Description Springer

significantly in the number of in-hospital days (p = 0.07). In total, 13.9% of the patients were discharged home.

The most frequent main diagnoses given at the ED concerned diseases of the heart (33.9%), followed by neurological (13.9%) and musculoskeletal (13.3%) disorders.

Follow-up results

When comparing admission characteristics of the subjects who were lost to follow-up with those who underwent all FU assessments, the former displayed a significantly higher MPI (Mdn = 0.38, IQR = 0.31–0.5 vs. Mdn = 0.31, IQR = 0.25–0.38; U= 4527.50, p < 0.001) and older age (Mdn = 81 years, IQR = 78–86 years vs. Mdn = 79.5 years, IQR = 77–82.3 years; U= 4094.50, p < 0.05) than the latter group.

HRQoL analysis

The EQ-Index and the VAS score were non-normally distributed according to Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Therefore, a nonparametric Friedman test was carried out to analyse the progression over time and revealed that both





Fig.2 Boxplot of the self-reported HRQoL as reported on EQ5D Index (a) and visual analogue scale (VAS) (b) over the course of the study visits (admission, FU1 after 3 months, FU2 after 6 months), showing the median. Whiskers extend 1.5 times the interquartile

scores differed between the measurement time points (EQ-Index: $\chi^2(2) = 6.96$, p < 0.05; VAS score: $\chi^2(2) = 14.37$, p < 0.001). Post hoc testing indicated that the VAS score after 6 months (FU2) was significantly higher compared to admission (p = 0.001), but not to FU1 after 3 months; there was no significant difference between admission and FU1. The results were similar for the EQ-Index at

range from the 25th and 75th percentiles, and outliers are represented by dots. Higher scores on EQ5D Index and VAS indicate higher selfreported HRQoL. Patients reported significantly higher HRQoL at FU2 compared to admission on the EQ-Index and the VAS

6 months compared to admission (p < 0.05). The results are presented in Fig. 2. The number of geriatric syndromes correlated negatively with the EQ-Index [$r_s(149) = -0.35$, p < 001] and the VAS [$r_s(149) = -0.17$, p < 0.05] at admission. However, the correlation between the number of geriatric syndromes and the VAS missed significance level after Bonferroni correction.



Fig.3 Boxplot of the self-reported HRQoL as reported on the EQ-Index (a) and visual analogue scale (VAS) (b) for each MPI risk group, showing the median. Whiskers extend 1.5 times the interquartile range from the 25th and 75th percentiles, and outliers are represented by dots. Higher scores on EQ5D Index and visual analogue



scale indicate higher self-reported HRQoL a Patients in low-risk group MPI-1 reported significantly higher HRQoL on the EQ-Index compared to patients in the moderate-risk (MPI-2) and high-risk (MPI-3) groups. b Patients in MPI-1 group reported significantly higher HRQoL on the VAS compared to patients in MPI-2

Springer

Aging Clinical and Experimental Research

Associations of HRQoL and MPI

The Kruskal–Wallis test used to assess differences in HRQoL at admission between MPI risk groups revealed that groups differed significantly in self-reported HRQoL as reported on the VAS (H=13.17, p=0.001) and measured with the EQ-Index (H=34.45, p <0.001). Dunn–Bonferroni post hoc tests showed that self-reported HRQoL was lower in the MPI-2 group compared to the MPI-1 group (p <0.01). There was a trend for a lower self-reported HRQoL in the MPI-3 group compared to the MPI-1 group; however, this difference did not reach statistical significance after correcting for multiple testing (p=0.073). For the EQ-Index, the measured HRQoL was higher in MPI-1 in comparison with both the MPI-2 (p <0.001) and MPI-3 group (p <0.001). The results are plotted in Fig. 3.

Partial Spearman correlation analysis revealed that the MPI showed a moderate to strong negative correlation with the VAS as well as with the EQ-Index at admission and both FU visits. As expected, the HRQoL measures correlated highly with each other. The results are presented in Table 2. Linear regression analyses indicated that the MPI was associated with the EQ-Index and VAS at all three time points. At admission, a decimal point increase on the MPI implied a decrease of 0.09 points on the EQ-Index (p < 0.0001). For the VAS, an increase of one decimal unit on the MPI at admission corresponded to a decrease of 3.83 points on the VAS (p = 0001). Detailed results for FU1 and FU2 are shown in Table 3.

Discussion

The main result of the present study is that HRQoL as assessed by the EQ5D was significantly associated with clinical prognosis in older multimorbid patients admitted to the ED. Clinical prognosis, as indicated by the MPI, had a moderate to strong correlation with HRQoL at assessment and up to 6 months later. The results of linear regression analyses support this association at all three time points
 Table 3
 Results of simple linear regression analyses using the MPI

 score as a predictor for the EQ-Index and VAS at admission, after
 3 months (FU1) and 6 months (FU2) adjusted for sex and age

Time point	Independent vari- able	ß	95% CI	p value
Admission	EQ-Index	- 0.09	[-0.11; -0.06]	< 0.001
	VAS	- 3.83	[-5.76; -1.90]	< 0.001
FU1	EQ-Index	- 0.08	[-0.11; -0.04]	< 0.001
	VAS	- 5.34	[-8.03; -2.65]	< 0.001
FU2	EQ-Index	- 0.08	[-0.12; -0.04]	< 0.001
	VAS	- 5.42	[-8.35; -2.49]	< 0.001

adjusted for age and sex. Patients with a poor health status as indicated by the MPI group classification tended to report lower general and specific HRQoL indicated by the EQ-Index and VAS than patients with a better MPI score. These results indicate that clinical prognosis assessed by the MPI is related to the patients' self-perceived HRQoL at admission to the ED and after hospital discharge.

In line with our findings, a recent meta-analysis by Kojima et al. [31] on community-dwelling older people emphasized a negative association of a multidimensional frailty status and multiple HRQoL questionnaires. Furthermore, low self-rated HRQoL measured by the EQ5D at hospital admission has been linked to increased mortality and functional decline after discharge [32]. Consistent with other studies examining the HRQoL after an episode of emergency illness, we observed a significant increment from baseline to follow-up indicated by the EQ-Index and VAS [33, 34].

While the main diagnosis was often registered as the reason for admission to the ED, most patients presented a background of multimorbidity, with a median of four geriatric syndromes and eight different diagnoses. In addition, we found that the number of geriatric syndromes correlated negatively with HRQoL as indicated by the EQ-Index, although the observed association was weak and the correlation with the VAS missed significance level after Bonferroni correction.

 Table 2
 Spearman correlation

 coefficients between MPI and
 HRQoL indicators at admission

 and follow-up at 3 months
 (FU1) and 6 months (FU2)

 adjusted for sex and age
 Image: Comparison of the co

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
MPI							
EQ-Index	- 0.50***						
VAS	- 0.40***	0.40***					
EQ-Index (FU1)	- 0.55***	0.48***	0.38**				
VAS (FU1)	- 0.45***	0.50***	0.50***	0.71***			
EQ-Index (FU2)	-0.47***	0.52***	0.44***	0.67***	0.58***		
VAS (FU2)	- 0.37**	0.39**	0.35**	0.58***	0.65***	0.64***	
	MPI EQ-Index VAS EQ-Index (FU1) VAS (FU1) EQ-Index (FU2) VAS (FU2)	MPI EQ-Index - 0.50*** VAS - 0.40*** EQ-Index (FU1) - 0.55*** VAS (FU1) - 0.45*** EQ-Index (FU2) - 0.47*** VAS (FU2) - 0.37**	1 2 MPI	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Bonferroni-adjusted post hoc p value: **p<0.00016, ***p<0.000016

Description Springer

Aging Clinical and Experimental Research

Underlying multimorbidity as well as geriatric syndromes and related impact on quality of life might be important determinants of patients' trajectories and might substantially add to the traditional organ-centred approach [30, 35-37]. Following disease-specific care can conflict with patients' values and preferences and might even lead to harm [37-39]. Reasons for this clinical practice are mostly unclear responsibilities and lack of geriatric training [40]. Therefore, to improve prognosis and strengthen therapeutic adherence, a more complex and elaborated approach than one-diseaseone-treatment is recommended [41]. Only a structured CGA can enable coordinated, integrated care planning for the treatment and long-term follow-up care of older people [42], more so if accompanied by the assessment of patients' perspective [43]. Our findings provide further insight into the relationship between HRQoL and clinical prognosis due to multimorbidity as indicated by the MPI score.

There are limitations to our study. The study sample was relatively small, and patients with worse clinical status may have been more likely to reject participation in the study. In addition, we only used data from patients with complete MPI and EQ5D questionnaires. Patients who were unable to complete the assessment likely had worse health or cognitive status. Taken together, this may have introduced selection bias and could be an explanation for the low number of participants in MPI-3 compared to MPI-1 and MPI-2. The low number of high-risk patients may also have impacted statistical power to detect differences between the MPI groups.

Furthermore, while HRQoL was measured at admission and on two follow-up time points, the design of the study did not enable us to collect information on HRQoL before admission to the ED. Therefore, we cannot compare HRQoL before and after the ED visits, which limits the interpretation of the progression of HRQoL over time. Being in a stressful environment such as the ED with an acute medical condition could likely bias HRQoL ratings [33]. However, we found the strongest correlation of the MPI with HRQoL at 3 months after ED visit, where we can assume a decreased influence of the initial ED visit. Looking at the components of both indices, the correlation might be explained by similar targets like mobility, self-care and daily activities. Nevertheless, both questionnaires aim to address a different purpose: whereas the MPI is applied to constitute an objective multidimensional assessment of the patients' overall clinical status, the EQ5D is intended to evaluate the patients' self-perceived rating of their health. The relationship between both scales shows that the MPI assessment mirrors the patients' subjective evaluation of their health status.

Assessing and addressing HRQoL elaborately is rarely feasible in clinical practice due to time and resource constraints, especially in the ED. However, given that our data suggests that HRQoL is related to clinical prognosis, patients would likely benefit from additional assessment of HRQoLrelated factors to support a holistic treatment that considers both health and well-being in the management of geriatric care. The MPI's ability to address HRQoL is limited, but our study shows that the MPI as a multidimensional snapshot of the patient can nevertheless provide insight into the patients self-perceived health status. A trained person could assess the full MPI in 20-30 min. This qualifies this prognostic instrument as a substitute for a CGA-like assessment at an early stage of treatment. Further studies are needed to evaluate the feasibility and effectiveness of the MPI in the clinical setting of an ED. This kind of multidimensional examination might improve personalised treatment of the older multimorbid acutely ill person through tailored intervention. Anticipating geriatric needs and fostering prevention could aid the management of multimorbidity, avoid hospitalisation and institutionalisation, improve self-reliance and ultimately, quality of life.

Acknowledgements The study design and preliminary results of the study have been presented at the 2018 Conference of the German society of geriatrics in Cologne (oral presentation), the 16th EUGMS Congress in Berlin (2018, poster presentation) as well as the 17th EUGM Congress in Krakow (2019, oral presentation). We wish to thank Lena Sannemann for her assistance with the statistics used in this report and her critical revision.

Author contributions MPR, VB and MCP conceived and designed the clinical trial. VB provided resources. MPR. LP performed the experiments. MPR analysed the data. MPR wrote the paper. MRP, AMM and MCP were involved in the conception of the manuscript. AMM, LP, AP, TB, VB and MCP contributed to critical revisions.

Funding The authors received no specific funding for this work.

Availability of data and material The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

Statement of human and animal rights The study was registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00012694) and complies with the ethical rules for human experimentation that are stated in the Declaration of Helsinki (1983). It was approved by the Ethical Committee of the University Hospital of Cologne, Germany.

Informed consent Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants or proxy respondent included in the study.

🖄 Springer

References

- European Commission (2017) Directorate General for Health and Food Safety. State of health in the EU: companion report, Publications Office. https://doi.org/10.2875/684855
- Schüling K (2018) Kodierhandbuch Geriatrie (2018). In: Geriatrie B (ed) Schüling Verlag, Münster
 Dent E, Hoogendijk EO, Cardona-Morrell M et al (2016) Frailty
- Dent E, Hoogendijk EO, Cardona-Morreir M et al (2016) Franty in emergency departments. Lancet 387:434
 Carpenter CR, Shelton E, Fowler S et al (2015) Risk factors and
- Carpenier CK, Shetor E, Fowler S et al (2015) Risk factors and screening instruments to predict adverse outcomes for undifferentiated older emergency department patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acad Emerg Med 22:1–21. https://doi. org/10.1111/acem.12569
- Weinrebe W, Schiefer Y, Weckmüller K et al (2019) Does the identification of seniors at risk (ISAR) score effectively select geriatric patients on emergency admission? Aging Clin Exp Res 31:1839–1842
- Aminzadeh F, Dalziel WB (2002) Older adults in the emergency department: a systematic review of patterns of use, adverse outcomes, and effectiveness of interventions. Ann Emerg Med 39:238-247
- Ellis G, Gardner M, Tsiachristas A et al (2017) Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older adults admitted to hospital. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9:CD006211. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD006211.pub3
- Ellis G, Whitehead MA, Robinson D et al (2011) Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older adults admitted to hospital: metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 343:d6553
- Gladman JR, Conroy SP, Ranhoff AH et al (2016) New horizons in the implementation and research of comprehensive geriatric assessment: knowing, doing and the 'know-do'gap. Age Ageing 45:194–200
- Polidori MC (2019) Geriatrics' turning point. Springer, Berlin
 Meyer AM, Polidori MC (2019) Including prognosis evaluation
- Meyer AM, Polidori MC (2019) Including prognosis evaluation in the management of older patients across different healthcare settings: the cologne experience. Geriatr Care 5:8663
 Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Patrick DL (1993) Measuring health-
- Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Patrick DL (1993) Measuring healthrelated quality of life. Ann Intern Med 118:622–629
- Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A et al (2011) Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res 20:1727–1736
- 14. Brazier J, Walters S, Nicholl J et al (1996) Using the SF-36 and Euroqol on an elderly population. Qual Life Res 5:195–204
- Lutomski JE, Krabbe PF, Bleijenberg N et al (2017) Measurement properties of the EQ-5D across four major geriatric conditions: findings from TOPICS-MDS. Health Qual Life Outcomes 15:45
- Pilotto A, Ferrucci L, Franceschi M et al (2008) Development and validation of a multidimensional prognostic index for one-year mortality from comprehensive geriatric assessment in hospitalized older patients. Rejuvenation Res 11:151–161
- Warnier R, Van Rossum E, Velthuijsen E et al (2016) Validity, reliability and feasibility of tools to identify frail older patients in inpatient hospital care: a systematic review. J Nutr Health Aging 20:218–230
- Pilotto A, Rengo F, Marchionni N, group F-Ss et al (2012) Comparing the prognostic accuracy for all-cause mortality of frailty instruments: a multicentre 1-year follow-up in hospitalized older patients. PLoS ONE 7:e29090
- Dent E, Kowal P, Hoogendijk EO (2016) Frailty measurement in research and clinical practice: a review. Europ J Intern Med 31:3–10
- 20. Polidori MC (2017) Target and patient-oriented care using the comprehensive geriatric assessment: prognosis estimation

- Multidimensional Prognostic Index. Z Gerontol Geriatr 52:460– 467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00391-018-01471-6 22. Ludwig K, von der Schulenburg J-MG, Greiner W (2018) German
- Lauwig K, von der Schutenburg 5-MG, Oreiner w (2016) German value set for the EQ-5D-5L. PharmacoEconomics 36:663–674
 Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR et al (1970) Progress in development
- Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR et al (1970) Progress in development of the index of ADL. Gerontol 10:20–30
 Lawton MP, Brody EM (1969) Assessment of older people: self-
- Lawton MP, Brody EM (1969) Assessment of older people: selfmaintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontol 9:179–186
- Linn BS, Linn MW, Gurel L (1968) Cumulative illness rating scale. J Am Geriatr Soc 16:622–626
- Bliss M, McLaren R, Exton-Smith A (1966) Mattresses for preventing pressure sores in geriatric patients. Monthly Bull Minist Health Public Health Lab Serv 25:238
- Sancarlo D, D'Onofrio G, Franceschi M et al (2011) Validation of a Modified-Multidimensional Prognostic Index (m-MPI) including the Mini Nutritional Assessment Short-Form (MNA-SF) for the prediction of one-year mortality in hospitalized elderly patients. J Nutr Health Aging 15:169–173
- Pfeiffer E (1975) A short portable mental status questionnaire for the assessment of organic brain deficit in elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 23:433–441
- Kane RL, Shamliyan T, Talley K et al (2012) The association between geriatric syndromes and survival. J Am Geriatr Soc 60:896–904
- Meyer AM, Becker I, Siri G et al (2020) The prognostic significance of geriatric syndromes and resources. Aging Clin Exp Res 32:115–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-019-01168-9
- 31. Kojima G, Iliffe S, Jivraj S et al (2016) Association between frailty and quality of life among community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Epidemiol Community Health 70:716–721
- Parlevliet JL, MacNeil-Vroomen J, Buurman BM et al (2016) Health-related quality of life at admission is associated with postdischarge mortality, functional decline, and institutionalization in acutely hospitalized older medical patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 64:761–768
- Chin MH, Jin L, Karrison TG et al (1999) Older patients' healthrelated quality of life around an episode of emergency illness. Ann Emerg Med 34:595–603
- Ali TF, Warkentin LM, Gazala S, Care A, Group ES et al (2015) Self-Reported outcomes in individuals aged 65 and older admitted for treatment to an acute care surgical service: a 6-month prospective cohort study. J Am Geriatr Soc 63:2388–2394
- 35. Andreasen J, Gobbens RJ, Eriksen HH et al (2019) Health-related quality of life at hospital discharge as a predictor for 6-month unplanned readmission and all-cause mortality of acutely admitted older medical patients. Qual Life Res 28:3015–3024
- 36. Hutchinson AF, Graco M, Rasekaba TM et al (2015) Relationship between health-related quality of life, comorbidities and acute health care utilisation, in adults with chronic conditions. Health Qual Life Outcomes 13:69
- Boyd CM, Darer J, Boult C et al (2005) Clinical practice guidelines and quality of care for older patients with multiple comorbid diseases: implications for pay for performance. JAMA 294:716–724
- Fried TR, McGraw S, Agostini JV et al (2008) Views of older persons with multiple morbidities on competing outcomes and clinical decision-making. J Am Geriatr Soc 56:1839–1844
- Lorgunpai SJ, Grammas M, Lee DS et al (2014) Potential therapeutic competition in community-living older adults in the US: use of medications that may adversely affect a coexisting condition. PLoS ONE 9:e89447

Description Springer

- Williams BC, Malani PN, Wesorick DH (2013) Hospitalists' guide to the care of older patients. Wiley, Hoboken
 Boyd C, Smith CD, Masoudi FA et al (2019) Decision making
- Boyd C, Smith CD, Masoudi FA et al (2019) Decision making for older adults with multiple chronic conditions: executive summary for the American Geriatrics Society Guiding Principles on the Care of Older Adults With Multimorbidity. J Am Geriatr Soc 67:665–673
- Rubenstein LZ, Josephson KR, Wieland GD et al (1984) Effectiveness of a geriatric evaluation unit. A randomized clinical trial. N Engl J Med 311:1664–1670. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM1 98412273112604
- Barry MJ, Edgman-Levitan S (2012) Shared decision making The pinnacle patient-centered care. N Engl J Med 366:780–781. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1109283

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

🖄 Springer

Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH: Springer Nature Aging Clinical and Experimental Research The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency department: a 6-month follow-up study, Marcel Pascal Rarek et al, Copyright © 2020, Springer Nature Switzerland AG

5. Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first to evaluate the clinical prognosis of older patients measured by the MPI and its relationship with self-rated HRQOL. In addition, it characterizes older patients in a German interdisciplinary ED. The presented correlation of the MPI with HRQOL adds to existing literature and provides evidence that clinical prognosis is closely connected to HRQOL measured at hospital admission and up to six months after. This indicates that applying such a multidimensional and CGA-based prognostic instrument in the ED can add valuable information to broaden the scope of clinical prognosis.

Although HRQOL has become an important quality indicator for research on treatment strategies and care processes, it is seldomly recognized in clinical practice and much less in the setting of an ED. HRQOL is an important aspect of the wellbeing of older patients and has many associations with important outcome parameters, for example various adverse clinical outcomes that affect health care systems economically. A recent meta-analysis by Phyo and colleagues analysed 42 studies that used different QOL tools in a total of 1.200.000 community dwelling participants aged predominantly above 65 years. They found that higher levels of QOL were associated with a lower risk of mortality.²⁶² Cavrini and colleagues conducted a longitudinal study over a timespan of up to eight years on nearly 10.000 community dwelling older without severe health problems and found a significant association of low HRQOL and short term hospital admission,²⁶³ as well as long term hospital admission and mortality.²⁶⁴ Other prospective studies on community dwelling geriatric patients showed that low HRQOL was a risk factor for adverse clinical outcomes like falls, hospital and ED admissions, nursing home placement and death.^{265,266} In line with our results, low self-rated HRQOL assessed by the EQ5D-5L of older inpatients surveyed at hospital admission or discharge was furthermore linked with important outcome parameters of geriatric patients like increased risk for a higher initial LOS, functional decline after discharge and mortality and institutionalization after 6 months.²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹ Nevertheless, QOL is seldom considered in daily acute medical care due to the lack of time and capacity and therefore, its lower priority in the ED is certainly understandable, but it should be considered as an important factor of health in older patients and a starting point for patient-centred and holistic allocation decisions and interventions.²⁷⁰ With regard to the increasing relevance of geriatric patients in the ED and the accompanying challenges, a change of perspective incorporating a comprehensive understanding of geriatric medical conditions and well-being is necessary to improve care and do justice to the complexity of older patients.

5.1 Targeting Complexity – The American Setting

The MPI-HOPE study, focussed on geriatric patients in a German multidisciplinary ED. Geriatric emergency patient are high-risk patients that pose a challenge for today's

EDs.^{121,122,188} This challenge will likely increase over the next decades. Taken together with observations from other studies, it appears that German EDs might be ill-prepared to cater to the clinical complexity of older patients and therefore risk higher rates of rehospitalisation and functional decline.^{112,119,121,122} Changes to the infrastructure, personnel and clinical protocols of an ED are necessary to be able to implement a comprehensive assessment of geriatric patients and adapt the ED to the complexity of this patient group. Many Western countries experience comparable demographical developments, likewise increasing the relevance of geriatric patients in acute care. The following chapter presents potential strategies to react to this development using the example of the USA and evaluate potential implications for the organisation of German EDs.

5.1.1. Demographic development in the USA

The USA faces similar problems regarding the demographic development and change of ED clientele like Germany. The US Census Bureau estimated that in 2060, nearly a quarter of the population will be 65 years and older.²⁷¹ Further projections show an increasing burden on the healthcare system with an increment of hospital admissions and hospital LOS about 20% faster than the population growth.^{271,272} Pallin and colleagues examined the projected influence of the demographic development on ED visits till 2050 and recommended to expand ED services 10% faster than population growth or alternatively to optimise emergency care efficiency to keep pace with the ageing society.²⁷³

5.1.2. Geriatric emergency department interventions

A concept to handle the rising number of older patients with frailty is the development of Geriatric Emergency Departments Interventions (GEDI).¹⁷⁵ The American College of Emergency Physicians, the American Geriatrics Society, the Emergency Nurses Association and the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine developed an evidence-based guideline on how to modify ED structures, procedures, staffing, equipment, protocols and how to improve treatment, transition of care and QOL of older ED patients.⁵⁴ The guidelines recommend two basic approaches to improve geriatric care outcomes in the ED.⁵⁵ One is the education of ED staff within existing ED routines and the implementation and adaptation of special policies, procedures and protocols for the needs of geriatric patients. This consists of the implementation of staff coordinators, policies for screenings of vulnerable individuals, the management of common geriatric syndromes and follow-up and transition to care strategies. The second approach is the combination of the first one with infrastructural changes and a geriatric-friendly ED redesign for hospitals that can afford such measures. Those include a separation of high-traffic ED cases, noise reduction, changeable and individual lightning settings, anti-pressure stretcher mattresses, large looking clocks and appropriate sanitary

facilities.⁵⁵ Those recommendations have led to the development of various GEDI in the last years. Some, but not all of them use a CGA as a central cornerstone.

5.1.3. Innovative models for geriatric care in the ED

Southerland and colleagues described four different examples of innovative models from EDs in the US that incorporated geriatric care into their clinical routine.⁵³

The first model is the implementation of a spatially divided geriatric unit within the ED. These units are designed to support the needs of older patients and provide support rails, adequate lightning, pressure-reducing mattresses and sky or ceiling windows.¹⁷⁵ This segregation from the noisy and frantic environment of an ED might help to prevent delirium and avoid the impression of older patients "blocking" a bed when they require a longer stay. Patients who could benefit from this unit should be selected by screening instruments early at arrival at the ED. A dedicated multidimensional team consisting of geriatric physicians and nurses, physical therapists, case managers, social workers, palliative consultants and pharmacists could bring concentrated expertise to the complex needs of these older ED visitors.⁵³ However, this concept might be hard to obtain by smaller hospitals with a lower patient flow and inadequate structural possibilities. Other barriers are the assignment of geriatric specialists to the unit, which might be expensive and that the unit might not be fully functionable at night and weekend times due to lack of capacities.⁵³

The second approach is the embedding of geriatric professionals, structural changes and assessments into an existing ED routine, which might be easier and cheaper to obtain for hospitals with restricted space. The number of specialists could be variable according to the needs, ranging from one geriatric nurse to a team with an additional physician and other health specialists. Concomitant assessment of older patients within the ED routine could either increase the ED LOS because it could take longer time to conduct additional geriatric assessments²⁷⁴ or decrease it because of the advice from experienced geriatric practitioners.²⁷⁵

The third model designed for EDs with less geriatric patient flow or lower financial opportunities is the implementation of a geriatric champion. This could be a physician or nurse with expertise in geriatric care who is responsible for staff education and the implementation of geriatric protocols. The champion does not carry out CGAs but evaluates patients and suggests either a hospital admission or a succeeding outpatient follow-up assessment if necessary. The ED could provide some assessment parts, like pharmaceutical evaluation or medical diagnostic, but outsources the remaining assessments to other health care providers. Southerland et al. note that this model requires good communication and coordination with community health care providers and can be particularly challenging on days with busy ED routine or when outpatient services are limited.⁵³

5.1.4. Geriatric observation units

The fourth common model of GEDIs described by Southerland and colleagues is the geriatricfocused observation unit.⁵³ General observation units in the ED have the purpose to provide surveillance or inpatient care lasting between 6 to 48 hours for conditions that extend the capacity of an ED but do not justify a costly hospital admission.²⁷⁶ These units are common in the emergency care in the USA²⁷⁷ and have demonstrated to decrease ED crowding, diagnostic uncertainty, resource utilization and LOS whilst improving clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction.^{276,278,279} General observation units play an important role in the care of geriatric ED patients. Thirty percent of patients in general observation units in the US are older than 65 and their admission is mostly used for the diagnosis and treatment of clinical conditions with general symptoms and unclear emergence like syncope, fever, tachycardia and vomiting.²⁸⁰ Furthermore, general observation units have demonstrated to avoid hospital admissions.²⁸⁰

5.1.5. Benefits and limitations of geriatric observation units

The idea of creating an observation unit fitted to the structural necessities of geriatric patients with access to a multidisciplinary CGA and treatment protocols outside of the ED setting could lead to a great benefit for geriatric patients.²⁸¹ This model could provide time for the assessment and evaluation of this population, which is often time consuming and challenging to embed in normal ED routine. The assessment time for admitted geriatric patients who have a bed for a short time can be flexible and patients who visit the ED at night-time can wait for a comprehensive evaluation till the next morning. In addition, the contact and medical history from relatives can be conducted properly, which tends to be problematic in cognitively impaired patients. This could prevent unnecessary hospital admissions in cases of unclear diagnoses or discharges with incomplete assessments.²⁸⁰ The CGA could be outsourced to the hospital's geriatric service which evades the need of a constant presence of geriatric professionals in the ED.⁵³

Finally, this setting could improve the organisation and transition to community-based care services.⁵³ Benefits of the implementation of a CGA-based evaluation in a geriatric observation unit in different health care systems have been observed, such as reduced hospital admission and ED readmission rates and functional decline after ED discharge.⁵³ A pilot study by Southerland and colleagues demonstrated good feasibility of a multidisciplinary assessment in an ED observation unit within 24 hours without affecting the ED length of stay or hospital admission rate.²⁸¹

Again, this model could be harder to implement in smaller hospitals than cannot provide adequate structures or consultant services for geriatric patients. Another limitation is the lack of a standardized and well-validated screening instrument to identify geriatric patients who would benefit the most, which could lead to inefficient allocations.^{24,282}

5.1.6. Evaluation of geriatric observation units

A recent review by Heeren and colleagues on sixteen studies evaluated the emergent research on geriatric observation units.²⁸³ The difficulties of embedding a multidimensional CGA in this setting was shown by the low number of CGAs that covered medical, functional, cognitive and social dimensions. Although all studies showed interdisciplinary processes, half of the presented units did not provide at least one geriatric practitioner, such as a specialised nurse or a physician. Heeren and colleagues ascribed the absence of a geriatric professional staff to an international shortage of those professions or limited billing abilities for geriatric interventions in the ED. The admission criteria for the observation unit were very heterogeneous and hardly any study used a validated geriatric screening instrument. Nearly all units lacked a dedicated space for assessment conduction or protocols to guide clinical care which have been proven essential to general observation units.²⁷⁶ Although general observation units are common for EDs in the US, the implementation of a geriatric friendly environment and efficient assessment possibilities is still challenging.

5.1.7. Evaluation of CGA-based intervention concepts

Several EDs have applied one or more of the above-mentioned models to implement a CGA into their ED routine. Preston and colleagues conducted a systematic review of CGA-based interventions in EDs regarding their efficiency in reduction of adverse outcomes.⁵⁶ The evidence was inconsistent because of a high heterogeneity in study designs, inclusion criteria, outcome measurements and reported results. This highlights the high variety of interventions and difficulties in comparability. Discharge interventions based on CGA improved the linkage between the ED and community services, but meta-analyses showed limited evidence for effectiveness^{284,285} and one review displayed a tendency of increased ED readmissions in the short term.²⁸⁶ The authors of this review ascribed the increased rate of readmission to the possibility of patients returning to complete the treatment of an acute condition or an increased awareness in patients and relatives for previously undetected health problems that were identified by the CGA.²⁸⁶ Staff-focused interventions with the implementation of a nurse or physician responsible for conducting a CGA showed a stronger effect for geriatrician-led interventions than nurse-led CGAs regarding the reduction of hospital admission rates.⁵⁶ Studies on nurse-led interventions observed either reduced or increased health care utilization. A meta-analysis on seven nurse-led interventions studies found no effect on clinical outcomes like hospitalization, ED readmission and hospital LOS.²⁸⁷ Preston et al. indicated a lack of robust multicentre controlled studies and missing focus on patient-focused outcomes like pain and quality of life.⁵⁶ Furthermore, the general comparability of CGA-based interventions seemed to be difficult due to inconsistent study reporting. Those inconsistent results with mixed significance and effectiveness indicate the heterogeneity of CGA concepts and implementation

strategies. Future research on GEDIs must work out the most effective and feasible strategies for specific ED settings and care systems.

Despite of the well-established effectiveness of a CGA in the hospital setting, a sustainable and effective implementation in the ED appears to be far from easy. There is still no general agreement on the right and most effective form of a CGA. According to Gladman et al., the performance of each CGA depends on the context in which it is applied and the missing expertise of ED nurses and physicians on CGA leads to a "know-do-gap".²⁸⁸ Their training and daily practice is mainly focused on the detection and treatment of acute problems in a short amount of time. Internalizing the concept of a holistic and comprehensive evaluation in a busy environment might be hard to accomplish without further education.²⁸⁹

5.1.8. Recommendations for CGA implementation

Carpenter and colleagues described an ideal, theoretical approach to the implementation of a CGA in ED routine.²⁸² The first step is the identification of vulnerable older patients who would benefit from further geriatric care by applying an accurate screening instrument. This patient would then receive a CGA with a holistic evaluation followed by a personalized intervention either targeting prevention or treatment of geriatric syndromes. The final step is the implementation of a follow-up to ensure the execution and provide an opportunity for possible alteration of the intervention. Preston and colleagues summarized the features of successful implementation policies after the evaluation of existing studies: A CGA strategy that involves adequate screening and assessment and the combination of social and medical care.⁵⁶ In addition, they highlighted the importance of initiating therapeutic strategies already in the ED and the beginning of the hospital stay.

5.2 Targeting Complexity – The German Setting

5.2.1. Demand and supply for geriatric care

In Germany, emphasis in geriatric care is mainly put on stationary or semi-stationary care facilities.⁵⁸ About 90% of geriatric care is conducted in stationery settings like hospitals and rehabilitation facilities and 8,5% in semi-stationary settings that are organised mostly by inpatient facilities.²⁹⁰ In the years from 2005 to 2014, the number of geriatric beds increased by 48% according to a report from the BARMER health insurance company.²⁹¹ Furthermore, it has been predicted that the number of geriatric beds will increase up to 31% till 2030 to meet the rising demand in Germany due to the demographic change.

The necessity of implementing innovative models to improve care of geriatric patients in general and in acute care has been recognized by a German association for Geriatrics, the Bundesverband Geriatrie e.V. They published a white paper on the structure and demand of geriatric care in Germany based on data by the Federal Statistical Office of Germany (Statistisches Bundesamt).²⁹² The authors noted that although geriatric care was one of the

fastest developing specialities in Germany regarding case numbers and bed occupancy rates, this was not sufficient to cover the demand. Furthermore, they forewarned that this demand would increase further in the next decades. They anticipated an additional demand for nearly 15.000 additional geriatric inpatient beds till 2025. Interestingly, the authors identified a "hidden demand" in geriatric care for patients in other speciality departments like surgery, neurology and internal medicine. The authors called for a better identification of geriatric patients in central facilities like the ED. The rising demand for geriatric care which excels the supply calls for an extension of geriatric care facilities on one hand and a more effective way to identify patients who would benefit most from geriatric care on the other hand. This emphasises the importance of effective screening for the identification of geriatric care in the ED promoted by position papers of geriatric and emergency organisations.^{28,122} The emphasis was placed on raising awareness for the complexity and needs of geriatric ED patients and the encouragement for the implementation of screening methods. The desire for further education and training in geriatric emergency care has already been requested by German ED staff.⁹¹

5.2.2. Quality indicators for geriatric emergency care

An expert group of the DGINA including emergency nurses and physicians, a geriatric physician, health-economic and pharmaceutic experts and patient representatives recently developed 67 quality indicators (QI) as a framework for the implementation of high quality geriatric emergency care.²⁹³ QIs are quantitative tools to evaluate the quality of procedures that influence patient outcomes and help to target potential performance issues.²⁹⁴ If well-defined, they can improve assessment strategies, the quality of care and give the opportunity to benchmark with other ED providers.^{293,295} The authors incorporated aspects from the US geriatric emergency department guideline and existing QIs for the ED medicine to develop 67 QIs consisting of 33 processes, 29 structures and 5 outcome indicators for personnel, equipment, medical treatment, care, communication and common risk factors of geriatric ED patients.²⁹⁶ Five quality statements were emphasised as the most important and one of those was the implementation of effective and validated screening methods to identify patients with geriatric needs.

5.2.3. The "Geriatrischer Versorgunsverbund"

One future development of geriatric care in Germany could be based on the implementation of a "Geriatrischer Versorgungsverbund" (GVV). It was first published 2010 in the White Paper of the Bundesverband Geriatrie.⁵⁷ The concept of a GVV lies in the combination of a facility which serves as a competence centre and a satellite net of interdisciplinary care structures.⁵⁸ The "Geriatric Centre" could either be an independent geriatric hospital or in cooperation with a general hospital. It consists of stationary, semi-stationery and rehabilitation health care

structures and serves as a bridge between ambulatory and acute care. An important function would be the guidance and coordination of the geriatric patient through the interdisciplinary satellite net consisting of non-geriatric in- and outpatient care providers, pharmaceutics, hospices, nursing homes, public agencies and community supplies. The concept of a GVV serves the opportunity to provide a professional and multidisciplinary space which can provide the structure and equipment for the specific need of geriatric patients that is often still lacking in general hospitals. Interlocking in- and outpatient services might reduce hospitalizations and even offer punctual and concentrated care for ambulatory patients. The access to the GVV would be gained via primary care providers, hospitals and direct admissions from EDs. Regarding the allocation decisions for geriatric patients in an ED, this concept could provide an opportunity for patients with complex acute or subacute complaints that fail to fit into a distinct organ category or medical speciality. Instead of discharging frail patients until they return with a more acute condition or the admission to a medical ward with unknown and uncoordinated treatment pathways, the GVV could be a fitting address for comprehensive and personalized care.

As the first federal state, North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW) adopted the concept of a GVV into the "Krankenhausplan NRW 2015" with the focus on stationary care.⁵⁹ Hospitals without a geriatric unit had to join a cooperation with those that provided geriatric care to enable the possibility to assign patients with geriatric needs through mutual care standards and transfer criteria.²⁹² This cooperation was able to offer every geriatric patient the access to geriatric care in theory. One requirement of such a cooperation was the adequate selection of patients who would profit from geriatric care. However, an efficient geriatric screening instrument is still missing. The authors of the "Krankenhausplan NRW 2015" called for the screening of every patient aged 75 years and older at hospital admission or directly by the physician in the ED responsible for the admission.⁵⁹ They recommended no specific screening instrument but mentioned the ISAR score as a potential tool for Germany.

5.2.4. The ISAR score as a geriatric gatekeeper: limitations and chances

The ISAR score is one of the most commonly used screening tools and has been suggested for EDs in Germany.²⁸ As illustrated before, the ISAR score showed high sensitivity but low specificity in several studies.^{31,60,187} The rationale of using instruments with a high sensitivity and lower specificity seems to be acceptable if the goal is to select vulnerable patients for basic and comparatively low effort care measures like fall and delirium prevention. However, for allocation decisions in the ED or shortly after hospital admission, concerning for example allocation to a geriatric department, this can result in an increased demand on geriatric beds. Today, the demand of specialized geriatric care already surpasses the supply, so this could further intensify the lack of available geriatric care.²⁹² This scenario is even more complex, because "falsely identified" patients who get access to specific geriatric care due to low

specificity of screening instruments could likely benefit from specialized geriatric care as well, which could increase the waiting time for patients that are in greater need. Furthermore, geriatric facilities might even profit economically from the admission of relatively healthy patients with better outcome probability, lesser care expense and treatment costs. Misclassifying patients who are not in need of specialized geriatric care on a grand scale might further reduce the disposability of highly specialized, little available and expensive resources which are imperatively needed for the increasing number of older high-risk patients over the next decades.

This implication raises doubts about the clinical usage of the ISAR score for allocation decisions in the ED leading beyond the mere question of a safety discharge. Nevertheless, the ISAR score is recommended as a screening instrument for German and international EDs despite the previously discussed doubts about its performance, which is explained by the rationale of raising awareness for geriatric emergency care.^{54,122,175} Holding on to the ISAR score seems to arise from the dilemma of missing alternative effective measures for the establishment of a valid and reliable tool for geriatric allocation decisions.²⁶

To face this problem, researchers aimed to improve the ISAR score by modifying its screening criteria and thresholds or combining it with another instrument. Shifting the cut-off criteria for polypharmacy could increase the ISAR scores clinimetric properties in geriatric patients as the number of prescribed drugs is often already high.^{297,298} To increase the performance and informative value, Singler et al. have recommended to raise the threshold of a positive ISAR score from 2 to 3 points, which improved the specificity in a study on older German ED visitors from 24.8% (\geq 2 points) to 49.3%. (\geq 3 points) for adverse outcomes after 28 days.¹⁸³

Scharf et al. demonstrated that the combination of the ISAR with a CGA could improve the discriminative ability.¹⁸⁷ This could speak in favour of screening strategies that include a more holistic view on complex geriatric patients.

5.2.5. The MPI as a multidimensional Instrument

The CGA-based MPI might be a promising candidate to fill the gap of suitable instruments for appropriate allocation decisions in the ED. It has demonstrated its ability to identify vulnerable patients effectively in different clinical settings and in comparison to other screening instruments.^{30,200,206,217} The results of the presented publication have shown that the assessment is feasible in the ED and demonstrated its associations with important geriatric risk factors and patient-centred outcome parameters in this critical care setting.⁵² Implementing the MPI in an acute care setting like the ED could offer a holistic view on the patient beyond an organ- or disease-centred approach. Future research should aim to analyse the effectiveness and eligibility of the MPI and its prognostic value for allocation decisions in the ED.

A limitation for an exclusive usage of the MPI might be its length in comparison with the ISAR score. The MPI consists of 53 items and is more time-consuming to conduct than shorter instruments. According to our experience, a trained ED member or consultant could assess the MPI in 20 to 30 minutes. It might compensate the relatively long assessment time with a more comprehensive and holistic evaluation of the patient. The MPI does not only provide information via its index score, but practitioners can likewise get information from the included assessment tools on nutrition, cognition and mobility.

The MPI-HOPE study has successfully recruited 343 patients in total with a follow-up period of 2 years. Based on the study's first results, the Department of Internal Medicine and Center for Molecular medicine in Cologne initiated the prospective randomised controlled study "Jede Jeck is anders" ("every human is different"; DRKS00017365). This study attempts to evaluate the implementation of a multidimensional CGA in older ED patients on clinical outcome parameters like length of hospital days, rehospitalization, utilization of ambulatory care structures and QOL. Older patients admitted to the ED will receive a CGA with the assessment of clinical, cognitive, participatory, socioeconomic- and socio-psychological factors, QOL, clinical prognosis by the MPI as well as assessment of geriatric resources and syndromes. The intervention group will receive a personalized treatment plan based on the CGA with recommendations for the subsequent care and initiation of contact with the general practitioner to close a potential information gap. The control group will receive usual care without further geriatric recommendations.⁶⁵ The early identification of geriatric syndromes and recommendation of treatment strategies might avoid hospitalization, delayed discharge and readmission to the ED.

5.2.6. The Geriatrie Check

An interdisciplinary German expert group has developed the 9-item "Geriatrie-Check" (geriatric check) as an instrument for the identification of geriatric patients in 2013.⁶³ It consists of two parts – while the first part assesses objective criteria, the second part collects information on subjective impairment in 5 domains as observed by the patients themselves or their caregivers. However, a positive screening result can be based on the objective criteria alone to save time. Recently, two studies have evaluated its validity in the setting of hospitalized neurological patients²⁹⁹ and the internal medicine ED.⁶² In the latter study, it was compared to the ISAR score and showed comparable properties with a high sensitivity (82%) and lower specificity (62.1%). While both the ISAR and the geriatric check showed higher sensitivity than nurses and physicians, the predictive validity was lower in comparison. The authors therefore proposed a procedure that starts with the ISAR score or geriatric check and is followed by an evaluation by nurses or physicians to improve resource allocation.

5.2.7. The Acutely Presenting Older Screening Program

An approach to improve geriatric care in the ED by using a screening tool to trigger further geriatric interventions has been conducted by Blommard et al. in the Netherlands.⁶⁵ The ED system in our neighbouring country faces similar challenges regarding overcrowding and an increment of older and frail patients.³⁰⁰ Blommard et al. evaluated the implementation of the Acutely Presenting Older Patient (APOP) screening programm in the ED of a tertiary care hospital.^{65,301} The APOP consists – in addition to information on age and gender - of seven yes and no questions about the form of arrival, daily assistance during the time before arrival, hospitalization in the last 6 months and cognition performance.³⁰² A recently published study combined an education program for ED staff with the implementation of an APOP screening program to trigger interventions during the ED stay and additionally, dependent on the patients clinical track, a CGA after hospital admission or recommendations for the priamry care provider after discharge from the ED.⁶⁵ The implementation of the program resulted in an increased number of conducted CGAs during hospitalization, improved communication with the general practitioner and follow-up care via the ED without increasing ED LOS and hospital admission rate. However, as information on the effectiveness of this program regarding other clinical outcomes is not availabe, further studies are needed to evaluate this model. This approach might be a promising example to research in German EDs.

5.2.8. The Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Kurzliegeraufnahmestation (INKA)

One example of an ED innovation in Germany comparable to the concept of an geriatric of observation unit is the implementation а "Interdisziplinäre Notfallund Kurzliegeraufnahmestation" (INKA) in the Albertinen-Hospital in Hamburg.⁶⁴ It has been implemented in 2010 and is a unit with 22 beds assigned to the ED that is mainly, but not exclusively aimed at older patients. Patients admitted to the ED with foreseeable need for stationary care are assigned to the INKA if the allocation aim is yet unclear, the allocation aim is clear but all beds are occupied or if the patient will likely be discharged within three days and requires interdisciplinary care. The concept is based on close cooperation with the geriatric ward. Daily geriatric ward rounds lead to early identification of patients that would benefit from geriatric care and allow for timely transfers to the geriatric ward. Therapy decision are made in cooperation with all care providers, such as GPs, relatives and nursing services, and continuation of care after discharge is considered early. The INKA has demonstrated to be successful in improving care for older patients whilst freeing up ressources in the ED and working cost-effectively.⁶⁴ In 2012, the INKA received a German innovation price in health care, the "Deutsche Innovationspreis im Gesundheitswesen".³⁰³

While this innovative model shows promising effects, structural changes of the ED like the INKA require a dedicated and spatially divided ward, which might be costly to accomplish for

hospitals. Most of the research is therefore focused on the improvement of ED routines and the implementation of effective screening instruments for allocation decisions. It is paramount for researchers to work out the most effective assessments, treatment protocols and ways of information transmission in the German health care system and figure out how EDs can improve their role as a central nod in future geriatric care. Recently, the urgency to identify vulnerable patients has drastically increased with the world-wide appearance of COVID-19, which heavily affects older and frail people. The pandemic forced health care providers to act fast in the face of increased patient flow and decreased medical capacity.

5.3 The COVID-19 pandemic

The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Corona Virus 2 (Sars-Cov-2) was first identified in hopitalized patients in Wuhan, China in Dezember 2019 and led to a pandemic that is threatening nations and their health care systems all around the world.^{66,304} As of August 23th in 2021, COVID-19 has been confirmed in over 206 million people and led to the death of almost 4.4 million.³⁰⁵ Up to the date of this publication, the end of the pandemic is unpredictable.³⁰⁶ Specific aspects of COVID-19 might have contributed to the rapid worldwide distribution of the virus. A long incubation period (mean 4 days, 2-7 days interquartile range), a possible transmission up to two days prior to the occurrence of first symptoms and the possbible transmission from asymptomatic individuals have aggravated the containment of outbreaks.³⁰⁷⁻³⁰⁹ Major cornerstones to overcome the pandemic depend on containment and vaccination strategies.^{310,311}

5.3.1. Pathophysiology and clincial manifestations

Sars-Cov-2 is one of seven ribonucleic acid-based coronaviruses that are known to infect humans, with four endemic straints leading to mild upper and lower respiratory tract infections in adults and children and two being responsible for global outbreaks in the last two decades.^{304,312} There is ongoing research about the origin of Sars-Cov-2 and it is hypothesized that it is developed from a natural selection in either human or animal hosts with following zoonotic transfers.^{66,313} The major transmission pathway from person to person is assumed to occur via droplets that are expelled during talking, coughing or sneezing, via aerosols and inhalation exposure and to a lesser degree from contaminated surfaces.^{307,314} Sars-Cov-2 initially targets nasal and bronchial epithelial cells and pneumocytes and in later stages of infection endothelial cells of blood vessels, which might explain symptoms outside the respiratory system and possible complications in nearly every major organ system.^{307,315}

The most common symptoms are fever, dry cough, shortness of breath, fatigue and myalgia; but symptoms unlike common respiratory diseases like nausea/vomiting or diarrhoea and olfactory and gustatory impairments might also occur.³⁰⁷ A direct infiltration of cells in the central nervous system via the cribriform plate of the ethmoid bone might explain the early

development of anosmia and aguesia and a broad variety of neurological manifestations in later disease stages.³¹⁶⁻³¹⁸ First retrospective observational studies showed that every third COVID-19 patient developed neurological manifestations ranging from dizziness, headache, taste- and smell impairment in milder courses of disease and ischemic stroke and cerebral haemorrhage in more severe infections.³¹⁹ However, asymptomatic manifestation are also possible and a meta-analysis estimated the amount at around 17%.³²⁰ Most of the cases have only mild symptoms and can be treated ambulatory, while every sixth patient might develop dyspnea and reduced oyxgen saturation and about 5% can become critically ill with respiratory failure, septic shock and multiple organ failure.³²¹ Critically ill patients can develop complications like acute respiratory distress syndrome, cardiac diseases, encephalitis, and thromboembolic diseases.^{307,322-324} Approximately 17 to 35% of hospitalized patients with COVID-19 require intensive care with most of them being treated by invasive mechanical ventilation.³⁰⁷ The overall hospital mortality is estimated at around 15 to 20% with a higher mortality rate of patients being treated in the intensive care unit, but numbers differ depending on the patient cohort and health care system.³⁰⁷

5.3.2. Long-term impact of COVID-19

Another future threat might be "long-covid", a collective term for symptoms that continue or arise up to 12 weeks after an acute infection and are not explained by an alternative diagnosis.^{86,87} First review indicated that reported post-COVID-19 sequelae are multi-organic and can cause symptoms like dyspnea, thrombembolic events, chest pain, fatigue, headache, cognitive impairment, affective disorders, sleep disturbances and impaired pulmonary, cardiovasculary, inflammatory, renal and metabolic organ function.^{86,325} The prevalence of "long-covid" is difficult to estimate because of heterogenous populations and the capacity of health and reporting systems.⁸⁶ It has been estimated that in the UK, 20% of patients reported symptoms after five weeks and 10% after four months.³²⁶ First studies described a persistency of symptoms and organ damages up to six months after an infection with required hospitalization.^{327,328} The long-term impact of the Sars-Cov-2 virus on organ systems is unknown and the need for long term observational research is crucial.

5.3.3. Mortality of COVID-19

Old and frail people are more disproportionately affected by COVID-19. Older age is one of the essential risk factors of an adverse course of disease or death.^{69,71,72} A meta-analysis by Bonanad and collegues on five studies and over 600.000 subjects in China, Europe and the US evaluated the effect of age on mortality in patients with COVID-19.⁷⁰ While the mortality rate was lower than 1% in patients younger than 50 years, it increased exponentially with higher age by 9.5% in the age group of 60-69 and nearly 30% in patients aged 80 and above. Analyses with other measurements of disease severity like the case fatality rate (CFR; ratio of

diagnosed cases and deceased) and the infection fatality rate (IFR; ratio of infected and deceased) emphasise the strong influence of age on COVID-19 outcome.^{329,330}

5.3.4. COVID-19 and the complexity of age

There are several age-related factors on cellular, anatomical and physiological level that might explain the increased vulnerability of older patients.^{67,68,73} Changes in the respiratory system like an increased expression of entry factors on human respiratory cells for Sars-Cov-2,³³¹ a reduced number of cilia and cilated cells³³² and a reduced upper airway size³³³ can increase the vulnerability towards COVID-19. Sarcopenia and weakness can impair overall mobility and the strength of respiratory muscles which decreases airway ventilation.³³⁴ The increased general and chronic inflammation found in an aged immune system hamper the effectiveness of individual immunological cells and the whole inflammatory system.^{148,149,335} Older people are often malnourished or at risk for malnutrition while an optimal nutrition status seems to be important for the immunological defence against viral infections.^{336,337} Malnutrition can be a predictor of mortality in hospitalized older Covid-19 patients.³³⁸

Another risk factor for poor outcome in older patients is the development of delirium, which is associated with a higher rate of complications and mortality, longer mechanical ventilation time and longer intermediate care unit stay in critically ill patients.³³⁹⁻³⁴¹ Rising evidence suggests that COVID-19 seems to accelerate this risk additionally.³⁴² Kotfis and colleagues summarized different factors that increase the vulnerability of the brain in a COVID-19 illness: Direct effects from the Sars-Cov-2 virus like the infiltration of the CNS and an induction of central nervous system inflammation mediators, which might disturb the brain homeostasis before the homeostatic dysregulations due to systemic organ failures.³¹⁶ Treatment strategies of severe manifestations of COVID-19 like the application of corticosteroids, sedation procedures and mechanical ventilation might indirectly enhance the risk for delirium.³⁴²⁻³⁴⁵

Another important factor of vulnerability might be social isolation, which can emerge or aggravate from social distancing measures, an important component of non-pharmacological interventions to contain Sars-Cov-2 outbreaks in many countries.^{67,346} Social isolation of older adults with reduced visits from relatives at home, care facilities or at the hospital can lead to aggravation of cognitive impairment, anxiety, depression or the risk for developing delirium.^{67,342} Non-pharmacological interventions to contain the spread of Sars-Cov-2 could also have led to a worsening of non-communicable diseases that are highly prevalent in frail adults because of reduced outpatient visits, fewer diagnoses and reduced medication adherence.^{73,347,348}

However, it is important to note that those factors should not be associated with chronological, but with biological age and the concept of frailty.^{68,73} The ageing process is highly heterogeneous and differs individually, so implications and screening methods for vulnerable

adults with higher risk for severe COVID-19 courses should not only focus on age or the presentation of symptoms but on a holistic assessment of vulnerability and frailty.

5.3.5. Impact of frailty on COVID-19

A systematic review by Cosco and colleagues summarized the existing literature on the impact of frailty on mortality in hospitalized patients and found the majority of them reporting a positive association between higher level of frailty and mortality due to COVID-19.88 The authors identified 26 studies with half of them having been conducted in the EU and half in the United Kingdom and one in Brazil. Frailty was mostly assessed by the CFS. A small amount of studies used either the Hospital Frailty Risk Score,³⁴⁹ which is based on the International Classifcation of Diseases 10 codes, the FriEDs frailty phenotype¹³⁸ or the Frail Non-Disabled survey, which is a self-reporting screening tool.³⁵⁰ Mortality rates ranged from 14 to 65% and were reported at a large range of timepoints (6-50 days), indicating a great variety of study designs and settings. However, the positive relationship was not consistent in all studies. Two studies using the CFS and the Frail Non-Disabled survey reported no predictive ability of frailty on hospital mortality.^{351,352} Interestingly, two studies reported a lower association to mortality with increasing frailty than initially expected and excess mortality was observed in comparatively fit patients.^{353,354} Cosco and colleagues suggested that this could be related to a selection effect brought up by a change in health policies towards the avoidance of hospital admission of old and more frail patients during COVID-19 surges.⁸⁸ Many factors could have complicated the comparability of these different results further. Treatment options and recommendations of COVID-19 developed over the course of the pandemic and clinical decision-making processes could have been changed in times of low hospital bed and intensive care capacity, both factors which may have influenced mortality outcomes.³¹⁰

5.3.6. Frailty screening in COVID-19 patients

There is growing evidence that the additional assessment of frailty improves the prediction of adverse outcomes in older patients with COVID-19.³⁵⁵ The assessment of frailty at hospital admission can add more depth of information to clinical decision-making apart from more apparent information like age and the number of comorbidities. First guidelines and strategies that were developed to cope with such crises raised concerns that allocation criteria like age, "life-years saved" or "long-term predicted life expectancy" could lead to an unjust treatment of patients with advanced age in a disease that is already disfavouring the old.^{356,357} Frailty is a complex construct and age-related, but not every older patient with a temporarily reduced state of health is simultaneously frail. In addition, also people younger than 65 years can develop frailty. Especially in times of surges with high COVID-19 prevalence and limited capacity of hospital and intensive care beds, from which many countries suffered, it is important to enable a holistic view of the patient's health state for suitable allocation decisions.³⁵⁸⁻³⁶⁰

5.3.7. The Clinical Frailty Scale

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommended in a rapid guideline in early 2020 a frailty screening of all patients at hospital admission irrespective of a suspected COVID-19 infection.⁷⁴ The Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS), a clinical judgment-based screening approach, has been suggested.³⁶¹ Domains describing the functional and cognitive status as well as existing comorbidity lead to a classification of the patients into one of nine categories from very fit over vulnerable and frail to terminally ill. The CFS has recently been updated for the increased usage due to the recommendations in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines.³⁶² It has been recommended by German and Austrian societies in the faculties of internal-, emergency-, and intensive care medicine and geriatric-associated faculties in guidelines regarding allocation decisions for intensive care treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic.^{75,76}

5.3.8. Challenges of frailty screening in COVID-19

Recommended screening tools for frailty in patients with COVID-19 and especially the CFS are easy to understand and quick to apply, which makes them sufficient for a broad usage in this global health crisis but can hardly survey the whole complexity of frailty in older patients. Additionally, the CFS is largely based on the clinical judgement and geriatric experience of its user. The authors of the CFS even recommended an utilization by clinicians with experience in geriatric medicine.³⁶¹ Furthermore, the classification depends on a correct assessment of the patient's living conditions, which can be difficult in cognitive impaired patients without accompanying relatives. The presentation of older patients might also change rapidly over the course of an illness, which must be taken into account when being assessed.^{73,363} Frailty increases the risk of patients to present atypical symptoms which might impede diagnostic procedures in the ED.¹²² This can be problematic when facing a disease with a high amount of asymptomatic and atypical symptoms, which requires strict hygiene measures and allocation decisions due to a high contagiosity. Atypical symptoms of COVID-19 infections like delirium and abdominal complaints are possible in older patients and failing to identify it at the ED can have dreadful consequences for the subsequent care.^{357,364} Given its roots in a CGA and its multidimensionality, the MPI might be a potential alternative or addition to other screening tools. A study on 227 hospitalized older patients by Pilotto et al. showed a good predictive ability of the MPI on hospital mortality (AUC: 0.76, 95%CI: 0.68-0.83), but no association with ICU admission.77 Another recent study on 653 ICU patients showed similar abilities in predicting mortality after ICU admission (AUC: 0.74, 95%CI: 0.70-0.78).³⁶⁵ Further studies that compare different frailty instruments and screening strategies in the context of COVID-19 are needed. However, the assessment of frailty should not be the only pillar in clinical decisionmaking in times of shortage of care capacities. Clinical decision makers should note that the prevalence of frailty is unequally distributed and influenced by socio-economic factors like poverty, education and ethnicity.^{19,143,366} The American Geriatrics Society has included the consideration of cultural, ethical, and socioeconomic factors into their position statement for resource allocation strategies in the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁶⁷

Those aspects of the complexity of older patients highlight the importance of the availability of geriatric specialists and geriatric education in EDs and hospital staff to improve clinical decision-making. The consultation of specialists is also recommended to improve clinical decision-making.^{74,363} There is a need to investigate how to enhance the assessment of frailty and how this information can improve clinical decision-making and ultimately the prognosis of older patients.

5.3.9. COVID-19 and the German ED

The worldwide outbreak of COVID-19 has affected many nations and their health care systems. In Germany, over 3.800.000 cases were reported and nearly 92.000 people died till August 23th, in 2021.³⁶⁸ EDs and especially central emergency wards are on the frontline of allocation management of COVID-19 cases as an intersection of in- and outpatient care. Beside its responsibility for the care provision to non-COVID-19 emergency and acute conditions, EDs had to adapt to manage the challenges of a pandemic. The focus of EDs regarding COVID-19 lies in the identification of infected patients, risk stratification, allocation decisions and overall implementation of hygienic measures to prevent transmission within the ED.⁷⁸ Important early suggestions were the separation of COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 patients, the implementation of standard operational procedures and the establishment of screening procedures.^{369,370}

Especially the relevance of screenings for hidden COVID-19 infections or patients with poor clinical prognosis should be recognized. Regarding the concept of frailty with a generally reduced capacity of the body's organ systems to external stressors and the development of atypical symptoms, frail patients are at high risk for atypical COVID-19 presentation.³⁷¹ A sore throat, unexplained hypoxemia or the development of geriatric syndromes like dehydration, functional decline, fall and delirium could indicate a COVID-19 infection.^{357,372,373} A study in the US observed that 37% of ED patients with COVID-19 infections showed a delirium and no additional, typical COVID-19 symptoms.³⁴¹ This emphasises the importance of an early screening for frailty and geriatric syndromes in older ED patients, which might be caused by a COVID-19 infection. An online-survey of Finke and colleagues on the adaptation of German EDs towards the Pandemic has shown that most of the responding EDs have been well prepared regarding isolation policies, diagnostic and organisational procedures for the prognosed increment of COVID-19 incidence in the winter season 2020/2021.⁷⁸

5.3.10. Influence of COVID-19 on ED visits

An interesting observation was the reduction in numbers of emergency cases in German EDs during the first wave of the pandemic in early 2020.^{79,80} Slagman and colleagues summarized data of 36 EDs, with 29 of them being affiliated to a university hospital with maximum care.⁷⁹ The observed EDs experienced an overall reduction in the number of visitors by 13% in the first half of 2020 in comparison to the previous year. The maximum reduction of 39% occurred at those times with the highest COVID-19 prevalence and the most restricted outbreak constraints. A similar decrement was observed for patients at all age groups, but a higher decrement was observed for patients > 60 years. Non-urgent conditions and ambulant contact seemed to decrease more than urgent presentations that led to hospitalization. The reduction seemed to be comparable for traumatic and non-traumatic reasons. A similar development has been detected in other countries. EDs in the US observed a decrement of visitors by up to 42% in a four-week period during an early period of the pandemic.⁸¹

One suggestion for this development was that people experienced a higher threshold to seek medical advice because of the fear of a infection with COVID-19.^{79,81} Lesser contact with relatives might also have contributed to the reduction of ED visits especially in older patients, because relatives often initiate a presentation in the ED.³⁷⁴ The observation of decreased presentations with myocardial infarction, stroke and transient ischaemic attacks is worrisome.^{79,81} Those conditions are associated with frailty and indicate an exacerbation of long developed chronic illnesses and physiological dysfunctions.^{375,376} Patients with mild to medium symptoms might have delayed medical contact in fear of a COVID-19 infection, which might have led to aggravated relapses with worse clinical prognosis.

5.3.11. COVID-19 and HRQOL

As a worldwide public health emergency, the COVID-19 pandemic has not only impact on the direct health but also on QOL of people who are not directly affected by an infection but also by fear of infections or the loss of family members, isolation due to containment strategies, economic losses and uncertainty about the future.⁸² First studies indicate an increasing burden on mental health in the general population.⁸³ Two surveys on HRQOL with over 2000 adult participants during the pandemic in the US and Italy showed a lower rating of general HRQOL in comparison to pre-pandemic values.^{84,85} Age had a significant effect on HRQOL with the lowest ratings in younger age groups. Old age has been identified as a protective factor for low QOL and mental health in a small-sample study in Israel.³⁷⁷ The authors suggested a richer life experience and a reduced fear of illness and death in older people as a potential reason for the observed resilience. On the contrary, a survey on Chinese population showed no difference in HRQOL levels compared to pre-pandemic time in the general population and the authors observed a decrease in HRQOL with higher age and higher number of chronic diseases.³⁷⁸

However, it is important to note that all the above-mentioned studies had an unequal age distribution and the highest age groups were commonly categorized by an age of 65 years or older. Reasons could be less access of older people to online-based surveys on which most of early studies on QOL are based upon.^{83-85,378} This strongly limits the evidence because of an underrepresentation of COVID-19 high-risk adults who might have greater fear of an infection, are burdened by stricter isolation measures and might have less access to digital ways of coping with social isolation.

5.3.12. Long-Covid and HRQOL

Another important burden of COVID-19 on HRQOL might be the influence of chronic symptoms that remain or develop after an infection. Older age groups are at higher risk for an adverse disease manifestation and hospitalization which have been shown to lead to remnant symptoms.⁷³ There is growing evidence that post-COVID-19 symptoms of hospitalized patients are accompanied by a significant reduction of HRQOL.^{89,90} A cohort-study by Walle-Hansen specifically on older hospitalized COVID-19 patients showed that more than half of the participants reported a clinically relevant decline in HRQOL measured by the EQ5D-5L up to six months after hospital discharge in comparison to HRQOL at admission.³²⁷ The highest decrement was reported in the domains of mobility and activities of daily living. There is need for further research about the development of QOL and HRQOL after an COVID-19 infection. In addition, it is necessary to raise awareness of the lasting burden "long covid" might have in the future.

5.3.13. Implications of COVID-19 on the ageing society

In summary, the COVID-19 pandemic has intensified the perception of challenges in our health care system in general, but specifically with regard to acute and emergency care of older and frail patients. The challenge of identifying vulnerable patients in the ED has drastically increased since the beginning of the pandemic, as geriatric patients with multimorbidity and frailty are predominantly affected by severe illness courses and death.^{67,71,88} Subsequently, the demand for geriatric and rehabilitation care might accelerate further, intensifying the need for an efficient and established screening instrument for vulnerable patients in the ED.

This pandemic might lead to great losses within a whole generation of older adults in the nearby future and a burden on another generation over the next decades. Chronic remnants of a COVID-19 infection might burden the health and HRQOL of todays and soon-to-be geriatric patients. First studies on post-COVID-19 symptoms showed a median age of 50 to 60 years of affected participants.³²⁵ This age group of "baby boomers" might be disproportionally affected by COVID-19 remnants by being in a "sandwich-position". As younger patients are more rarely affected by a severe course of disease and older age groups might escape an infection with an earlier vaccination, this "middle-aged" group could suffer high consequences

regarding future health.^{70,71,379} Conceptualising frailty as a pathologic endpoint of multidimensional age- and lifestyle-related deteriorations of organ systems, COVID-19 might serve as an accelerator of the biological ageing process.¹² It might intensify the progress of the demographic development, whose burden for future health care systems is not only defined by the mere increment of older adults alone, but the increment of patients with a higher biological age, multimorbidity and frailty. If high-risk patients for chronic remnants of COVID-19 are typically patients with existing comorbidities, this might intensify or prolong the burden of non-communicable diseases on health care systems. Indirectly, the pandemic could impede the diagnostic and follow-up care of other chronic diseases, which might amplify the burden on individual HRQOL and future health care systems.

5.4 Conclusion

The ED is a central node point and at the front line of both short- and long-term challenges that will come up in the next decades. Its crucial function beside emergency care is the allocation of a broad variety of patients to the right subsequent care facilities. Especially older and vulnerable patients can benefit from the correct transfer to facilities with holistic treatment and infrastructure. As the number of older and frail patients with complex care needs will further increase over the next decades, the ED has to prepare for this development. The geriatric-friendly adaptation of ED infrastructure, education of personnel staff and implementation of efficient protocols and algorithms are paramount to prepare for this challenge. There has been ongoing research on how to implement geriatric care in this setting, but most has been conducted in the US. German researchers and policy makers should establish which concepts might be suited for the German health care system and how to implement them.

5.4.1. Outlook

A promising example is the INKA in Hamburg, which bridges adequate geriatric emergency care and cost-effectiveness.⁶⁴ The development of interdisciplinary central emergency wards in German hospitals with access to a broad variety of professionals and diagnostic procedures is an important step towards a more comprehensive approach towards complex geriatric patients. They offer the opportunity for geriatric specialists to execute assessments and treatment recommendations that extend the resources of ED staff, who might be more focused on high-paced emergency care. Geriatric observation units might be a concept that can be feasible for German EDs in hospitals with bigger infrastructural capacities. As time is often the most important resource in the assessment of geriatric needs, this might be an approach to remove vulnerable patients from the high-paced setting and prevent hospitalization. EDs in smaller hospitals and urban settings might benefit from the implementation of a geriatric champion or consultant, a tighter connection to clinics with geriatric specialization in the GVV, or care structured in the ambulatory sector for information exchange and follow-up controls.

However, with a missing specialisation for physicians, only few university professorships for geriatric medicine and insufficient implementation in curricula for medical students, the geriatric medicine in Germany is still in its infancy compared to other countries.³⁸⁰ There is an urgent need to prepare the German health care system with its characteristics like decentralized organisation, distinction into acute and rehabilitative care and the emphasis on stationary care structures for the upcoming ageing society. Novel structures like the GVV have to be evaluated in their efficiency and cost effectiveness to lead geriatric patients from the ED to the clinical tracks that meet their needs in a personalized and comprehensive way.

5.4.2. Concepts to overcome the "efficiency-gap"

Essential for this task is the implementation of efficient and feasible screening instruments for frail and vulnerable patients. There has been a high amount of research on different screening instruments with different approaches to the concept of frailty with individual advantages and disadvantages over the last decades. Unfortunately, they have failed in the end to accurately and efficiently predict outcomes in geriatric ED patients.²⁸² There is an ongoing discussion on how geriatric research and clinicians can continue from this point. One recommendation is the optimization of existing screening and assessment instruments by combinational usage. An "ED-specific minimum geriatric assessment" instrument that covers the most frequent and influential factors that indicate geriatric need could serve as a screening instrument and trigger subsequent broader and more comprehensive assessment.^{381,382} Another approach might be the improvement of information exchange from in- and outpatient services to implement more information on medical record and pre-ED data like social and systemic circumstances and actual disease severity that might improve accuracy and could even be estimated by artificial intelligence programs to cope with the rising complexity.²⁸²

A third approach might be the implementation of instruments like the MPI that expand the capacity of "simple" screening measures by CGA-based assessment algorithms to cover more of the complexity that derives from frailty.³⁶ Future research should evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of those and other approaches and identify those that fit best in particular health care systems and ED structures.

5.4.3. Holistic decision-making in the ED

The presented publication was able to demonstrate that the MPI can be conducted in the setting of the ED to assess the complexity of older patients either as a single instrument or in combination with a shorter screening tool. The newfound associations with HRQOL could add another dimension to the comprehensiveness of this instrument. The implementation of patient-centred outcomes like an improvement in HRQOL might be an additional pillar to improve clinical decision-making especially in multimorbid and frail patients. Future research on HRQOL as well as research on frailty might benefit from a uniform definition and

nomenclature of this concept to ameliorate the informative value of its measurement instruments and their implications for clinical practise. Especially the utility of HRQOL measurement in an ED setting is underrepresented in the literature up to this date, due to its limited feasibility in the setting of a high-paced ED. The long-term treatment of chronic conditions might overlap with concepts of palliative medicine, where the treatment goal shifts from remission to the reduction of symptoms and improving HRQOL. Geriatric, complex patients might as well benefit more from approaches that target functionality, reduction of symptoms and better HRQOL than traditional organ-centred guideline recommendations. There might be great potential in the implementation of this concept to strengthen holistic and patient-centred care approaches.

6. References

1. Pines JM, Hilton JA, Weber EJ, et al. International perspectives on emergency department crowding. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2011; **18**(12): 1358-70.

2. Augurzky B, Beivers A, Breidenbach P, et al. Notfallversorgung in Deutschland: Projektbericht im Auftrag der Kassenärztlichen Bundesvereinigung: RWI Projektberichte. Essen, Germany: RWI- Leipniz Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung. 2018. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/180218 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 04.01.2021)

3. Schöpke T, Dodt C, Brachmann M, Schnieder W, Petersen P-F, Böer J. Statusbericht aus deutschen Notaufnahmen. *Notfall+ Rettungsmedizin* 2014; **17**(8): 660-70.

4. Schreyögg J, Bäuml M, Krämer J, Dette T, Busse R, Geissler A. Forschungsauftrag zur mengenentwicklung nach § 17b abs. 9 khg. *Hamburg Center for Health Economics (hche), Hamburg* 2014.

5. Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder. Demographischer Wandel in Deutschland Heft 2. Auswirkungen auf Krankenhausbehandlungen und Pflegebedürftige im Bund und in den Ländern 2010. Wiesbaden, Germany: Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Querschnitt/Demografischer-

Wandel/Publikationen/Downloads/krankenhausbehandlung-pflegebeduerftige-

5871102109004.pdf;jsessionid=2B93EC538844E720D918C878316A5146.live732?__blob=p ublicationFile (Zuletzt abgerufen am 03.01.2021)

6. Van den Heede K, Bouckaert N, Van de Voorde C. The impact of an ageing population on the required hospital capacity: results from forecast analysis on administrative data. *European Geriatric Medicine* 2019; **10**(5): 697-705.

7. Gruneir A, Silver MJ, Rochon PA. Emergency department use by older adults: a literature review on trends, appropriateness, and consequences of unmet health care needs. *Medical Care Research and Review* 2011; **68**(2): 131-55.

8. Samaras N, Chevalley T, Samaras D, Gold G. Older patients in the emergency department: a review. *Annals of emergency medicine* 2010; **56**(3): 261-9.

9. Bundesarbeitsgemeinschaft der Klinisch-Geriatrischen Einrichtungen e. V. Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie 2007; **40**(3): 201-4.

10. Fulop T, Larbi A, Witkowski JM, et al. Aging, frailty and age-related diseases. *Biogerontology* 2010; **11**(5): 547-63.

11. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. *Cell* 2013; **153**(6): 1194-217.

12. Ferrucci L, Fabbri E, Walston JD. Frailty. In: Halter JB, Ouslander JG, Studenski S, et al., eds. Hazzard's Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology, 7e. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education; 2017.

13. Hoogendijk EO, Afilalo J, Ensrud KE, Kowal P, Onder G, Fried LP. Frailty: implications for clinical practice and public health. *The Lancet* 2019; **394**(10206): 1365-75.

14. Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. *The Lancet* 2013; **381**(9868): 752-62.

15. Onder G, Vetrano DL. The Complexity of the Geriatric Patient. In: Roller-Wirnsberger R, Singler K, Polidori MC, eds. Learning Geriatric Medicine. Cham, Swizerland: Springer Nature; 2018: 58.

16. Inouye SK, Studenski S, Tinetti ME, Kuchel GA. Geriatric Syndromes: Clinical, Research, and Policy Implications of a Core Geriatric Concept: (See Editorial Comments by Dr. William Hazzard on pp 794–796). *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2007; **55**(5): 780-91.

17. Stolz E, Mayerl H, Waxenegger A, Freidl W. Explaining the impact of poverty on oldage frailty in Europe: material, psychosocial and behavioural factors. *European Journal of Public Health* 2017; **27**(6): 1003-9.

18. Levers M-J, Estabrooks CA, Ross Kerr JC. Factors contributing to frailty: literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2006; **56**(3): 282-91.

19. Hoogendijk EO, van Hout HP, Heymans MW, et al. Explaining the association between educational level and frailty in older adults: results from a 13-year longitudinal study in the Netherlands. *Annals of epidemiology* 2014; **24**(7): 538-44. e2.

20. Grossmann FF, Zumbrunn T, Frauchiger A, Delport K, Bingisser R, Nickel CH. At risk of undertriage? Testing the performance and accuracy of the emergency severity index in older emergency department patients. *Annals of emergency medicine* 2012; **60**(3): 317-25. e3.

21. Brouns SH, Mignot-Evers L, Derkx F, Lambooij SL, Dieleman JP, Haak HR. Performance of the Manchester triage system in older emergency department patients: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC emergency medicine* 2019; **19**(1): 3.

22. Zachariasse JM, Seiger N, Rood PP, et al. Validity of the Manchester Triage System in emergency care: A prospective observational study. *PloS one* 2017; **12**(2): e0170811.

23. Baumann MR, Strout TD. Triage of geriatric patients in the emergency department: validity and survival with the Emergency Severity Index. *Annals of emergency medicine* 2007; **49**(2): 234-40.

24. Dent E, Martin FC, Bergman H, Woo J, Romero-Ortuno R, Walston JD. Management of frailty: opportunities, challenges, and future directions. *The Lancet* 2019; **394**(10206): 1376-86.

25. Ambagtsheer RC, Beilby JJ, Visvanathan R, Dent E, Yu S, Braunack-Mayer AJ. Should we screen for frailty in primary care settings? A fresh perspective on the frailty evidence base: a narrative review. *Preventive medicine* 2019; **119**: 63-9.

26. Carpenter CR, Shelton E, Fowler S, et al. Risk factors and screening instruments to predict adverse outcomes for undifferentiated older emergency department patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2015; **22**(1): 1-21.

27. Preston L, Chambers D, Campbell F, Cantrell A, Turner J, Goyder E. What evidence is there for the identification and management of frail older people in the emergency department? A systematic mapping review. 2017.

28. Thiem U, Greuel H, Reingräber A, et al. Positionspapier zur Identifizierung geriatrischer Patienten in Notaufnahmen in Deutschland. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2012; **45**(4): 310-4.

29. McCusker J, Bellavance F, Cardin S, Trepanier S, Verdon J, Ardman O. Detection of older people at increased risk of adverse health outcomes after an emergency visit: the ISAR screening tool. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1999; **47**(10): 1229-37.

30. Warnier R, Van Rossum E, Van Velthuijsen E, Mulder W, Schols J, Kempen G. Validity, reliability and feasibility of tools to identify frail older patients in inpatient hospital care: a systematic review. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging* 2016; **20**(2): 218-30.

31. Galvin R, Gilleit Y, Wallace E, et al. Adverse outcomes in older adults attending emergency departments: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the Identification of Seniors At Risk (ISAR) screening tool. *Age and ageing* 2017; **46**(2): 179-86.

32. O'Caoimh R, Costello M, Small C, et al. Comparison of frailty screening instruments in the emergency department. *International journal of environmental research and public health* 2019; **16**(19): 3626.

33. Pilotto A, Ferrucci L, Franceschi M, et al. Development and validation of a multidimensional prognostic index for one-year mortality from comprehensive geriatric assessment in hospitalized older patients. *Rejuvenation research* 2008; **11**(1): 151-61.

34. Matthews DA. Dr. Marjory Warren and the origin of British geriatrics. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1984; **32**(4): 253-8.

35. Pilotto A, Polidori MC. The Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment: Goal-Oriented, Patient-Centered Care. In: Roller-Wirnsberger R, Singler K, Polidori MC, eds. Learning Geriatric Medicine: A Study Guide for Medical Students. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018: 273-86.

36. Pilotto A, Custodero C, Maggi S, Polidori MC, Veronese N, Ferrucci L. A multidimensional approach to frailty in older people. *Ageing Research Reviews* 2020; **60**: 101047.

37. Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Patrick DL. Measuring health-related quality of life. *Annals of internal medicine* 1993; **118**(8): 622-9.

38. Steptoe A, Deaton A, Stone AA. Subjective wellbeing, health, and ageing. *The Lancet* 2015; **385**(9968): 640-8.

39. Lawton MP. A multidimensional view of quality of life in frail elders. The concept and measurement of quality of life in the frail elderly: Elsevier; 1991: 3-27.

40. Hughes B. Quality of Life, u: SM Peace (ur.). Reserching Social Gerontology– Concepts, Methods and Issues. London: Sage Publications; 1990.

41. Hunger M, Thorand B, Schunk M, et al. Multimorbidity and health-related quality of life in the older population: results from the German KORA-age study. *Health and quality of life outcomes* 2011; **9**(1): 53.

42. Makovski TT, Schmitz S, Zeegers MP, Stranges S, van den Akker M. Multimorbidity and quality of life: Systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Res Rev* 2019; **53**: 100903.

43. Walker A. A European perspective on quality of life in old age. *European Journal of Ageing* 2005; **2**(1): 2-12.

44. Netuveli G, Wiggins RD, Hildon Z, Montgomery SM, Blane D. Quality of life at older ages: evidence from the English longitudinal study of aging (wave 1). *Journal of Epidemiology* & *Community Health* 2006; **60**(4): 357-63.

45. Smith J, Borchelt M, Maier H, Jopp D. Health and well-being in the young old and oldest old. *Journal of Social Issues* 2002; **58**(4): 715-32.

46. Hill NL, McDermott C, Mogle J, et al. Subjective cognitive impairment and quality of life: a systematic review. *International Psychogeriatrics* 2017; **29**(12): 1965.

47. Schoene D, Heller C, Aung YN, Sieber CC, Kemmler W, Freiberger E. A systematic review on the influence of fear of falling on quality of life in older people: is there a role for falls? *Clinical interventions in aging* 2019; **14**: 701-19.

48. Krhut J, Gärtner M, Mokris J, et al. Effect of severity of urinary incontinence on quality of life in women. *Neurourology and urodynamics* 2018; **37**(6): 1925-30.

49. Jakobsson U, Hallberg IR, Westergren A. Overall and health related quality of life among the oldest old in pain. *Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation* 2004; **13**(1): 125-36.

50. Bakker MH, Vissink A, Spoorenberg SLW, Jager-Wittenaar H, Wynia K, Visser A. Are Edentulousness, Oral Health Problems and Poor Health-Related Quality of Life Associated with Malnutrition in Community-Dwelling Elderly (Aged 75 Years and Over)? A Cross-Sectional Study. *Nutrients* 2018; **10**(12).

51. Beridze G, Ayala A, Ribeiro O, et al. Are Loneliness and Social Isolation Associated with Quality of Life in Older Adults? Insights from Northern and Southern Europe. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2020; **17**(22).

52. Rarek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, et al. The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency department: a 6-month follow-up study. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020: 1-9.

53. Southerland LT, Lo AX, Biese K, et al. Concepts in Practice: Geriatric Emergency Departments. *Ann Emerg Med* 2020; **75**(2): 162-70.

54. American College of Emergency Physicians, American Geriatrics Society, Emergency Nurses Association, Society for Academic Emergency Medicine. Geriatric Emergency Department Guidelines. *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 2014; **63**(5): e7-e25.

55. Rosenberg M, Rosenberg L. The geriatric emergency department. *Geriatric emergency medicine principles and practice* 2014: 8-19.

56. Preston L, van Oppen JD, Conroy SP, Ablard S, Woods HB, Mason SM. Improving outcomes for older people in the emergency department: a review of reviews. *Emergency Medicine Journal* 2020.

57. Bundesverband Geriatrie e. V. Weißbuch Geriatrie: die Versorgung geriatrischer Patienten: Stukturen und Bedarf - Status Quo und Weiterentwicklung; eine Analyse durch die GEBERA Gesellschaft für Betriebswirtschaftliche Beratung mbh. Stuttgart, Germany: W. Kohlhammer GmbH Stuttgart; 2010.

58. van den Heuvel D, Veer A, Greuel H-W. Geriatrische Versorgungsstrukturen in Deutschland. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2014; **47**(1): 13-6.

59. Ministerium für Gesundheit Emanzipation, Pflege und Alter des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen. Krankenhausplan NRW 2015. Düsseldorf, Germany, 2013.

60. Weinrebe W, Schiefer Y, Weckmüller K, et al. Does the identification of seniors at risk (ISAR) score effectively select geriatric patients on emergency admission? *Aging clinical and experimental research* 2019; **31**(12): 1839-42.

61. Yao J-L, Fang J, Lou Q-Q, Anderson RM. A systematic review of the identification of seniors at risk (ISAR) tool for the prediction of adverse outcome in elderly patients seen in the emergency department. *International journal of clinical and experimental medicine* 2015; **8**(4): 4778.

62. Gerhard T, Mayer K, Braisch U, et al. Validierung des Geriatrie-Checks zur Identifikation geriatrischer Patienten in der Notaufnahme. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2020: 1-7.

Baden-Württembergische Krankenhausgesellschaft Identifikation 63. e.V. des Germany: geriatrischen Patienten 2013. Baden-Württembergische Stuttgart, Krankenhausgesellschaft e.V. 2013. https://www.bwkg.de/aufgabenservices/publikationen/identifikation-des-geriatrischen-

patienten/index.php?eID=tx_securedownloads&p=243&u=0&g=0&t=1629904746&hash=7fd4 ef2f074b090e3971c28cf250c10940b9156a&file=/fileadmin/default/Dateien/Dokumente/Publik ationen/BWKG_Arbeitshilfe_IdentifikationgerPatient_aktualisiert2021.pdf (Zuletzt abgerufen am 01.04. 2021).

64. Groening M, Schwarz T, Lock G. Versorgung älterer Notfallpatienten: Hightouch statt Hightech. *Dtsch Arztebl International* 2013; **110**(7): 262-5.

65. Blomaard LC, de Groot B, Lucke JA, et al. Implementation of the acutely presenting older patient (APOP) screening program in routine emergency department care. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2021: 1-9.

66. World Health Organization. Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Geneva, Swizerland: World Health Organization. 2020. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19---final-report-1100hr-28feb2020-11mar-update.pdf?sfvrsn=1a13fda0_2&download=true (Zuletzt abgerufen am 10.03.2021)

67. Perrotta F, Corbi G, Mazzeo G, et al. COVID-19 and the elderly: insights into pathogenesis and clinical decision-making. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020; **32**(8): 1599-608.

68. Polidori MC, Sies H, Ferrucci L, Benzing T. COVID-19 mortality as a fingerprint of biological age. *Ageing research reviews* 2021: 101308.

69. Lithander FE, Neumann S, Tenison E, et al. COVID-19 in older people: a rapid clinical review. *Age and Ageing* 2020; **49**(4): 501-15.

70. Bonanad C, García-Blas S, Tarazona-Santabalbina F, et al. The Effect of Age on Mortality in Patients With COVID-19: A Meta-Analysis With 611,583 Subjects. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2020; **21**(7): 915-8.

71. Chen R, Liang W, Jiang M, et al. Risk Factors of Fatal Outcome in Hospitalized Subjects With Coronavirus Disease 2019 From a Nationwide Analysis in China. *Chest* 2020; **158**(1): 97-105.

72. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet* 2020; **395**(10229): 1054-62.

73. Wirth R, Becker C, Djukic M, et al. COVID-19 im Alter – Die geriatrische Perspektive. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2021; **54**(2): 152-60.

74. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. COVID-19 rapid guideline: critical care in adults. London, United Kingdom: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2020. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng159/resources/covid19-rapid-guideline-critical-care-in-adults-pdf-66141848681413 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 03.03.2021)

75. Marckmann G, Neitzke G, Schildmann J, et al. Entscheidungen über die Zuteilung intensivmedizinischer Ressourcen im Kontext der COVID-19-Pandemie. *Medizinische Klinik - Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin* 2020; **115**(6): 477-85.

76. Michels G, Sieber CC, Marx G, et al. Geriatrische Intensivmedizin. *Medizinische Klinik* - *Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin* 2020; **115**(5): 393-411.

77. Pilotto A, Azzini M, Cella A, et al. The multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) for the prognostic stratification of older inpatients with COVID-19: A multicenter prospective observational cohort study. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 2021; **95**: 104415-.

78. Finke M, Pin M, Bernhard M, Rovas A, Pavenstädt HJ, Kümpers P. Isolationsmaßnahmen, Diagnostik und Organisation in deutschen Notaufnahmen während der COVID-19-Pandemie 2020. *Medizinische Klinik - Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin* 2021.

79. Slagman A, Behringer W, Greiner F, et al. Medizinische Notfälle während der COVID-19-Pandemie. *Dtsch Arztebl Int* 2020; **117**(34–34): 545-52.

80. Ramshorn-Zimmer A, Schröder R, Fakler J, Stöhr R, Kohls E, Gries A. Notaufnahme während der Coronapandemie: Weniger Non-COVID-19-Notfälle. *Dtsch Arztebl International* 2020; **117**(24): 1201-.

81. Hartnett KP, Kite-Powell A, DeVies J, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on emergency department visits—United States, January 1, 2019–May 30, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 2020; **69**(23): 699.

82. Pfefferbaum B, North CS. Mental Health and the Covid-19 Pandemic. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2020; **383**(6): 510-2.

83. Bäuerle A, Steinbach J, Schweda A, et al. Mental Health Burden of the COVID-19 Outbreak in Germany: Predictors of Mental Health Impairment. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health* 2020; **11**: 2150132720953682.

84. Epifanio MS, Andrei F, Mancini G, et al. The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic and Lockdown Measures on Quality of Life among Italian General Population. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2021; **10**(2): 289.

85. Hay JW, Gong CL, Jiao X, et al. A US Population Health Survey on the Impact of COVID-19 Using the EQ-5D-5L. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2021.

86. Crook H, Raza S, Nowell J, Young M, Edison P. Long covid—mechanisms, risk factors, and management. *BMJ* 2021; **374**: n1648.

87. Shah W, Hillman T, Playford ED, Hishmeh L. Managing the long term effects of covid-19: summary of NICE, SIGN, and RCGP rapid guideline. *BMJ* 2021; **372**: n136.

88. Cosco TD, Best J, Davis D, et al. What is the relationship between validated frailty scores and mortality for adults with COVID-19 in acute hospital care? A systematic review. *Age and Ageing* 2021.

89. Halpin SJ, McIvor C, Whyatt G, et al. Postdischarge symptoms and rehabilitation needs in survivors of COVID-19 infection: A cross-sectional evaluation. *Journal of Medical Virology* 2021; **93**(2): 1013-22.

90. Garrigues E, Janvier P, Kherabi Y, et al. Post-discharge persistent symptoms and health-related quality of life after hospitalization for COVID-19. *Journal of Infection* 2020; **81**(6): e4-e6.

91. Groening M, Grossmann F, Hilmer T, Singler K, Somasundaram R, Wilke P. Ältere Notfallpatienten: Blickschärfung notwendig. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt* 2017; **114**(11): 512-5.

92. Zimmermann M, Brokmann J, Gräff I, Kumle B, Wilke P, Gries A. Zentrale Notaufnahme–Update 2016. *Der Anaesthesist* 2016; **65**(4): 243-9.

93. Altemeyer K-H, Dirks B, Schindler K. Die Zentrale Notaufnahme als Mittelpunkt zukünftiger Notfallmedizin. *Notfall+ Rettungsmedizin* 2007; **10**(5): 325-8.

94. Fleischmann T. Schnittstelle Zentrale Notaufnahme. *DMW-Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift* 2016; **141**(01): 19-23.

95. Gries A, Bernhard M, Helm M, Brokmann J, Gräsner J-T. Zukunft der Notfallmedizin in Deutschland 2.0. *Der Anaesthesist* 2017; **66**(5): 307-17.

96. Dodt C, Behringer W, Bürgi U, Wrede C. Notfallmedizin im Jahr 2015 in Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz. *Notfall* + *Rettungsmedizin* 2015; **18**(2): 87-93.

97. Riessen R, Gries A, Seekamp A, Dodt C, Kumle B, Busch H-J. Positionspapier für eine Reform der medizinischen Notfallversorgung in deutschen Notaufnahmen. *Notfall+ Rettungsmedizin* 2015; **18**(3): 174-85.

98. Greiner F, Slagman A, Stallmann C, et al. Routinedaten aus Notaufnahmen: Unterschiedliche Dokumentationsanforderungen, Abrechnungsmodalitäten und Datenhalter bei identischem Ort der Leistungserbringung. *Das Gesundheitswesen* 2020; **82**(S 01): S72-S82.

99. Stillfried D, Czihal T, Erhar M. Rolle der Krankenhäuser in der Notfallversorgung in Deutschland: Daten belegen massiven Reformbedarf. *Zentralinstitut für die kassen-173* 2017; **12**.

100. DIVI e.V. DIVI-Experten widersprechen neuer KV-Studie: "Für die Ärzte in den Notaufnahmen ist Zi-Paper ein Schlag ins Gesicht – Notaufnahmen leisten unverzichtbare Arbeit!". Berlin, Germany: Deutsche Interdisziplinäre Vereinigung für Intensiv- und

Notfallmedizin e.V. (DIVI). https://www.divi.de/aktuelle-meldungen-intensivmedizin/diviexperten-widersprechen-neuer-kv-studie-fuer-die-aerzte-in-den-notaufnahmen-ist-zi-paper-

ein-schlag-ins-gesicht-notaufnahmen-leisten-unverzichtbare-arbeit (Zuletzt abgerufen am 07.01.2021)

101. DGINA. Geringe Auslastung von Notaufnahmen? DGINA widerspricht Zi-Paper. Berlin, Germany: Deutsche Gesellschaft Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Akutmedizin e.V. 2017. https://www.dgina.de/news/geringe-auslastung-von-notaufnahmen-dgina-widerspricht-zi-paper_62 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 07.01.2021).

102. Berchet C. Emergency care services: Trends, Drivers and Interventions to Manage the Demand. *OECD Health Working Papers*, No. 83. OECD Publishing, Paris, 2015.

103. Searle J, Muller R, Slagman A, et al. Überfüllung der Notaufnahmen. Notfall+ Rettungsmedizin 2015; **18**(4): 306-15.

104. Fleischmann T. Wege aus der Notaufnahme-wann ambulant, stationär oder intensiv?-Grundlage ist eine adäquate Risikostratifikation. *Der Klinikarzt* 2009; **38**(01): 26-30.

105. Deutscher Bundestag. Gutachten S. des Sachverständigenrates zur Begutachtung der Entwicklung im Gesundheitswesen. *Kooperation und Verantwortung Voraussetzungen einer zielorientierten Gesundheitsversorgung Bundestag Drucksache*. Bonn, Germany: Bundesministerium für Gesundheit. http://dipbt.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/16/063/1606339.pdf (Zuletzt abgerufen am 06.01.2021)

106. Bloom DE. 7 billion and counting. Science 2011; 333(6042): 562-9.

107. United Nations. World population prospects 2019: Highlights. New York (US): United Nations Department for Economic and Social Affairs. 20219. https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2019_Highlights.pdf (Zuletzt abgerufen am 09.12.2020)

108. Destatis. Eckdaten der Krankenhauspatientinnen und -patienten. Wiesbaden, Germany: Statistisches Bundesamt. 2020. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Gesundheit/Krankenhaeuser/Tabellen/entlassene-patienten-eckdaten.html (Zuletzt abgerufen am 31.01. 2020).

109. Eurostat. Population structure and ageing. European Union: Eurostat. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php?title=Population_structure_and_ageing (Zuletzt abgerufen am 24.08.2021)

110. Toh HJ, Lim ZY, Yap P, Tang T. Factors associated with prolonged length of stay in older patients. *Singapore medical journal* 2017; **58**(3): 134.

111.Robert Koch-Institut.Gesundheit in Deutschland.Berlin, Germany:Robert Koch-Institut.2015.p.516.

https://edoc.rki.de/bitstream/handle/176904/3248/29PIbXnI56Jfc.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed =y (Zuletzt abgerufen am 03.01.2021)

112. Schulz E, Leidl R, König H-H. The impact of ageing on hospital care and long-term care—the example of Germany. *Health Policy* 2004; **67**(1): 57-74.

113.World Health Organization. Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce2030.Geneva,Swizerland:WorldHealthOrganization.https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/250368/9789241511131-

eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Zuletzt abgerufen am 01.04.2021)

114. Kaduszkiewicz H, Teichert U, van den Bussche H. Ärztemangel in der hausärztlichen Versorgung auf dem Lande und im Öffentlichen Gesundheitsdienst. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt-Gesundheitsforschung-Gesundheitsschutz* 2018; **61**(2): 187-94.

115. McNamara RM, Rousseau E, Sanders AB. Geriatric emergency medicine: a survey of practicing emergency physicians. *Annals of emergency medicine* 1992; **21**(7): 796-801.

116. Sardone R, Lozupone M, Panza F. Age-related hearing loss and speech perception disorder: the broken interface between healthcare professionals and older adults. Springer; 2020.

117. Schnitker L, Martin-Khan M, Beattie E, Gray L. Negative health outcomes and adverse events in older people attending emergency departments: a systematic review. *Australasian Emergency Nursing Journal* 2011; **14**(3): 141-62.

118. Campbell SE, Seymour DG, Primrose WR. A systematic literature review of factors affecting outcome in older medical patients admitted to hospital. *Age and ageing* 2004; **33**(2): 110-5.

119. Aminzadeh F, Dalziel WB. Older adults in the emergency department: a systematic review of patterns of use, adverse outcomes, and effectiveness of interventions. *Annals of emergency medicine* 2002; **39**(3): 238-47.

120. Driesen BE, Merten H, Wagner C, Bonjer HJ, Nanayakkara PW. Unplanned return presentations of older patients to the emergency department: a root cause analysis. *BMC geriatrics* 2020; **20**(1): 1-10.

121. Schuster S. Schnittstelle: Geriatrische Primär-und Notfallversorgung. *Pflegezeitschrift* 2019; **72**(10): 24-7.

122. Singler K. Der geriatrische Patient in der Notfallmedizin. *Geriatrie-Report* 2018; **13**(2): 12-5.

123. Polidori M, Nelles G, Senin U, Mecocci P. Age:Heterogeneity-Individuality. In: Roller-Wirnsberger R, Singler K, Polidori MC, eds. Learning Geriatric Medicine 1st ed. Cham, Swizerland: Springer Nature; 2018: 19-25.

124. Trentzsch H, Dodt C, Gehring C, Veser A, Jauch K-W, Prückner S. Analyse Der Behandlungszahlen in den Münchener Notaufnahmen des Jahres 2013/2014. *Das Gesundheitswesen* 2020; **82**(05): 431-40.

125. Veser A, Sieber F, Groß S, Prückner S. The demographic impact on the demand for emergency medical services in the urban and rural regions of Bavaria, 2012–2032. *Journal of Public Health* 2015; **23**(4): 181-8.

126. Vilpert S. Konsultationen in Schweizer Notfallstationen (Obsan Bulletin 3/2013). *Schweizer Gesundheitsobervatorium, Neuchâtel* 2013.

127. Onder G, Vetrano DL. The Complexity of the Geriatric Patient. In: Roller-Wirnsberger R, Singler K, Polidori MC, eds. Learning Geriatric Medicine. Cham, Swizerland: Springer Nature; 2018: 57-64.

128. Kirkwood TB. Understanding the odd science of aging. *Cell* 2005; **120**(4): 437-47.

129. Franceschi C. Cell proliferation, cell death and aging. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 1989; **1**(1): 3-15.

130. Kojima G. Frailty as a predictor of future falls among community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2015; **16**(12): 1027-33.

131. Kojima G. Frailty as a predictor of hospitalisation among community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2016; **70**(7): 722-9.

132. Kojima G. Frailty as a predictor of nursing home placement among community-dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of geriatric physical therapy* 2018; **41**(1): 42-8.

133. Robertson DA, Savva GM, Kenny RA. Frailty and cognitive impairment—a review of the evidence and causal mechanisms. *Ageing research reviews* 2013; **12**(4): 840-51.

134. Kojima G, Taniguchi Y, Iliffe S, Walters K. Frailty as a predictor of Alzheimer disease, vascular dementia, and all dementia among community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2016; **17**(10): 881-8.

135. Soysal P, Veronese N, Thompson T, et al. Relationship between depression and frailty in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing research reviews* 2017; **36**: 78-87.

136. Mousa A, Savva GM, Mitnitski A, et al. Is frailty a stable predictor of mortality across time? Evidence from the Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies. *Age and ageing* 2018; **47**(5): 721-7.

137. Dent E, Kowal P, Hoogendijk EO. Frailty measurement in research and clinical practice: a review. *European journal of internal medicine* 2016; **31**: 3-10.
138. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2001; **56**(3): M146-M57.

139. Rockwood K, Mitnitski A. Frailty in relation to the accumulation of deficits. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2007; **62**(7): 722-7.

140. Collard RM, Boter H, Schoevers RA, Oude Voshaar RC. Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. *Journal of the american geriatrics society* 2012; **60**(8): 1487-92.

141. He B, Ma Y, Wang C, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for frailty among communitydwelling older people in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The journal of nutrition, health* & *aging* 2019; **23**(5): 442-50.

142. Biritwum R, Minicuci N, Yawson A, et al. Prevalence of and factors associated with frailty and disability in older adults from China, Ghana, India, Mexico, Russia and South Africa. *Maturitas* 2016; **91**: 8-18.

143. Bandeen-Roche K, Seplaki CL, Huang J, et al. Frailty in older adults: a nationally representative profile in the United States. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* 2015; **70**(11): 1427-34.

144. Kojima G. Increased healthcare costs associated with frailty among communitydwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 2019; **84**: 103898.

145. Kojima G, Iliffe S, Jivraj S, Walters K. Association between frailty and quality of life among community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2016; **70**(7): 716-21.

146. Hoogendijk EO, Suanet B, Dent E, Deeg DJ, Aartsen MJ. Adverse effects of frailty on social functioning in older adults: Results from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. *Maturitas* 2016; **83**: 45-50.

147. Davies BR, Baxter H, Rooney J, et al. Frailty assessment in primary health care and its association with unplanned secondary care use: a rapid review. *BJGP open* 2018; **2**(1): bjgpopen18X101325.

148. Franceschi C, Campisi J. Chronic Inflammation (Inflammaging) and Its Potential Contribution to Age-Associated Diseases. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* 2014; **69**(Suppl_1): S4-S9.

149. Ferrucci L, Fabbri E. Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 2018; **15**(9): 505-22.

150. Bonomini F, Rodella LF, Rezzani R. Metabolic syndrome, aging and involvement of oxidative stress. *Aging Dis* 2015; **6**(2): 109-20.

151. Wilcox G. Insulin and insulin resistance. *Clinical biochemist reviews* 2005; **26**(2): 19.

152. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. *The Lancet* 2005; **365**(9468): 1415-28.

153. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Sayer AA. Sarcopenia. *The Lancet* 2019; **393**(10191): 2636-46.

154. Beaudart C, Zaaria M, Pasleau F, Reginster J-Y, Bruyère O. Health Outcomes of Sarcopenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLOS ONE* 2017; **12**(1): e0169548.

155. Tsekoura M, Kastrinis A, Katsoulaki M, Billis E, Gliatis J. Sarcopenia and Its Impact on Quality of Life. 2017; Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017. p. 213-8.

156. Mitchell GF. Effects of central arterial aging on the structure and function of the peripheral vasculature: implications for end-organ damage. *Journal of applied physiology* 2008; **105**(5): 1652-60.

157. Seals DR, Jablonski KL, Donato AJ. Aging and vascular endothelial function in humans. *Clinical science* 2011; **120**(9): 357-75.

158. Sun Z. Aging, arterial stiffness, and hypertension. *Hypertension* 2015; **65**(2): 252-6.

159. Gupta V, Lipsitz LA. Orthostatic hypotension in the elderly: diagnosis and treatment. *The American journal of medicine* 2007; **120**(10): 841-7.

160. Buford TW. Hypertension and aging. *Ageing research reviews* 2016; **26**: 96-111.

161. Ricci F, De Caterina R, Fedorowski A. Orthostatic hypotension: epidemiology, prognosis, and treatment. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2015; **66**(7): 848-60.

162. Deary IJ, Corley J, Gow AJ, et al. Age-associated cognitive decline. *British Medical Bulletin* 2009; **92**(1): 135-52.

163. Gauthier S, Reisberg B, Zaudig M, et al. Mild cognitive impairment. *The Lancet* 2006; **367**(9518): 1262-70.

164. Buchman AS, Boyle PA, Wilson RS, Tang Y, Bennett DA. Frailty is Associated With Incident Alzheimer's Disease and Cognitive Decline in the Elderly. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 2007; **69**(5): 483-9.

165. Polidori M, Nelles G, Senin U, Mecocci P. Cognitive Decline. In: Regina Roller-Wirnsberger KS, Maria Cristina Polidori, ed. Learning Geriatric Medicine. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature; 2018: 68-80.

166. Sanford AM, Morley JE, Berg-Weger M, et al. High prevalence of geriatric syndromes in older adults. *PLoS One* 2020; **15**(6): e0233857.

167. Buurman BM, Hoogerduijn JG, de Haan RJ, et al. Geriatric conditions in acutely hospitalized older patients: prevalence and one-year survival and functional decline. *PLoS One* 2011; **6**(11): e26951.

168. van Seben R, Reichardt LA, Aarden JJ, et al. The Course of Geriatric Syndromes in Acutely Hospitalized Older Adults: The Hospital-ADL Study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2019; **20**(2): 152-8.e2.

169. Lakhan P, Jones M, Wilson A, Courtney M, Hirdes J, Gray LC. A prospective cohort study of geriatric syndromes among older medical patients admitted to acute care hospitals. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2011; **59**(11): 2001-8.

170. Biram R. The association of geriatric syndromes with hospital outcomes. *Journal of hospital medicine* 2017; **12**(2): 83.

171. Anpalahan M, Gibson S. Geriatric syndromes as predictors of adverse outcomes of hospitalization. *Internal medicine journal* 2008; **38**(1): 16-23.

172. Moore G, Hartley P, Romero-Ortuno R. Health and social factors associated with a delayed discharge amongst inpatients in acute geriatric wards: A retrospective observational study. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 2018; **18**(4): 530-7.

173. Wang S-Y, Shamliyan TA, Talley KM, Ramakrishnan R, Kane RL. Not just specific diseases: systematic review of the association of geriatric syndromes with hospitalization or nursing home admission. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 2013; **57**(1): 16-26.

174. Shin J, Han SH, Choi J, Kim YS, Lee J. Importance of Geriatric Syndrome Screening within 48 Hours of Hospitalization for Identifying Readmission Risk: A Retrospective Study in an Acute-Care Hospital. *Annals of geriatric medicine and research* 2020; **24**(2): 83-90.

175. Hwang U, Morrison RS. The geriatric emergency department. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2007; **55**(11): 1873-6.

176. van Seben R, Covinsky KE, Reichardt LA, et al. Insight Into the Posthospital Syndrome: A 3-Month Longitudinal Follow up on Geriatric Syndromes and Their Association With Functional Decline, Readmission, and Mortality. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2020; **75**(7): 1403-10.

177. Chaudhry SI, McAvay G, Ning Y, Allore HG, Newman AB, Gill TM. Geriatric impairments and disability: the cardiovascular health study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2010; **58**(9): 1686-92.

178. Hoogerduijn JG, Schuurmans MJ, Duijnstee MS, de Rooij SE, Grypdonck MF. A systematic review of predictors and screening instruments to identify older hospitalized patients at risk for functional decline. *Journal of clinical nursing* 2007; **16**(1): 46-57.

179. Stubbs B, Schofield P, Patchay S. Mobility Limitations and Fall-Related Factors Contribute to the Reduced Health-Related Quality of Life in Older Adults With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. *Pain Practice* 2016; **16**(1): 80-9.

180. Yang YC, Lin MH, Wang CS, et al. Geriatric syndromes and quality of life in older adults with diabetes. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2019; **19**(6): 518-24.

181. Koroukian SM, Schiltz N, Warner DF, et al. Combinations of Chronic Conditions, Functional Limitations, and Geriatric Syndromes that Predict Health Outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2016; **31**(6): 630-7.

182. Weyrich P, Christ M, Celebi N, Riessen R. Triagesysteme in der Notaufnahme. *Medizinische Klinik-Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin* 2012; **107**(1): 67-79.

183. Singler K, Heppner HJ, Skutetzky A, Sieber C, Christ M, Thiem U. Predictive validity of the identification of seniors at risk screening tool in a German emergency department setting. *Gerontology* 2014; **60**(5): 413-9.

184. Edmans J, Bradshaw L, Gladman JR, et al. The Identification of Seniors at Risk (ISAR) score to predict clinical outcomes and health service costs in older people discharged from UK acute medical units. *Age and ageing* 2013; **42**(6): 747-53.

185. Di Bari M, Salvi F, Roberts AT, et al. Prognostic stratification of elderly patients in the emergency department: a comparison between the "Identification of Seniors at Risk" and the "Silver Code". *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2012; **67**(5): 544-50.

186. McCusker J, Verdon J, Tousignant P, De Courval LP, Dendukuri N, Belzile E. Rapid emergency department intervention for older people reduces risk of functional decline: results of a multicenter randomized trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2001; **49**(10): 1272-81.

187. Scharf A-C, Gronewold J, Dahlmann C, et al. Health outcome of older hospitalized patients in internal medicine environments evaluated by Identification of Seniors at Risk (ISAR) screening and geriatric assessment. *BMC geriatrics* 2019; **19**(1): 221.

188. Groening M, Wilke P. Triage, Screening und Assessment des alten Menschen in der Notaufnahme. *Medizinische Klinik - Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin* 2020; **115**(1): 8-15.

189. Pilotto A, Cella A, Pilotto A, et al. Three decades of comprehensive geriatric assessment: evidence coming from different healthcare settings and specific clinical conditions. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2017; **18**(2): 192. e1-. e11. 190. Ellis G, Gardner M, Tsiachristas A, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older adults admitted to hospital. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017; (9).

191. Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR, Grotz RC. Progress in development of the index of ADL. *The gerontologist* 1970; **10**(1_Part_1): 20-30.

192. Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *The gerontologist* 1969; **9**(3_Part_1): 179-86.

193. Linn BS, LINN MW, Gurel L. Cumulative illness rating scale. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1968; **16**(5): 622-6.

194. Pfeiffer E. A short portable mental status questionnaire for the assessment of organic brain deficit in elderly patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1975; **23**(10): 433-41.

195. Bliss M, McLaren R, Exton-Smith A. Mattresses for preventing pressure sores in geriatric patients. *Monthly Bulletin of the Ministry of Health and the Public Health Laboratory Service* 1966; **25**: 238.

196. Guigoz Y, Vellas B. The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) for grading the nutritional state of elderly patients: presentation of the MNA, history and validation. Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser Clin Perform Programme; 1999; 1999. p. 3-11.

197. Sancarlo D, D'Onofrio G, Franceschi M, et al. Validation of a Modified-Multidimensional Prognostic Index (m-MPI) including the Mini Nutritional Assessment Short-Form (MNA-SF) for the prediction of one-year mortality in hospitalized elderly patients. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging* 2011; **15**(3): 169-73.

198. Rubenstein LZ, Harker JO, Salvà A, Guigoz Y, Vellas B. Screening for undernutrition in geriatric practice: developing the short-form mini-nutritional assessment (MNA-SF). *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2001; **56**(6): M366-M72.

199. Zora S, Guerrero KLQ, Veronese N, et al. Implementation of the SELFY-MPI in five European Countries: a multicenter international feasibility study. *Geriatric Care* 2019; **5**(3).

200. Pilotto A, Veronese N, Daragjati J, et al. Using the multidimensional prognostic index to predict clinical outcomes of hospitalized older persons: a prospective, multicenter, international study. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* 2019; **74**(10): 1643-9.

201. Volpato S, Bazzano S, Fontana A, Ferrucci L, Pilotto A. Multidimensional prognostic index predicts mortality and length of stay during hospitalization in the older patients: a multicenter prospective study. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2015; **70**(3): 325-31.

202. Pilotto A, Sancarlo D, Pellegrini F, et al. The Multidimensional Prognostic Index predicts in-hospital length of stay in older patients: a multicentre prospective study. *Age and ageing* 2016; **45**(1): 90-6.

203. Volpato S, Daragjati J, Simonato M, et al. Change in the multidimensional prognostic index score during hospitalization in older patients. *Rejuvenation research* 2016; **19**(3): 244-51.

204. Pickert L, Meyer AM, Becker I, et al. Role of a multidimensional prognosis in-hospital monitoring for older patients with prolonged stay. *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 2021; **n/a**(n/a): e13989.

205. Meyer AM, Becker I, Siri G, et al. New associations of the Multidimensional Prognostic Index. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2018: 1-8.

206. Meyer AM, Siri G, Becker I, et al. The Multidimensional Prognostic Index in general practice: One-year follow-up study. *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 2019; **73**(12): e13403.

207. Senesi B, Prete C, Siri G, et al. Multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) predicts successful application for disability social benefits in older people. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020: 1-7.

208. Pilotto A, Addante F, Ferrucci L, et al. The multidimensional prognostic index predicts short-and long-term mortality in hospitalized geriatric patients with pneumonia. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2009; **64**(8): 880-7.

209. Govoni B, Zurlo A, De Giorgio R, Cultrera R, Volpato S. Clostridium difficile infection in a Geriatric Care Unit: clinical characteristics and prognosis. *JOURNAL OF GERONTOLOGY AND GERIATRICS* 2020.

210. Pilotto A, Addante F, Franceschi M, et al. Multidimensional Prognostic Index based on a comprehensive geriatric assessment predicts short-term mortality in older patients with heart failure. *Circulation: Heart Failure* 2010; **3**(1): 14-20.

211. Custodero C, Gandolfo F, Cella A, et al. Multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) predicts non-invasive ventilation failure in older adults with acute respiratory failure. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 2020: 104327.

212. Pilotto A, Ferrucci L, Scarcelli C, et al. Usefulness of the comprehensive geriatric assessment in older patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding: a two-year follow-up study. *Digestive Diseases* 2007; **25**(2): 124-8.

213. Pilotto A, Sancarlo D, Aucella F, et al. Addition of the multidimensional prognostic index to the estimated glomerular filtration rate improves prediction of long-term all-cause mortality in older patients with chronic kidney disease. *Rejuvenation research* 2012; **15**(1): 82-8.

214. Noetzel N, Meyer AM, Siri G, et al. The impact of oral health on prognosis of older multimorbid inpatients: the 6-month follow up MPI oral health study (MPIOH). *European Geriatric Medicine* 2020: 1-11.

215. Pilotto A, D'Onofrio G, Panza F, et al. Treatment of late-life major depressive disorder with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors improves the multidimensional prognostic index. *Journal of clinical psychopharmacology* 2012; **32**(5): 726-9.

216. Veronese N, Koyanagi A, Smith L, et al. Relationship between multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) and incident depressive symptoms in older people: Findings from the irish longitudinal study on ageing. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2020.

217. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Daragjati J, Fratiglioni L, et al. Using the Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) to improve cost-effectiveness of interventions in multimorbid frail older persons: results and final recommendations from the MPI_AGE European Project. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020: 1-8.

218. Pilotto A, Polidori MC, Veronese N, et al. Association of antidementia drugs and mortality in community-dwelling frail older patients with dementia: the role of mortality risk assessment. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2018; **19**(2): 162-8.

219. Pilotto A, Gallina P, Copetti M, et al. Warfarin treatment and all-cause mortality in community-dwelling older adults with atrial fibrillation: a retrospective observational study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2016; **64**(7): 1416-24.

220. Pilotto A, Panza F, Copetti M, et al. Statin treatment and mortality in communitydwelling frail older patients with diabetes mellitus: a retrospective observational study. *PLoS One* 2015; **10**(6): e0130946.

221. Pilotto A, Gallina P, Panza F, et al. Relation of statin use and mortality in communitydwelling frail older patients with coronary artery disease. *The American journal of cardiology* 2016; **118**(11): 1624-30.

222. Bureau M-L, Liuu E, Christiaens L, et al. Using a multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) based on comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) to predict mortality in elderly undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *International journal of cardiology* 2017; **236**: 381-6.

223. van Mourik MS, van der Velde N, Mannarino G, et al. Value of a comprehensive geriatric assessment for predicting one-year outcomes in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation: results from the CGA-TAVI multicentre registry. *Journal of geriatric cardiology: JGC* 2019; **16**(6): 468.

224. Veronese N, Cella A, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, et al. Enteral tube feeding and mortality in hospitalized older patients: A multicenter longitudinal study. *Clinical Nutrition* 2020; **39**(5): 1608-12.

225. Sbrana A, Antognoli R, Pasqualetti G, et al. Effectiveness of Multi-Prognostic Index in older patients with advanced malignancies treated with immunotherapy. *Journal of geriatric oncology* 2020; **11**(3): 503-7.

226. Pata G, Bianchetti L, Rota M, et al. Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) score has the major impact on outcome prediction in elderly surgical patients with colorectal cancer: The FRAGIS study. *Journal of Surgical Oncology* 2020.

227. Pilotto A, Rengo F, Marchionni N, et al. Comparing the prognostic accuracy for allcause mortality of frailty instruments: a multicentre 1-year follow-up in hospitalized older patients. *PloS one* 2012; **7**(1): e29090.

228. Yourman LC, Lee SJ, Schonberg MA, Widera EW, Smith AK. Prognostic indices for older adults: a systematic review. *Jama* 2012; **307**(2): 182-92.

229. Meyer AM, Becker I, Siri G, et al. The prognostic significance of geriatric syndromes and resources. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020; **32**(1): 115-24.

230. Fayers PM, Machin D. Quality of life: the assessment, analysis and interpretation of patient-reported outcomes: John Wiley & Sons; 2013.

231. Haraldstad K, Wahl A, Andenæs R, et al. A systematic review of quality of life research in medicine and health sciences. *Quality of Life Research* 2019; **28**(10): 2641-50.

232. Whoqol Group. The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. *Social science & medicine* 1995; **41**(10): 1403-9.

233. Karimi M, Brazier J. Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference? *PharmacoEconomics* 2016; **34**(7): 645-9.

234. Hays R, Reeve B, Kellewo J, Heggenhougen H, Quah S. Epidemiology and demography in public health. San Diego: Academic Press; 2010.

235. Torrance GW. Utility approach to measuring health-related quality of life. *Journal of chronic diseases* 1987; **40**(6): 593-603.

236. Ebrahim S. Clinical and public health perspectives and applications of health-related quality of life measurement. *Social science & medicine (1982)* 1995; **41**(10): 1383-94.

237. Gold M, Siegel J, Russell L, Weinstein M, Freemantle N. Cost-effectiveness in health and medicine. *BMJ-British Medical Journal-International Edition* 1997; **315**(7109): 689-.

238. Daire R, Donabédian H, Tambouras V, Sagot C. [Quality of life in palliative care]. *Soins Gerontologie* 2019; **24**(139): 25-7.

239. Blanchflower DG, Oswald AJ. Is well-being U-shaped over the life cycle? *Social science* & *medicine* 2008; **66**(8): 1733-49.

240. Stone AA, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Deaton A. A snapshot of the age distribution of psychological well-being in the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of sciences* 2010; **107**(22): 9985-90.

241. Gwozdz W, Sousa-Poza A. Ageing, health and life satisfaction of the oldest old: An analysis for Germany. *Social Indicators Research* 2010; **97**(3): 397-417.

242. Ulloa BFL, Møller V, Sousa-Poza A. How does subjective well-being evolve with age? A literature review. *Journal of Population Ageing* 2013; **6**(3): 227-46.

243. Carstensen LL, Pasupathi M, Mayr U, Nesselroade JR. Emotional experience in everyday life across the adult life span. *Journal of personality and social psychology* 2000; **79**(4): 644.

244. Herschbach P. The" Well-being paradox" in quality-of-life research. *Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, Medizinische Psychologie* 2002; **52**(3-4): 141-50.

245. Schilling OK. Cohort-and age-related decline in elder's life satisfaction: is there really a paradox? *European Journal of Ageing* 2005; **2**(4): 254-63.

246. Hansen T, Slagsvold B. The age and subjective well-being paradox revisited: A multidimensional perspective. *Norsk epidemiologi* 2012; **22**(2).

247. Gerstorf D, Ram N, Röcke C, Lindenberger U, Smith J. Decline in life satisfaction in old age: longitudinal evidence for links to distance-to-death. *Psychology and aging* 2008; **23**(1): 154.

248. Vanleerberghe P, De Witte N, Claes C, Verté D. The association between frailty and quality of life when aging in place. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* 2019; **85**: 103915.

249. Bárrios H, Narciso S, Guerreiro M, Maroco J, Logsdon R, de Mendonça A. Quality of life in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Aging & mental health* 2013; **17**(3): 287-92.

250. Teng E, Tassniyom K, Lu PH. Reduced quality-of-life ratings in mild cognitive impairment: analyses of subject and informant responses. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2012; **20**(12): 1016-25.

251. Cosco TD, Prina AM, Perales J, Stephan BC, Brayne C. Operational definitions of successful aging: a systematic review. *International Psychogeriatrics* 2014; **26**(3): 373.

252. Dritsaki M, Achana F, Mason J, Petrou S. Methodological issues surrounding the use of baseline health-related quality of life data to inform trial-based economic evaluations of interventions within emergency and critical care settings: a systematic literature review. *Pharmacoeconomics* 2017; **35**(5): 501-15.

253. Chin MH, Jin L, Karrison TG, et al. Older patients' health-related quality of life around an episode of emergency illness. *Annals of emergency medicine* 1999; **34**(5): 595-603.

254. Hall AG, Schumacher JR, Brumback B, et al. Health-related quality of life among older patients following an emergency department visit and emergency department-to-home coaching intervention: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Care Coordination* 2017; **20**(4): 162-70.

255. Dresden SM, McCarthy DM, Engel KG, Courtney DM. Perceptions and expectations of health-related quality of life among geriatric patients seeking emergency care: a qualitative study. *BMC Geriatrics* 2019; **19**(1): 209.

256. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). *Quality of life research* 2011; **20**(10): 1727-36.

257. Devlin NJ, Brooks R. EQ-5D and the EuroQol group: past, present and future. *Applied health economics and health policy* 2017; **15**(2): 127-37.

258. Brazier J, Walters S, Nicholl J, Kohler B. Using the SF-36 and Euroqol on an elderly population. *Quality of Life Research* 1996; **5**(2): 195-204.

259. Lutomski JE, Krabbe PF, Bleijenberg N, et al. Measurement properties of the EQ-5D across four major geriatric conditions: Findings from TOPICS-MDS. *Health and quality of life outcomes* 2017; **15**(1): 45.

260. Li L, Nguyen K-H, Comans T, Scuffham P. Utility-based instruments for people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Value in Health* 2018; **21**(4): 471-81.

261. Naughton BJ, Moran MB, Kadah H, Heman-Ackah Y, Longano J. Delirium and Other Cognitive Impairment in Older Adults in an Emergency Department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 1995; **25**(6): 751-5.

262. Phyo AZZ, Freak-Poli R, Craig H, et al. Quality of life and mortality in the general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 2020; **20**(1): 1596.

263. Cavrini G, Broccoli S, Puccini A, Zoli M. EQ-5D as a predictor of mortality and hospitalization in elderly people. *Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation* 2012; **21**(2): 269-80.

264. Cavrini G, Zamberletti J, Zoli M. Could the EQ-5D be Used to Predict Mortality and Hospitalization Over a Long Term Period? *Social Indicators Research* 2016; **128**(2): 813-34.

265. Bilotta C, Bowling Ă, Nicolini P, et al. Older People's Quality of Life (OPQOL) scores and adverse health outcomes at a one-year follow-up. A prospective cohort study on older outpatients living in the community in Italy. *Health and quality of life outcomes* 2011; **9**(1): 72. 266. Rosenberg T, Montgomery P, Hay V, Lattimer R. Using frailty and quality of life measures in clinical care of the elderly in Canada to predict death, nursing home transfer and hospitalisation - the frailty and ageing cohort study. *BMJ open* 2019; **9**(11): e032712.

267. Parlevliet JL, MacNeil-Vroomen J, Buurman BM, de Rooij SE, Bosmans JE. Health-Related Quality of Life at Admission Is Associated with Postdischarge Mortality, Functional Decline, and Institutionalization in Acutely Hospitalized Older Medical Patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2016; **64**(4): 761-8.

268. Andreasen J, Gobbens RJ, Eriksen HH, Overvad K. Health-related quality of life at hospital discharge as a predictor for 6-month unplanned readmission and all-cause mortality of acutely admitted older medical patients. *Quality of Life Research* 2019; **28**(11): 3015-24.

269. Lin CF, Huang YH, Ju LY, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life Measured by EQ-5D in Relation to Hospital Stay and Readmission in Elderly Patients Hospitalized for Acute Illness. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2020; **17**(15).

270. European Commission. State of health in the EU: companion report 2017. 2017. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/state/docs/2017_companion_en.pdf (Zuletzt abgerufen am 29.01.2021)

271. Vespa J, Armstrong DM, Medina L. Demographic turning points for the United States: Population projections for 2020 to 2060: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US ...; 2018.

272. Pallin DJ, Espinola JA, Camargo Jr CA. US population aging and demand for inpatient services. *Journal of hospital medicine* 2014; **9**(3): 193-6.

273. Pallin DJ, Allen MB, Espinola JA, Camargo Jr CA, Bohan JS. Population aging and emergency departments: visits will not increase, lengths-of-stay and hospitalizations will. *Health Affairs* 2013; **32**(7): 1306-12.

274. Aldeen AZ, Courtney DM, Lindquist LA, Dresden SM, Gravenor SJ, Investigators GW. Geriatric emergency department innovations: preliminary data for the geriatric nurse liaison model. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2014; **62**(9): 1781-5.

275. Wallis M, Marsden E, Taylor A, et al. The Geriatric Emergency Department Intervention model of care: a pragmatic trial. *BMC Geriatrics* 2018; **18**(1): 297.

276. Ross MA, Hockenberry JM, Mutter R, Barrett M, Wheatley M, Pitts SR. Protocol-driven emergency department observation units offer savings, shorter stays, and reduced admissions. *Health affairs* 2013; **32**(12): 2149-56.

277. Wiler JL, Ross MA, Ginde AA. National study of emergency department observation services. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2011; **18**(9): 959-65.

278. Kelen GD, Scheulen JJ, Hill PM. Effect of an emergency department (ED) managed acute care unit on ED overcrowding and emergency medical services diversion. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2001; **8**(11): 1095-100.

279. Chandra A, Sieck S, Hocker M, et al. An observation unit may help improve an institution's Press Ganey satisfaction score. *Critical Pathways in Cardiology* 2011; **10**(2): 104-6.

280. Southerland LT, Hunold KM, Carpenter CR, Caterino JM, Mion LC. A National Dataset Analysis of older adults in emergency department observation units. *The American journal of emergency medicine* 2019; **37**(9): 1686-90.

281. Southerland LT, Vargas AJ, Nagaraj L, Gure TR, Caterino JM. An emergency department observation unit is a feasible setting for multidisciplinary geriatric assessments in compliance with the geriatric emergency department guidelines. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2018; **25**(1): 76-82.

282. Carpenter CR, Mooijaart SP. Geriatric screeners 2.0: time for a paradigm shift in emergency department vulnerability research. Wiley Online Library; 2020.

283. Heeren P, Hendrikx A, Ceyssens J, et al. Structure and processes of emergency observation units with a geriatric focus: a scoping review. *BMC Geriatrics* 2021; **21**(1): 95.

284. Conroy SP, Stevens T, Parker SG, Gladman JR. A systematic review of comprehensive geriatric assessment to improve outcomes for frail older people being rapidly discharged from acute hospital:'interface geriatrics'. *Age and Ageing* 2011; **40**(4): 436-43.

285. Lowthian JA, McGinnes RA, Brand CA, Barker AL, Cameron PA. Discharging older patients from the emergency department effectively: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Age and ageing* 2015; **44**(5): 761-70.

286. McCusker J, Verdon J. Do geriatric interventions reduce emergency department visits? A systematic review. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2006; **61**(1): 53-62.

287. Malik M, Moore Z, Patton D, O'Connor T, Nugent L. The impact of geriatric focused nurse assessment and intervention in the emergency department: a systematic review. *International emergency nursing* 2018; **37**: 52-60.

288. Gladman JR, Conroy SP, Ranhoff AH, Gordon AL. New horizons in the implementation and research of comprehensive geriatric assessment: knowing, doing and the 'know-do'gap. *Age and ageing* 2016; **45**(2): 194-200.

289. Roethler C, Adelman T, Parsons V. Assessing emergency nurses' geriatric knowledge and perceptions of their geriatric care. *Journal of Emergency Nursing* 2011; **37**(2): 132-7.

290. Lübke N. Geriatrisch-rehabilitative Versorgung in Deutschland. *Geriatrie up2date* 2021; **3**(01): 47-60.

291. Augurzky B, Hentschker C, Pilny A, Wübker A. Krankenhausreport 2018 Schriftenreihe zur Gesundheitsanalyse. 2020.

292. Bundesverband Geriatrie e. V. Weißbuch Geriatrie : Band I: Die Versorgung geriatrischer Patienten - Strukturen und Bedarf. Stuttgart, GERMANY: Kohlhammer Verlag; 2016.

293. Schuster S, Singler K, Lim S, Machner M, Döbler K, Dormann H. Quality indicators for a geriatric emergency care (GeriQ-ED)–an evidence-based delphi consensus approach to improve the care of geriatric patients in the emergency department. *Scandinavian journal of trauma, resuscitation and emergency medicine* 2020; **28**(1): 1-7.

294. Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. Primer on indicator development and application: measuring quality in health care. Michigan, USA: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations; 1990.

295. Sens B. Fischer B, Bastek A, Eckardt J, Kaczmarek D, Paschen U, Pietsch B, Rath S, Ruprecht T, Thomeczek C, Veit C, Wenzlaff P. *Begriffe und Konzepte des Qualitätsmanagements-3 Auflage GMS Med Inform Biom Epidemiol* 2007; **3**(1): 2007-3.

296. Schuster S, Singler K, Dormann H. GeriQ – Entwicklung von Qualitätsindikatoren für die Versorgung von geriatrischen Notfallpatienten. In: Deutsche Gesellschaft Interdisziplinäre Notfall- und Akutmedizin (DGINA) e.V., editor.; 2017.

297. Salvi F, Belluigi A, Cherubini A. Predictive Validity of Different Modified Versions of the Identification of Seniors At Risk. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2013; **61**(3): 462-4.

298. Warburton RN, Parke B, Church W, McCusker J. Identification of seniors at risk: process evaluation of a screening and referral program for patients aged≥ 75 in a community hospital emergency department. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance* 2004. 299. Hobert MA, Bernhard FP, Bettecken K, Sartor J, Maetzler W, Jamour M. Validierung des Geriatrie-Checks in einer Kohorte von stationären neurologischen Patienten. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 2019; **52**(2): 172-8.

300. Baier N, Geissler A, Bech M, et al. Emergency and urgent care systems in Australia, Denmark, England, France, Germany and the Netherlands – Analyzing organization, payment and reforms. *Health Policy* 2019; **123**(1): 1-10.

301. de Gelder J, Lucke JA, Blomaard LC, et al. Optimization of the APOP screener to predict functional decline or mortality in older emergency department patients: Cross-validation in four prospective cohorts. *Experimental Gerontology* 2018; **110**: 253-9.

302. Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum. APOP screener. Leiden, Neverlands: Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum. 2021. https://screener.apop.eu/ (Zuletzt abgerufen am 11.05.2021).

303. Weßling A. INKA – eine interdiszplinäre Station für ältere Notfallpatienten. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* 2012; **137**(48): 2471-.

304. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2020; **382**(8): 727-33.

305. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Weekly Epidemiological Update. Geneva, Swizerland: World Health Organization; 2021. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-

reports/20210817_weekly_epi_update_53.pdf?sfvrsn=43cc48da_8&download=true (Zuletzt abgerufen am 23.08.2021)

306. Höppner S. Coronavirus: How to determine when the pandemic ends. Bonn, Germany: Deutsche Welle. 2021. https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-how-to-determine-when-the-pandemic-ends/a-57599876 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 22.06.2021)

307. Wiersinga WJ, Rhodes A, Cheng AC, Peacock SJ, Prescott HC. Pathophysiology, transmission, diagnosis, and treatment of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a review. *Jama* 2020; **324**(8): 782-93.

308. Guan W-j, Ni Z-y, Hu Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. *New England journal of medicine* 2020; **382**(18): 1708-20.

309. Rothe C, Schunk M, Sothmann P, et al. Transmission of 2019-nCoV infection from an asymptomatic contact in Germany. *New England journal of medicine* 2020; **382**(10): 970-1.

310. Sanders JM, Monogue ML, Jodlowski TZ, Cutrell JB. Pharmacologic Treatments for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): A Review. *JAMA* 2020; **323**(18): 1824-36.

311. World Health Organization. COVID-19: Critical preparedness, readiness and response. Geneva, Swizerland: World Health Organization. 2020. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/covid-strategy-update-

14april2020.pdf?sfvrsn=29da3ba0_19&download=true (Zuletzt abgerufen am 31.03.2021)

312. Corman VM, Muth D, Niemeyer D, Drosten C. Chapter Eight - Hosts and Sources of Endemic Human Coronaviruses. In: Kielian M, Mettenleiter TC, Roossinck MJ, eds. Advances in Virus Research: Academic Press; 2018: 163-88.

313. Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature medicine* 2020; **26**(4): 450-2.

314. Morawska L, Milton DK. It Is Time to Address Airborne Transmission of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2020; **71**(9): 2311-3.

315. Leung TYM, Chan AYL, Chan EW, et al. Short- and potential long-term adverse health outcomes of COVID-19: a rapid review. *Emerging Microbes & Infections* 2020; **9**(1): 2190-9.

316. Baig AM, Khaleeq A, Ali U, Syeda H. Evidence of the COVID-19 Virus Targeting the CNS: Tissue Distribution, Host-Virus Interaction, and Proposed Neurotropic Mechanisms. *ACS Chem Neurosci* 2020; **11**(7): 995-8.

317. Vaira LA, Salzano G, Deiana G, De Riu G. Anosmia and Ageusia: Common Findings in COVID-19 Patients. *Laryngoscope* 2020; **130**(7): 1787-.

318. Ahmad I, Rathore FA. Neurological manifestations and complications of COVID-19: A literature review. *Journal of clinical neuroscience : official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia* 2020; **77**: 8-12.

319. Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Neurology* 2020; **77**(6): 683-90.

320. Byambasuren O, Cardona M, Bell K, Clark J, McLaws M-L, Glasziou P. Estimating the extent of asymptomatic COVID-19 and its potential for community transmission: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Official Journal of the Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Disease Canada* 2020; **5**(4): 223-34.

321. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72 314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *JAMA* 2020; **323**(13): 1239-42.

322. Helms J, Kremer S, Merdji H, et al. Neurologic Features in Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2020; **382**(23): 2268-70.

323. Middeldorp S, Coppens M, van Haaps TF, et al. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2020; **18**(8): 1995-2002.

324. Long B, Brady WJ, Koyfman A, Gottlieb M. Cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2020; **38**(7): 1504-7.

325. Nalbandian A, Sehgal K, Gupta A, et al. Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. *Nature Medicine* 2021.

326. Office for National Statistics. The prevalence of long COVID symptoms and COVID-19 complications. Newport, United Kingdom: Office for National Statistics. 2020. https://www.ons.gov.uk/news/statementsandletters/theprevalenceoflongcovidsymptomsandc ovid19complications (Zuletzt abgerufen am 01.06.2021)

327. Walle-Hansen MM, Ranhoff AH, Mellingsæter M, Wang-Hansen MS, Myrstad M. Health-related quality of life, functional decline, and long-term mortality in older patients following hospitalisation due to COVID-19. *BMC geriatrics*, 2021.

328. Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, et al. 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. *The Lancet* 2021; **397**(10270): 220-32.

329. Levin AT, Hanage WP, Owusu-Boaitey N, Cochran KB, Walsh SP, Meyerowitz-Katz G. Assessing the age specificity of infection fatality rates for COVID-19: systematic review, metaanalysis, and public policy implications. *European journal of epidemiology* 2020: 1-16.

330. Salzberger B, Buder F, Lampl B, et al. Epidemiology of SARS-CoV-2. Infection 2020.

331. Muus C, Luecken MD, Eraslan G, et al. Single-cell meta-analysis of SARS-CoV-2 entry genes across tissues and demographics. *Nature Medicine* 2021.

332. Levitzky MG. Effects of aging on the respiratory system. *Physiologist* 1984; **27**(2): 102-7.

333. Martin S, Mathur R, Marshall I, Douglas N. The effect of age, sex, obesity and posture on upper airway size. *European Respiratory Journal* 1997; **10**(9): 2087-90.

334. Elliott JE, Greising SM, Mantilla CB, Sieck GC. Functional impact of sarcopenia in respiratory muscles. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 2016; **226**: 137-46.

335. Akbar AN, Gilroy DW. Aging immunity may exacerbate COVID-19. *Science* 2020; **369**(6501): 256-7.

336. Calder PC, Carr AC, Gombart AF, Eggersdorfer M. Optimal Nutritional Status for a Well-Functioning Immune System Is an Important Factor to Protect against Viral Infections. *Nutrients* 2020; **12**(4): 1181.

337. Cereda E, Pedrolli C, Klersy C, et al. Nutritional status in older persons according to healthcare setting: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence data using MNA®. *Clinical Nutrition* 2016; **35**(6): 1282-90.

338. Recinella G, Marasco G, Serafini G, et al. Prognostic role of nutritional status in elderly patients hospitalized for COVID-19: a monocentric study. *Aging clinical and experimental research* 2020; **32**(12): 2695-701.

339. Zhang Z, Pan L, Ni H. Impact of delirium on clinical outcome in critically ill patients: a meta-analysis. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 2013; **35**(2): 105-11.

340. Persico I, Cesari M, Morandi A, et al. Frailty and Delirium in Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Literature. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2018; **66**(10): 2022-30.

341. Kennedy M, Helfand BKI, Gou RY, et al. Delirium in Older Patients With COVID-19 Presenting to the Emergency Department. *JAMA network open* 2020; **3**(11): e2029540.

342. Kotfis K, Williams Roberson S, Wilson JE, Dabrowski W, Pun BT, Ely EW. COVID-19: ICU delirium management during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Critical Care* 2020; **24**: 1-9.

343. Kluge S, Janssens U, Welte T, et al. S2k-Leitlinie – Empfehlungen zur stationären Therapie von Patienten mit COVID-19. *Pneumologie* 2021; **75**(02): 88-112.

344. Kenna HA, Poon AW, de los Angeles CP, Koran LM. Psychiatric complications of treatment with corticosteroids: Review with case report. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences* 2011; **65**(6): 549-60.

345. Pun BT, Badenes R, Heras La Calle G, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for delirium in critically ill patients with COVID-19 (COVID-D): a multicentre cohort study. *The Lancet Respiratory medicine* 2021; **9**(3): 239-50.

346. Kissler SM, Tedijanto C, Lipsitch M, Grad Y. Social distancing strategies for curbing the COVID-19 epidemic. *medRxiv* 2020.

347. Licher S, Heshmatollah A, van der Willik KD, et al. Lifetime risk and multimorbidity of non-communicable diseases and disease-free life expectancy in the general population: A population-based cohort study. *PLoS medicine* 2019; **16**(2): e1002741.

348. Palmer K, Monaco A, Kivipelto M, et al. The potential long-term impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on patients with non-communicable diseases in Europe: consequences for healthy ageing. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020; **32**(7): 1189-94.

349. Gilbert T, Neuburger J, Kraindler J, et al. Development and validation of a Hospital Frailty Risk Score focusing on older people in acute care settings using electronic hospital records: an observational study. *The Lancet* 2018; **391**(10132): 1775-82.

350. Cesari M, Demougeot L, Boccalon H, et al. A self-reported screening tool for detecting community-dwelling older persons with frailty syndrome in the absence of mobility disability: the FiND questionnaire. *PLoS One* 2014; **9**(7): e101745.

351. Steinmeyer Z, Vienne-Noyes S, Bernard M, et al. Acute Care of Older Patients with COVID-19: Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes. *Geriatrics* 2020; **5**(4): 65.

352. Thompson JV, Meghani NJ, Powell BM, et al. Patient characteristics and predictors of mortality in 470 adults admitted to a district general hospital in England with Covid-19. *Epidemiology and Infection* 2020; **148**: e285.

353. Owen RK, Conroy SP, Taub N, et al. Comparing associations between frailty and mortality in hospitalised older adults with or without COVID-19 infection: a retrospective observational study using electronic health records. *Age and ageing* 2020.

354. Miles A, Webb TE, Mcloughlin BC, et al. Outcomes from COVID-19 across the range of frailty: excess mortality in fitter older people. *European geriatric medicine* 2020; **11**(5): 851-5.

355. Aliberti MJR, Covinsky KE, Garcez FB, et al. A fuller picture of COVID-19 prognosis: the added value of vulnerability measures to predict mortality in hospitalised older adults. *Age and Ageing* 2021; **50**(1): 32-9.

356. Farrell TW, Francis L, Brown T, et al. Rationing limited healthcare resources in the COVID-19 era and beyond: Ethical considerations regarding older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2020; **68**(6): 1143-9.

357. Nanda A, Vura NVRK, Gravenstein S. COVID-19 in older adults. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 2020; **32**(7): 1199-202.

358. Marusczyk I. Brasiliens Krankenhäuser vor Kollaps. Hamburg, Germany: Anstalt des öffentlichen Rechts. 2020 https://www.tagesschau.de/ausland/brasilien-coronakrise-101.html (Zuletzt abgerufen am 23.04.2020)

359. Miller AL. Corona: Britische Kliniken vor dem Kollaps. Bonn, Germany: Deutsche Welle. 2021. https://p.dw.com/p/3nZNw (Zuletzt abgerufen am 08.01.2021)

360. Mayr W, Stöhr M. "Corona kam wie ein Tsunami über uns". Hamburg, Germany: DER SPIEGEL GmbH & Co. KG. 2020 https://www.spiegel.de/ausland/coronavirus-in-italien-wie-ein-tsunami-a-634be2c3-3666-434e-be74-44c6452e3690 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 10.03.2020) 361. Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2005; **173**(5): 489-95.

362. Rockwood K, Theou O. Using the Clinical Frailty Scale in Allocating Scarce Health Care Resources. *Can Geriatr J* 2020; **23**(3): 210-5.

363. Royal College of Physicians. Frailty and Covid-19: Why, What, How, Where and When? London, United Kingdom: Royal College of Physicians. 2020. https://www.criticalcarenice.org.uk/frailty (Zuletzt abgerufen am 05.03.2021).

364. Tay HS, Harwood R. Atypical presentation of COVID-19 in a frail older person. *Age and Ageing* 2020; **49**(4): 523-4.

365. Custodero C, Gandolfo F, Cella A, et al. Multidimensional prognostic index (MPI) predicts non-invasive ventilation failure in older adults with acute respiratory failure. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 2021; **94**: 104327.

366. Lewis EG, Breckons M, Lee RP, Dotchin C, Walker R. Rationing care by frailty during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Age and ageing* 2021; **50**(1): 7-10.

367. Farrell TW, Ferrante LE, Brown T, et al. AGS position statement: resource allocation strategies and age-related considerations in the COVID-19 era and beyond. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2020; **68**(6): 1136-42.

368. Robert Koch Institut. Täglicher Lagebericht des RKI zur Coronavirus-Krankheit-2019 (COVID-19). Bonn, Germany: Robert Koch Institut; 2021. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Situationsberichte/Aug_2021 /2021-08-23-de.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (Zuletzt abgerufen am 23.08.2021)

369. Ramshorn-Zimmer A, Pin M, Hartwig T, et al. Coronapandemie: Rolle der Zentralen Notaufnahme. *Dtsch Arztebl International* 2020; **117**(20): 1040-.

370. Robert Koch Institut. Organisatorische und personelle Maßnahmen für Einrichtungen des Gesundheitswesens sowie Alten- und Pflegeeinrichtungen während der COVID-19-Pandemie. Bonn, Germany: Robert Koch Institut; 2021. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/InfAZ/N/Neuartiges_Coronavirus/Getrennte_Patientenversorg _stationaer.html;jsessionid=1E3CB906817AACCA6F5F4049F52BA843.internet121?nn=238 6228#doc14068888bodyText3 (Zuletzt abgerufen am 22.03. 2021)

371. Olde Rikkert MGM, Vingerhoets RW, van Geldorp N, de Jong E, Maas H. [Atypical clinical picture of COVID-19 in older patients]. *Nederlands tijdschrift voor geneeskunde* 2020; **164**.

372. Norman RE, Stall NM, Sinha SK. Typically Atypical: COVID-19 Presenting as a Fall in an Older Adult. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2020; **68**(7): E36-E7.

373. Poco PCE, Aliberti MJR, Dias MB, et al. Divergent: Age, Frailty, and Atypical Presentations of COVID-19 in Hospitalized Patients. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* 2020; **76**(3): e46-e51.

374. Scherer M, Lühmann D, Kazek A, Hansen H, Schäfer I. Patients Attending Emergency Departments: A Cross-sectional Study of Subjectively Perceived Treatment Urgency and Motivation for Attending. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International* 2017; **114**(39): 645.

375. Afilalo J, Karunananthan S, Eisenberg MJ, Alexander KP, Bergman H. Role of Frailty in Patients With Cardiovascular Disease. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 2009; **103**(11): 1616-21.

376. Palmer K, Vetrano DL, Padua L, et al. Frailty Syndromes in Persons With Cerebrovascular Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Neurology* 2019; **10**(1255).

377. Horesh D, Kapel Lev-Ari R, Hasson-Ohayon I. Risk factors for psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic in Israel: Loneliness, age, gender, and health status play an important role. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2020; **25**(4): 925-33.

378. Ping W, Zheng J, Niu X, et al. Evaluation of health-related quality of life using EQ-5D in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE* 2020; **15**(6): e0234850.

379. Vygen-Bonnet S, Koch J, Bogdan C, et al. Beschluss der STIKO zur 1. Aktualisierung der COVID-19-Impfempfehlung und die dazugehörige wissenschaftliche Begründung. Bonn, Germany: Robert Koch Institut. 2021. https://www.rki.de/DE/Content/Infekt/EpidBull/Archiv/2021/02/Art_01.html (Zuletzt abgerufen am 31.03.2021)

380. Kolb GF. Quo vadis, Geriatrie? Uro-News 2016; 20(9): 38-44.

381. Heeren P, Devriendt E, Wellens NI, et al. Comment on: geriatric screeners 2.0: time for a paradigm shift in emergency department vulnerability research. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2020; **68**(10): 2414-5.

382. Heeren P, Devriendt E, Wellens NI, et al. Old and new geriatric screening tools in a Belgian emergency department: a diagnostic accuracy study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2020; **68**(7): 1454-61.

7. Preliminary publication of results

- Original Paper: The prognostic signature of health-related quality of life in older patients admitted to the emergency department: a 6-month follow-up study by Rarek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, Pilotto A, Benzing T, Burst V, Polidori MC in Aging Clinical and Experimental Research (11/2020)
- Oral presentation: "A snapshot from the older patient's emergency department visit: Associations between the Multidimensional Prognostic Index (MPI) and health-related quality of life" by Rarek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, Burst V, Benzing T, Pilotto A, Polidori MC on the congress of the European Geriatric Medicine Society 2019 in Krakow, Poland (09/2019)
- Oral presentation: "Multidimensionale Prognoseberechnung in verschiedenen klinischen Settings" by Meyer AM, Pickert L, Rarek MP on the Wissenschaftsforum Geriatrie on the congress of the Deutschen Gesellschaft für Geriatrie 2018 in Cologne, Germany (09/2018)
- Poster presentation: "A snapshot from the older patient's emergency department visit: Design and preliminary results of the MPI – HOPE (Influence of the Multidimensional Prognostic Index on the Hospitalisation of Older Patients admitted to the emergency department) study" by Rarek MP, Meyer AM, Pickert L, Burst V, Pilotto A, Benzing T, Polidori MC on the congress of the European Geriatric Medicine Society 2018 in Berlin, Germany (09/2018)